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OF 1934.
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or
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subject to such filing requirements for the pastla@s) Yes No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lnasmtted electronically and posted on its corpokdtb site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted puntsio Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (8 232.405 of tthapter) during the preceding 12
months (or for such shorter period that the regigtwas required to submit and post such filed)es No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquidlets pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (825) is not contained herein, and
will not be contained, to the best of registrakti®@wledge, in definitive proxy or information statents incorporated by reference in Part Il of
this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-KXI
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registrant’s common stock on the last businessofiflye registrant’s most recently completed sed@suwdl quarter, June 29, 2012 (based upon
the closing sale price of the registrant’s commtoglslisted as reported on the NASDAQ Global Seldatket), was approximately
$922,720,854. This calculation excludes approxityaté0,759 shares held by directors and execufffieess of the registrant. Exclusion of
these shares does not constitute a determinatimeéth such person is an affiliate of the registra

As of February 21, 2013, the number of outstangimgyes of the registrant’'s common stock was 115289
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Forward-Looking Statements

This report includes “forward-looking statementsthin the meaning of Section 27A of the Securites of 1933, as amended, and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1834amended. All statements other than stateméhtstorical fact are “forward-looking
statements” for purposes of this annual reportamFL0K, including any projections of earnings, revenmédgstone payments, royalties, st
or other financial items, any statements of th@pkand objectives of management for future operat{mcluding, but not limited to, preclinic
development, clinical trials and manufacturing)y atatements related to our financial condition autdre working capital needs, any
statements concerning proposed drug candidatestatgments regarding the timing for the startmat @f clinical trials or submission of
regulatory approval filings, any statements regagduture economic conditions or performance, datesnents regarding the success of our
collaboration arrangements or future paymentsrttet come due to us under these arrangements, apynents regarding our plans and
objectives to initiate or continue clinical trialmd any statements of assumptions underlying athedoregoing. In some cases, forward-
looking statements can be identified by the usemhinology such as “may,” “will,” “expects,” “plan” “anticipates,” “estimates,” “potential”
or “continue,” or the negative thereof or other pamable terminology. Although we believe that tkpextations reflected in the forward-
looking statements contained herein are reasonsind, expectations or any of the forward-lookiredesnents may prove to be incorrect and
actual results could differ materially from thosejpcted or assumed in the forward-looking statemedur future financial condition and
results of operations, as well as any forward-lnglstatements, are subject to inherent risks andrtainties, including, but not limited to, the
risk factors set forth in Part I, Item 1A “Risk Faxs” below and for the reasons described elsewinettés annual report on Form 10-K. All
forward-looking statements and reasons why resudig differ included in this report are made ashefdate hereof and we do not intend to
update any forward-looking statements except agired) by law or applicable regulations. Except vehidre context otherwise requires, in this
annual report on Form 10-K, the “Company,” “NeKtéwe,” “us,” and “our” refer to Nektar Therapeusica Delaware corporation, and, where
appropriate, its subsidiaries.

Trademarks

The Nektar brand and product names, including bttimited to Nektaf , contained in this documerg ttademarks, registered
trademarks or service marks of Nektar Therapetritise United States and certain other countribss @locument also contains references to
trademarks and service marks of other companig¢sthahe property of their respective owners.
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PART |
ltem 1. Business

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical compawelbping a pipeline of drug candidates that wibor PEGylation and advanced
polymer conjugate technology platforms. These ptais enable the development of new molecular estitiat target known mechanisms of
action. Our current proprietary pipeline is compd®f drug candidates across several therapewtis éncluding oncology, pain, atifectives
and immunology. Our research and development detvinvolve both small molecule and biologic dasmdidates. We create innovative drug
candidates by using our proprietary advanced palygorjugate technologies and expertise to modiéycthemical structure of pharmacophc
to create new molecular entities. Polymer chemistgyscience focused on the synthesis or bondipglgmer architectures with drug
molecules to alter the properties of a moleculemmibes bonded with polymers. Additionally, we matjlize established pharmacologic targets
to engineer a new drug candidate relying on a coatlzin of the known properties of these targetsamdroprietary polymer chemistry
technology and expertise. Our drug candidates esigded to improve the overall benefits and use arug for patients by improving the
metabolism, distribution, pharmacokinetics, pharogdgnamics, half-life and/or bioavailability of dreigOur objective is to apply our advanced
polymer conjugate technology platform to create dewg candidates in multiple therapeutic areasaldtess large potential markets.

Our most-advanced proprietary drug candidate, magok(formerly known as NKTR-118), is an oral pégpally-acting opioid
antagonist, which has completed Phase 3 clinicalies$ for the treatment of opioid-induced constgra{OIC) in patients with nowancer pair
OIC is a common side effect of prescription opioi®en used for chronic pain management. In Septe@09, we entered into a global
license agreement with AstraZeneca AB (AstraZengwahe global development and commercializatibnaloxegol and naloxegol fixed-
dose combination products. On November 12, 2012aZeneca announced positive top-line results &woxegol from two Phase 3 clinical
studies and one safety extension study. On Feb2&r2013, AstraZeneca announced positive toprésalts from the longerm safety clinice
study of naloxegol in patients with OIC. The nalgakfixed-dose combination program, formerly knoasithe NKTR119 program, is an eal
stage research and development program that igraebito combine various opioids with naloxegol.rAg&eneca is responsible for all clinical,
regulatory and commercialization costs for bothriakoxegol drug candidate and all drug candidaiésmthe naloxegol fixed-dose
combination program.

Our second-most-advanced drug candidate, etirinatpegol (also known as NKTR-102), is a next-geimrdopoisomerase | inhibitor,
currently being evaluated in a Phase 3 clinicalytas a single-agent therapy for patients with statec breast cancer. This Phase 3 clinical
study, which we call the BEACON study (BrEAst Can@aitcomes with NKTR-102), was initiated by us ind@mber 2011. The BEACON
study is designed to enroll approximately 840 womith metastatic breast cancer who have had peatment with anthracycline, taxane anc
capecitabine in either the adjuvant or metastatiirgy. Patients in the BEACON study are randomizeé 1:1 basis to receive either single-
agent etirinotecan pegol or a single agent of mhgsis choice. The primary endpoint of the BEACQNdy is overall survival, and secondary
endpoints include progression-free survival anéadibje tumor response rate. In November 2012, ti% Bood and Drug Administration
(FDA) designated etirinotecan pegol as a Fast Tdaslelopment program for the treatment of patieuritis locally recurrent or metastatic
breast cancer progressing after treatment witmémracycline, a taxane, and capecitabine.

In the fourth quarter of 2012, we completed a PRRaslnical study of single-agent etirinotecan pegapproximately 170 women with
platinum-resistant/refractory ovarian cancer. Rssubm this study and communication with governtrtegalth authorities in both the United
States (U.S.) and European Union (E.U.) will gudde future development and regulatory strategyefamotecan pegol in ovarian cancer. A
Phase 1 study to evaluate etirinotecan pegol irbametion with 5-Fluorouracil/leucovorin in refracyosolid tumor cancers has also been
completed, and a Phase 2 clinical trial evaluagitignotecan pegol as a single agent in patientis mietastatic colorectal cancer is enrolling
patients. On August 7, 2012, we announced a Phase 2
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investigator-initiated clinical study of etirinott pegol in patients with bevacizumab (Avastinjstasit high-grade glioma being conducted at
the Stanford Cancer Institute. On February 5, 20&3announced a Phase 2 investigator-initiatedcalirstudy of etirinotecan pegol in patients
with metastatic and recurrent non-small cell luagaer being conducted at the Abramson Cancer Cehtiee University of Pennsylvania.

Our third-most-advanced proprietary drug candidgt€TR-181, is currently being evaluated in a Phasénical study in patients with
moderate to severe chronic pain from osteoarttoftihe knee. Enrollment in this study is ongoinithva design to enroll approximately 200
patients in a randomized controlled study to rezeither NKTR-181 or placebo. NKTR-181 is desigtete a novel, orally-available mu-
opioid agonist molecule with a long-acting profildkhe molecule has been designed to have a slovefatgry into the brain, which is expected
to reduce the attractiveness of the molecule asget of abuse and reduce other serious centrabneisystem (CNS)-related side effects, sucl
as sedation and respiratory depression, which@areronly associated with standard opioid theragiesa new molecular structure, NKTR-
181's abuse deterrent property does not rely arradlation approach, a common method used withidpinugs to reduce their ease of
conversion into abusable forms of an opioid. In N2@y 2, the development program for NKTR-181 fortieatment of moderate to severe
chronic pain was granted Fast Track designatiotheyDA.

We also have additional proprietary preclinical afidical drug candidates being developed for palief. NKTR-192 is designed to be a
novel orally available mu-opioid analgesic moleowlth a short-acting profile to treat acute paihisTmolecule is designed to address the
serious CNS-related side effects associated wathdstrd short-acting opioid therapies. NKTR-1921i®hase 1 clinical development. NKTR-
171 is a novel, orally-available sodium channetké& and is being developed as a treatment foropatinic pain. NKTR-171 is designed to be
peripherally-acting in order to avoid the seriol¢Szrelated side effects associated with existirdjisn channel blockers. The product
candidate is currently undergoing investigatior@krdrug application (IND)-enabling studies in pnegin for clinical studies in healthy
volunteers.

We have a significant collaboration with Baxter Heeare to identify and develop PEGylated drug édaigs with the objective of
providing new long-acting therapies for hemophiléients. Under the terms of this collaboration,ane providing our PEGylation technology
and expertise and Baxter is responsible for aflicdil development. The first drug candidate in ttiaboration, BAX 855, is a longer-acting
(PEGylated) form of a full-length recombinant factéll (rFVIII) protein which has completed Phaselinical development in patients with
hemophilia A. In February 2013, Baxter initiateBlaase 3 multi-center, open-label clinical studyecABPROLONG-ATE that will enroll more
than 100 previously treated adult patients withesesnemophilia A to assess the efficacy, safetypdnaimacokinetics of BAX 855 for
prophylaxis and on-demand treatment of bleeding.

We also have a significant collaboration with Balealthcare LLC (Bayer) to develop BAY41-6551 (Amdikn Inhale, formerly known
as NKTR-061), which is an inhaled solution of angsika an aminoglycoside antibiotic. We originallywadoped the liquid aerosol inhalation
platform and NKTR-061 drug candidate and enteréal ancollaboration agreement with Bayer in Augu@2to further advance the drug
candidate’s development and potential commercitdimaThe stability studies on the nebulizer devttat needed to be completed prior to the
start of the Phase 3 clinical study were succdgstoimpleted in February 2013. The Phase 3 climicagjram is expected to be initiated by
Bayer in March 2013. In 2011, Bayer achieved agexgiwith the FDA on the design of the planned Pl3asinical studies of BAY41-6551
under the Special Protocol Assessment processsthrended to support the submission of a New Dxpglication (NDA) if the planned
Phase 3 clinical study is successful.

We also have a number of license, manufacturingsapgly agreements with leading biotechnology dmatmaceutical companies,
including Affymax, Inc., Amgen Inc., MAP Pharmaceats, Inc., Merck & Co., Inc. (through its acqtisin of Schering Plough), Pfizer Inc.,
Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd (Roche), and UCB Pharma. taltof eight products using our PEGylation techgglbave received regulatory
approval in the U.S. or E.U.,
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and are currently marketed by our collaboratiorirgas. There are also a number of other produatBriital development that incorporate our
advanced PEGylation and advanced polymer conjugatmologies.

On December 31, 2008, we completed the sale angfénaof certain pulmonary technology rights, darfaulmonary collaboration
agreements and approximately 140 of our dedicatédgnary personnel and operations to Novartis Paak@. We retained all of our rights
BAY41-6551 and our right to receive royalties ot sees of the Cipro DPI (Cipro Dry Powder Inhajeneviously called Cipro Inhale)
program with Bayer Schering Pharma AG that we feansd to Novartis as part of the transaction. igst 2012, Bayer initiated a global
Phase 3 program called RESPIRE for the Cipro D&dipet candidate in patients with non-cystic fibsdsionchiectasis. The two placebo-
controlled trials, RESPIRE-1 and RESPIRE-2, ar@ling up to 600 patients and will evaluate CiprBIas a chronic, intermittent therapy
over a period of 48 weeks.

Corporate Information

We were incorporated in California in 1990 and cenporated in Delaware in 1998. We maintain ourcakge offices at 455 Mission
Bay Boulevard South, San Francisco, California 8 H5d our main telephone number is (415) 482-5@00.website is located at
www.nektar.com. The information contained in, aittban be accessed through, our website is nobharhd is not incorporated in, this
Annual Report.

Our Technology Platform

As a leader in the PEGylation field, we have adeanour technology platform to include new advanpalgmer conjugate chemistries
and polymer technologies that can be tailored @tiig and customized ways with the objective dfimjzing and significantly improving the
profile of a wide range of molecules including mangsses of drugs targeting many disease areasyl®i® has been a highly effective
technology platform for the development of therasuwvith significant commercial success, such agan’s Neulasta (pegfilgrastim) and
Roche’s PEGASYS (PEG-interferon alfa-2a). Nearlyfthe PEGylated drugs approved over the lasdii years were enabled with our
PEGylation technology through our collaborationd Acensing partnerships with a number of well-kmootechnology and pharmaceutical
companies. PEGylation is a versatile technology eesult of polyethylene glycol (PEG) being a wat@uble, amphiphilic, non-toxic, non-
immunogenic compound that has been shown to seliedy from the body. Its primary use to date hanbe currently approved biologic drt
to favorably alter their pharmacokinetic or pharodmamic properties. However, in spite of its wjgtesd success in commercial drugs, ther
are some limitations with the first-generation PEEgn approaches that have been used with bidogicese techniques cannot be used
successfully to create small molecule drugs whakid potentially benefit from the application otttechnology. Other limitations of the early
applications of PEGylation technology include sytthoal bioavailability and bioactivity, and its lited ability to be used to fine-tune
properties of the drug, as well as its inabilitypused to create oral drugs.

With our expertise and proprietary technology irGytation, we have created the next generation @®&tion technology. Our
advanced polymer conjugate technology platformesighed to overcome the limitations of the firsdggation of the technology platform and
to allow the platform to be utilized with a broadange of molecules across many therapeutic avéashave also developed robust
manufacturing processes for generating second gmePEGylation reagents that allow us to utitize full potential of these newer
approaches.

Both our PEGylation and advanced polymer conjutgtbnology platforms have the potential to offee @n more of the following
benefits:

» improve efficacy or safety in certain instances assult of better pharmacokinetics, pharmacodyosnonger half-life and sustained
exposure of the drug

« improve targeting or binding affinity of a drugits target receptors with the potential to impre¥cacy and reduce toxicity or drug
resistance
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» improve solubility of a drug

» enable oral administration of parenterally-admarietl drugs, or drugs that must be administeredvatrously or subcutaneously, and
increase oral bioavailability of small molecul

» prevent drugs from crossing the blood-brain baroereduce their rate of passage into the brhgreby limiting undesirable central
nervous system effect

* reduce firstpass metabolism effects of certain drug classdstivé potential to improve efficacy, which couldiuee the need for oth
medicines and reduce toxici

» reduce the rates of drug absorption and of elifonair metabolism by improving stability of the drin the body and providing it wi
more time to act on its targe

« differentially alter binding affinity of a drug fanultiple receptors, improving its selectivity fome receptor over another; a
» reduce immune response to certain macromoleculstiag potential to prolong their effectivenesshwitpeated dose

We have a broad range of approaches that we mayhese designing our own drug candidates, some aftwdre further described
below.

Small Molecule Stable Polymer Conjugates

Our customized approaches for small molecule pohgogajugates allows for the fine-tuning of the ghgshemical and pharmacological
properties of small molecule oral drugs to potdiytiacrease their therapeutic benefit. In addititiris approach can enable oral administratior
of subcutaneously or intravenously delivered smallecule drugs that have low bioavailability wheslicered orally. The benefits of this
approach can also include: improved potency, medifiiodistribution with enhanced pharmacodynangos, reduced transport across specific
membrane barriers in the body, such as the bloaitiyarrier. Two primary examples of reducing tgors across the blood-brain barrier are
naloxegol, an orally-available peripherally-actmgjoid antagonist that is in late stage clinicalelepment in collaboration with AstraZeneca,
and NKTR-171, a novel peripherally-acting sodiurarhel blocker that is currently in IND-enablingditts for the treatment of neuropathic
pain. An additional example of the application cfmbrane transport, specifically slowing transporbas the blood-brain barrier is NKTR-
181, an orally-available mu-opioid analgesic moledbat is being evaluated in a Phase 2 cliniealysin patients with moderate to severe
chronic pain from osteoarthritis of the knee.

Small Molecule Pro-Drug Releasable Polymer Conjugat

The pro-drug polymer conjugation approach can leel ts optimize the pharmacokinetics and pharmacayes of a small molecule
drug to substantially increase its efficacy androwp its side effect profile. We are currently gsthis platform with oncolytics, which
typically have sub-optimal half-lives that can lirthieir therapeutic efficacy. With our technolodatform, we believe that these drugs can be
modulated for programmed release within the bogjintzed bioactivity and increased sustained expstiactive drug to tumor cells in the
body. We are using this approach with the oncolgtiay candidate in our pipeline, etirinotecan pegaiext-generation topoisomerase |-
inhibitor, currently in Phase 3 clinical developrhenmetastatic breast cancer, and Phase 2 clideatlopment in ovarian and colorectal
cancers.

Large Molecule Polymer Conjugates (Proteins and fdps)

Our customized approaches with large molecule petytonjugates have enabled numerous successfullRieGpiologics on the mark
today. Based on our knowledge of the technologykaoldgics, our scientists have designed novel blyadable linkers that in many cases can
be used to optimize bioactivity. Through
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rational drug design, a protein or peptide’s phawkinetics and pharmacodynamics can be substanitiafiroved and its half-life can be
significantly extended. An example of this is BAX® a longer-acting (PEGylated) form of a full-lémgecombinant factor VIII (rFVIII)
protein, which is currently being evaluated in Rha<linical development in collaboration with Beixfor the treatment of hemophilia A.

Antibody Fragment Polymer Conjugates

This approach uses a large molecular weight PE@ugated to antibody fragments in order to potelytimhprove their toxicity profile,
extend their halfife and allow for ease of synthesis with the amti{p. The specially designed PEG replaces the fomctf the Fc domain of f
length antibodies with a branched architecture RE®G either stable or degradable linkage. This apph can be used to reduce antigenicity,
reduce glomerular filtration rate, enhance uptakeflamed tissues, and retain antigen-bindingnétffiand recognition. There is currently one
approved product on the market that utilizes ochtelogy with an antibody fragment, CIMZIA (certeimab pegol), which was developed
by our partner UCB Pharma and is approved forretinent of Crohn’s Disease in the U.S. and rheoidhatrthritis in the U.S. and E.U.

Our Strategy
The key elements of our business strategy areidesidoelow:

Advance Our Proprietary Clinical Pipeline of Drug &didates that Leverage Our PEGylation and Advand@alymer Conjugate
Platform

Our objective is to create value by advancing eadldrug candidates through various stages otalidievelopment. To support this
strategy, over the past five years we have sigmitly expanded and added expertise to our int@mealinical, clinical development and
regulatory departments. A key component of our tbgreent strategy is to potentially reduce the riskd time associated with drug
development by capitalizing on the known safety effidacy of approved drugs as well as establigiteatmacologic targets and drugs directe:
to those targets. For many of our novel drug caatdisl we may seek to study the drug candidateslications for which the parent drugs have
not been studied or approved. We believe thatrtipeaved characteristics of our drug candidatesprdvide meaningful benefit to patients
compared to the existing therapies. In additiorgartain instances we have the opportunity to agwvekew treatments for patients for which the
parent drugs are not currently approved.

Ensure Future Growth of our Proprietary Pipeline tbugh Internal Research Efforts and Advancementadir Preclinical Drug
Candidates into Clinical Trials

We believe it is important to maintain a diversegbine of new drug candidates to continue to baiidhe value of our business. Our
discovery research organization is continuing emtdy new drug candidates by applying our techgglplatform to a wide range of molecule
classes, including small molecules and large pmetgieptides and antibodies, across multiple tleerépareas. We continue to advance our
most promising research drug candidates into prieeli development with the objective to advance¢hearly stage research programs to
human clinical studies over the next several years.

Enter into Strategic and High-Value Partnerships ®ring Certain of Our Drug Candidates to Market

We decide on a drug candidate-by-drug candidatis basv far to advance clinical development (e.cagehl, 2 or 3) and whether to
commercialize products on our own, or seek a pgrargursue a combination of these approachesekXample, in December 2010, we
decided that we would move etirinotecan pegol (NKIUR) into Phase 3 clinical development in met&statast cancer prior to completing a
collaboration partnership for this drug candid&¥#hen we determine to seek a partner, our strateggyeénter into collaborations with leading
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies to furttier clinical development, manage the global

8
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regulatory filing process, and market and sell dringone or more geographies. The options for &utallaboration arrangements range from
comprehensive licensing and commercialization @earents to co-promotion and co-development agretsméth the structure of the
collaboration depending on factors such as thetsire of economic risk sharing, the cost and corigi®f development, marketing and
commercialization needs, therapeutic area and gpbgr capabilities.

Continue to Build a Leading Intellectual Property $fate in the Field of PEGylation and Polymer Conjatg Chemistry across
Therapeutic Modalities

We are committed to continuing to build on our llegtual property position in the field of PEGylati and polymer conjugate chemistry.
To that end, we have a comprehensive patent syraiitly the objective of developing a patent estateering a wide range of novel inventions
including among others, polymer materials, conjegatormulations, synthesis, therapeutic areaodstof treatment and methods of
manufacture.

Nektar Proprietary Drug Candidates in Clinical Devdopment

The following table summarizes our proprietary decagdidates that are being developed by us orliabzration with other
pharmaceutical companies. The table includes the ¢f molecule or drug, the target indicationstfer drug candidate, and the status of the
clinical development program.

Drug Candidate/Program Target Indications Status(1)

Naloxegol (orally available periphers-acting Opioid-induced constipation Completed Phase 3 (Partnered with
mu-opioid receptor antagonis AstraZeneca AB

Etirinotecan pegol (next-generation Metastatic breast cancer Phase 3
topoisomerase | inhibito

BAY41-6551 (Amikacin Inhale, formerly Gram-negative pneumonias Completed Phase 2 (Partnered with Bayer
NKTR-061) Healthcare LLC)*

Etirinotecan pegc Platinun-resistant/refractory ovarian canc Completed Phase

Etirinotecan pegol Second-line metastatic colorectal cancer in Phase 2

patients with the KRAS gene mutati

NKTR-181 (orally-available mu-opioid Moderate to severe chronic pain Phase 2
analgesic molecule

Etirinotecan pegol (in combination with 5-  Metastatic colorectal cancer Completed Phase 1
Fluorouracil/leucovorin

NKTR-192 (orally-available mu-opioid Acute pain Phase 1
analgesic molecule

Naloxegol fixe-dose combinations Chronic pain without constipation Research/Preclinical (Partnered with
(opioid/NKTR-118 combinations AstraZeneca AB

NKTR-171 (orally-available peripherally- Neuropathic pail Research/Preclinical
acting sodium channel blocke

NKTR-214 (cytokine immunostimulatory Oncology Research/Preclinical
therapy)
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(1)

Status definitions ar¢

Approved— regulatory approval to market and sell produdaoted in the U.S., EU and other countries.

Filed — an application for approval and marketing haslfded with the applicable government health autiyo

Phase 3 or Pivotal— product in large-scale clinical trials conducteabtain regulatory approval to market and saldhug (these trials
are typically initiated following encouraging Phastrial results).

Phase 2— a drug candidate in clinical trials to establikising and efficacy in patients.

Phase 1 —a drug candidate in clinical trials, typically iedithy subjects, to test safety.

Research/Preclinical —-& drug candidate is being studied in research lyyofaitro studies and/or animal studies

This drug candidate uses, in part, a liquid aertesgiinology platform that was transferred to Nasasy us in the pulmonary asset sale
transaction that was completed on December 31,.2008art of that transaction, we retained an estetulicense to this technology for
the development and commercialization of this dragdidate originally developed by 1
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Approved Drugs and Drug Candidates Enabled By Our Echnology through Licensing Collaborations

The following table outlines our collaborations lwé number of pharmaceutical companies that licenséntellectual property and, in
some cases, purchase our proprietary PEGylatioariakst for their drug products. A total of eighbgucts using our PEGylation technology
have received regulatory approval in the U.S. aoRe. There are also a number of other candidatgédaive been filed for approval or are in
various stages of clinical development. These boHations generally contain one or more elememtsiding a license to our intellectual
property rights and manufacturing and supply agergsmunder which we may receive manufacturing reeemilestone payments, and/or
royalties on commercial sales of drug products.

Primary or Target Drug

Drug Indications Marketer/Partner Status(1)

Neulaste® (pedfilgrastim) Neutropenie Amgen Inc. Approved

PEGASYS® (peginterferon ali-2a) Hepatitis-C F. Hoffmanr-La Roche Ltc Approved

Somaver® (pegvisomant Acromegaly Pfizer Inc. Approved

PEG-INTRON® (peginterferon alfa-Hepatitis-C Merck (through its acquisition of Approved
2b) Scherini-Plough Corporation

Macuger® (pegaptanib sodium Age-related macular degeneratiolaleant Pharmaceuticals Approved
injection) International, Inc

CIMZIA @(certolizumab pegol) Rheumatoid arthritis UCB Pharma Approved in U.S., EU and

Switzerland,; filed in Japar

CIMZIA @(certolizumab pegol) Crohn’s disease UCB Pharma Approved in the U.S. and

Switzerland*

MIRCERA® (C.E.R.A.) (Continuou Anemia associated with chronic F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd Approved in U.S., EU and Japan
Erythropoietin Receptor kidney disease in patients on (Launched only in the EU and
Activator) dialysis and patients not on Japan)**

dialysis
OMONTYS® (peginesatide) Anemia associated with chronic Affymax, Inc. Approved in U.S;; filed in EU
kidney disease (CKD) in adult (voluntary recall of product in
patients on dialysi U.S. on February 23, 201
LEVADEX @ Migraine MAP Pharmaceutical Filed for approval in U.S
CIMZIA @ (certoluzimab pegol Psoriasis/Ankylosing Spondylit UCB Pharme Phase !

Cipro Dry Powder Inhaler (Cipro  Cystic fibrosis lung infections ~ Bayer Schering Pharma AG Phase 3***
DPI)

BAX 855 (pegylated rFVIII Hemophilia A Baxter Healthcar Phase !

Longel-acting blood clotting proteir Hemophilia Baxter Healthcar Research/Preclinici

(1) Status definitions are
Approved— regulatory approval to market and sell produdaoted in the U.S., EU and other countries.
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Filed — an application for approval and marketing hasféed with the applicable government health autiyo

Phase 3 or Pivotal— product in large-scale clinical trials conductedbtain regulatory approval to market and saldhug (these trials
are typically initiated following encouraging Phastrial results).

Phase 2— a drug candidate in clinical trials to establiklsing and efficacy in patients.

Phase 1 —a drug candidate in clinical trials, typically ieddthy subjects, to test safety.

Research/Preclinical —-a drug candidate is being studied in research lyyofaitro studies and/or animal studies

* In February 2012, we sold our rights to receiveattigs on future worldwide net sales of CIMZ® effective as of January 1, 20!

**  Amgen Inc. prevailed in a patent lawsuit agaiRsHoffmann-La Roche Ltd and as a result of tagal ruling Roche is currently
prevented from marketing MIRCERA in the U.S. udtily 2014. In February 2012, we sold our rightestzeive royalties on future
worldwide net sales of MIRCER® effective as of January 1, 2012 until the agreemadttt Roche is terminated or expir

*** This drug candidate was developed using ourgpietary pulmonary delivery technology that wasisferred by us to Novartis in an asset
sale transaction that closed on December 31, 2008art of the transaction, Novartis assumed alhtsi and obligations for Cipro DPI
(formerly known as Cipro Inhale) under our agreetmevith Bayer Schering Pharma AG; however, we nadied the rights to receive
royalties on commercial sales of Cipro DPI if thaglcandidate is approve

With respect to all of our collaboration and licerzgreements with third parties, please referetm I1A, Risk Factors, including without
limitation, “We are a party to numerous collabaratagreements and other significant agreementshvduintain complex commercial terms
that could result in disputes, litigation or indefioation liability that could adversely affect obusiness, results of operations and financial
condition.”

Overview of Selected Nektar Proprietary Drug Develpment Programs and Significant Partnered Drug Develpment Programs

Naloxegol and Naloxegol Fixed-Dose Combination Prars (formerly NKTR-118 and NKTR-19), License Agreement with AstraZene
AB

In September 2009, we entered into a global licaiggeement with AstraZeneca AB (AstraZeneca) puntsisawhich we granted
AstraZeneca a worldwide, exclusive, perpetual, ltgylaearing license under our patents and othetledtual property to develop, market and
sell naloxegol and naloxegol fixed-dose combinapiozducts. Under the terms of this agreement, Zstnaca made an initial license payment
to us of $125.0 million and AstraZeneca has respditg for all activities and bears all costs aswted with research, development and
commercialization for naloxegol and naloxegol fix@ase combination products. For naloxegol, we e entitled to up to $235.0 million
upon certain filings and commercial launch milestrand $375.0 million in sales milestones if trepct achieves certain annual commercia
sales levels. With respect to the $235.0 milliomitestone payments due upon certain filings amdroercial launch milestones for naloxegol,
when filing occurs in the U.S. and in the E.U., wi# be entitled to receive $95.0 million of thoselestones. The remaining milestone
payments are due upon the commercial launches@tegol in those regions. For the naloxegol fixex$e combination products, we are also
eligible to receive significant development mileste as well as significant sales milestone paynigtits program achieves certain annual
commercial sales levels. For both naloxegol andikeel-dose combination products, we are alsoledtib significant double-digit royalty
payments, varying by country of sale and levelrofual net sales. Our right to receive royaltiedjett to certain adjustments) in any partici
country will expire upon the later of (a) specifigeriod of time after the first commercial saldalu product in that country or (b) the expirat
of patent rights in that particular country. Astesméca has agreed to use commercially reasonabhsefh develop one naloxegol fixed-dose
combination product and has the right to develoftipie products which combine naloxegol with otlogioids.
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Naloxegol is an orally-available peripherally-agtimu-opioid antagonist being investigated for treatment of opioid-induced
constipation (OIC) which is a common side effecpadscription opioid medications. Opioids attaclspecific proteins called opioid receptors.
When the opioids attach to certain opioid recepitothe gastrointestinal tract, constipation maguwcOIC is a result of decreased fluid
absorption and lower gastrointestinal motility doepioid receptor binding in the gastrointestinatt. Globally, approximately 40-50% (28-
35 million) patients taking opioids for long-termaip develop constipation. It is estimated that agnately 40-50% (11-18 million) of those
OIC sufferers achieve the desired treatment outsoniid current options that include over-the-coumated prescription laxatives.

AstraZeneca has completed a Phase 3 clinical profpanaloxegol AstraZeneca calls the KODIAC stgdiehe KODIAC studies
(KODIAC-04, KODIAC-05, KODIAC-07 and KODIAC-08) evaated the efficacy and safety of naloxegol foatieg OIC in patients with
non-cancer pain. KODIAC-04 and KODIAC-05 were regte, multicenter- randomized, double-blind, placebntrolled pivotal trials of 12
weeks duration that evaluated 12.5 mg and 25 maxagbl administered onatdgily. The primary endpoint in both trials was pamage of OIC
responders versus placebo over 12 weeks of treatiies studies enrolled approximately 630 patieaish. KODIAC-07 was a three-month
safety extension of KODIAC-04. All three studiesreveonducted in patients with non-cancer pain amaichented OIC, who required daily
opioid therapy.

On November 12, 2012, AstraZeneca reported topeffieacy and safety results from KODIAC-04, -05a07. For both KODIAC-04
and -05, the 25 mg dose of naloxegol demonstratdtically significant results for the primarydgoint. In KODIAC-04, the 12.5 mg dose
naloxegol demonstrated statistically significargules for the primary endpoint and in KODIAC-05 th25 mg dose did not meet statistical
significance for the primary endpoint. The safatglgses also showed no clinically relevant imbadsnia serious adverse events (SAES),
including externally adjudicated major cardiovasc@vents, across the three treatment arms in K@EA, -05 and -07. The most common
adverse events (AEs) in the naloxegol treatmensanrboth trials were abdominal pain, diarrhea aadsea. In KODIAC-07, the safety
extension of KODIAC-04, the occurrence of AEs aiES was lower than in KODIAC-04 and -05. All ottemmmon AEs were distributed
similarly across the three treatment arms. In KODI®4 and -05 for either naloxegol dose, compargaaoebo, there were no significant
differences in change from baseline in mean daiip gcores or mean total daily opioid dose.

KODIAC-08 was an open-label, randomized, 52-weekgiterm safety trial of naloxegol versus usuaéd&iC) in patients with non-
cancer related pain and OIC. This trial was deslgneevaluate the long-term safety and adversetgurefile of naloxegol in patients taking 25
mg of naloxegol once daily, as compared to UCh#nttial, a total of 534 patients received naloxemeze daily for up to 52 weeks, while 270
patients received UC for OIC during the same treatnperiod. UC was defined as the investigator@ahof an existing laxative treatment
regimen for OIC. On February 26, 2013, AstraZeramuaounced positive top-line results from KODIAB:- The trial reported no imbalances
SAEs. In addition, there were a low number of magwerse cardiovascular events, as adjudicated Irydependent external committee, and
there was no imbalance of these events acrossagband UC arms. There were no increases frormibadevels in mean daily pain scores
mean total daily opioid dose in either the naloxegahe UC arm. Additionally, there were no regaof opioid withdrawal AEs which could
attributed to naloxegol. The most commonly repo/A&ss occurring more frequently on naloxegol tharlghincluded abdominal pain,
diarrhea, nausea and headache.

AstraZeneca has stated that it plans to submit@A filing in the U.S. and a Marketing Authorizatidpplication (MAA) filing in the
E.U. in the third quarter of 2013, pending Astra@eads final preparation of the registration package a pre-NDA meeting with the FDA.
Naloxegol is currently considered a Schedule Iltagled substance by the U.S. Drug Enforcement Adstiation (DEA) based on structul
relatedness to noroxymorphone. AstraZeneca hasuctetdithe studies necessary to evaluate the albtsetial and dependence-producing
properties of naloxegol in support of obtainingatgcol. A petition for the decontrol of naloxegoasvsubmitted to the DEA in March 2012 i
subsequently accepted for review. Commercializadiod launch in the U.S. will be subject to both Fagproval and DEA schedule
determination. Please refer to
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Item 1A, Risk Factors, including without limitatiptif we or our partners do not obtain regulatoppeoval for our drug candidates on a timely
basis, or at all, or if the terms of any approwapose significant restrictions or limitations orepsur business, results of operations and
financial condition will be negatively affected.”

Etirinotecan pegol (next generation topoisomerasmhibitor)

We are developing etirinotecan pegol (also knowNK$R-102), a next generation topoisomerase | (topohipitor which was designe
using our PEGylation technology. Etirinotecan paga novel macromolecular chemotherapeutic dedigmenhance the anti-cancer effects o
topo | inhibition while minimizing its toxicitiedJnlike irinotecan, which is a first generation tdpahibitor that exhibits a high initial peak
concentration and short half-life, etirinotecan g&gpro-drug design results in a lower initial gencentration of active topo | inhibitor in the
blood. The large etirinotecan pegol molecule igiive when administered. Over time, the body’s retanzymatic processes slowly
metabolize the linkers within the molecule, continsly freeing active drug that then can work tggtanor cell division through topo |
inhibition. In preclinical models, etirinotecan mégchieved a 300-fold increase in tumor conceiatnais compared to irinotecan. Because
etirinotecan pegol is a large molecule, based enlimical studies we believe that it may penetthgeleaky vasculature within the tumor
environment more readily than normal vasculatuoacentrating and trapping etirinotecan pegol indutissue. Clinical studies have shown
that etirinotecan pegol has an extended pharmaet&iprofile and remains in circulation throughtha entire chemotherapy cycle, providing
sustained exposure to topo | inhibition.

Etirinotecan pegol is currently being evaluated amgle-agent therapy (145 mg/m2 every 21 daya)Rhase 3 open-label, randomized,
multicenter clinical study in patients with metd&tdreast cancer. This Phase 3 clinical studyctvine call the BEACON study (BrEAst
Cancer Outcomes with NKTR-102), was initiated ircBrmber 2011. The target enrollment for the BEAC@QM g is 840 patients with
metastatic breast cancer who have had prior tredtmi¢h anthracycline, taxane and capecitabindthree the adjuvant or metastatic setting.
This study will randomize patients on a 1:1 bagiseteive single-agent etirinotecan pegol or alsingent chosen from a defined set of
physician’s choice alternatives. The physician’sicé single agents includes the following: ixabepd, vinorelbine, gemcitabine, eribulin, or a
taxane. Randomization is being stratified by geplgi@region, prior treatment with eribulin and winet or not the patient has triple negative
breast cancer. The primary endpoint of the BEAC@M)\sis overall survival, and secondary endpointdude progression-free survival and
objective tumor response rate. Secondary endpanttobjectives also include clinical benefit ratgration of response, pharmacokinetic data
safety profiles, quality-of-life measurements, ghérmacoeconomic implications. Exploratory objezsiof the study include collecting
specific biomarker data to correlate with objectiveor response rate, progression-free survivaralsurvival and selected toxicities. In
November 2012, the FDA designated etirinotecan pgga Fast Track development program for thertreat of patients with locally recurre
or metastatic breast cancer progressing aftemieyatwith an anthracycline, a taxane, and capenitab

According to the American Cancer Society and Wéttalth Organization, more than 1.4 million womerrldwide are diagnosed with
breast cancer globally every year. The chance &ldping invasive breast cancer at some time im@an’s life is a little less than one in ei
(12%). In 2013, the American Cancer Society estséttere will be 232,000 new cases of breast cam¢le United States. Metastatic breast
cancer refers to cancer that has spread from taesbto distant sites in the body. Anthracyclines @xanes are the among the most active an
widely used chemotherapeutic agents for breastecahat the increased use of these agents at Bnsézge of disease often renders tumors
resistant to these drugs by the time the diseasggethereby reducing the number of treatmenbaptfor metastatic disease. There are
currently no FDA-approved topoisomerase | inhilsttar treat breast cancer.

Etirinotecan pegol has also completed a Phasen2alistudy in approximately 170 patients with plam-resistant/refractory ovarian
cancer. The Phase 2 clinical study included twespbaThe first phase was an opaipel, randomized, study evaluating two treatmehedule:
of single-agent etirinotecan pegol (145 mg/m2 everylays or every 21 days). Each schedule origifiallowed a twostage Simon design a
a total of 71 patients
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were initially included in the study that was coeted in the first half of 2010. The second phasg araexpansion of patients in the every 21
day dosing schedule in women with platinuesistant/refractory ovarian cancer who had preslioteceived Doxil therapy. We are currently
the process of compiling and performing verificatirocedures on the final results from this clih&tady. Results from this study and
communication with government health authoritiebath the U.S. and E.U. will guide our future deygghent and regulatory strategy for
etirinotecan pegol in ovarian cancer. Please teféem 1A, Risk Factors, including without limiia, “The results from the expanded Phase !
clinical study for etirinotecan pegol in women witlatinum-resistant/refractory ovarian cancer arikaly to result in a review or an approval
of a NDA by the FDA.”

Ovarian cancer is also a significant health problenwomen worldwide. According to the American €anSociety, in 2013, there will
be an estimated 22,240 new cases of ovarian cdragarosed and an estimated 14,030 deaths fromapveaincer in the United States. Ovariat
cancer is the ninth most common cancer among woex@hjding non-melanoma skin cancers. It rankh fiitcancer deaths among women,
accounting for more deaths than any other cancireofemale reproductive system. Historically, lgsm 40% of women with ovarian cancer
are cured. According to the World Health Organamatiabout 230,000 women globally are diagnosed geahwith ovarian cancer.

An etirinotecan pegol Phase 2 clinical study waétiaited in June 2008 to evaluate the efficacy afdtg of etirinotecan pegol
monotherapy versus irinotecan in second-line matiastolorectal cancer patients with the KRAS mutgne. The primary endpoint of the
Phase 2 clinical study in metastatic colorectateais progression-free survival as compared tadstal irinotecan monotherapy. According to
recent data presented at the American Societyinfo@l Oncology in 2010, it is estimated that upt85% of colorectal cancer cases have this
mutation in the KRAS gene and do not respond to BE@thibitors, such as cetuximab. The Phase 2 @lirstudy is designed to enroll
174 patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. §thdy is still enrolling and patient enrolimenttinis study has been challenging due to the
fact that the comparator arm of this study, siragent irinotecan, is not the common standard af frarsecond line metastatic colorectal
therapy in the U.S. or E.U. In June 2010, we stiat®hase 1 dosscalation clinical study designed to enroll uppproximately 40 patients
evaluate etirinotecan pegol in combination withlBefFouracil (5-FU)/leucovorin in refractory solidror cancers. The chemotherapy agent 5-
FU is currently used as a part of a combinatioattnent regimen for colorectal cancer in combinatidth irinotecan, which is also known as
the FOLFIRI regimen. This study was completed in26@nd established a dose of 75 mg/m2 of etiriramtgegol in combination with a
standard dose of 5-FU/leucovorin.

Colorectal cancer is the third most commonly diagibcancer and the third leading cause of canegh dethe U.S. According to the
American Cancer Society, nearly 143,000 new cakeslon and rectal cancer will be diagnosed inth®. in 2013, and about 51,000 people
will die annually of the disease. Worldwide, ove2 million people are diagnosed annually with cettal cancer and, according to the World
Health Organization, there are 690,000 deaths digrfuam colorectal cancers. Most metastatic cotbaécancer patients have recurrence
within two years and require retreatment with chémamapy regimens.

In addition to the clinical studies being condudbgdus, there are also two investigator-initiatédi$t 2 studies being conducted for
etirinotecan pegol. On August 7, 2012, we annourcBtase 2 investigator-initiated clinical studyetfinotecan pegol in patients with
bevacizumab (Avastin)-resistant high-grade gliomimty conducted at the Stanford Cancer InstituteF€bruary 5, 2013, we announced a
Phase 2 investigator-initiated clinical study dfiebtecan pegol in patients with metastatic armireent non-small cell lung cancer being
conducted at the Abramson Cancer Center of theddsity of Pennsylvania.

BAY41-6551 (Amikacin Inhale, formerly NKTR-061), Agement with Bayer Healthcare LLC

In August 2007, we entered into a co-developméadnke and co-promotion agreement with Bayer HeatthLLC (Bayer) to develop a
specially-formulated Amikacin (BAY41-6551, Amikacinhale, formerly called NKTR-061) for the treatnh@figram negative pneumonias.
Under the terms of the agreement, Bayer is

15



Table of Contents

responsible for most future clinical developmerd anmmercialization costs, all activities to sugpeorldwide regulatory filings, approvals
and related activities, further development of folailed Amikacin and final product packaging for BA¥-6551. We are responsible for all
future development, manufacturing and supply ofrtélulizer device for clinical and commercial Us& have engaged third party contract
manufacturers to perform our device manufacturipiggations for this program. We are entitled tota$60.0 million in development
milestone payments as well as sales milestone pagmipon achievement of certain annual sales &rgét are also entitled to royalties base
on annual worldwide net sales of BAY41-6551. Oghtito receive these royalties in any particulamtoy will expire upon the later of ten
years after the first commercial sale of the praoduthat country or the expiration of certain pateghts in that particular country, subject
certain exceptions. The agreement expires in ogldt a particular country upon the expiration Ibfayalty and payment obligations between
the parties related to such country. Subject tmitemtion fee payment obligations, Bayer also hagight to terminate the agreement for
convenience. In addition, the agreement may alderpginated by either party for certain producesatoncerns, the product’s failure to meet
certain minimum commercial profile requirementsiocured material breaches by the other party.

Bayer currently plans to move BAY41-6551 into Phas#inical development to treat Gram-negative pnenias, including hospital-
acquired (HAP), healthcare-associated, and ventildsociated pneumonias. Gram-negative pneumareasften the result of complications
of other patient conditions or surgeries. Gram-tigggneumonias carry a mortality risk that cane®d:50% in mechanically-ventilated
patients and accounts for a substantial propodfdhe pneumonias in intensive care units todayYBA6551 is designed to be an adjunctive
therapy to the current antibiotic therapies adnéméd intravenously as standard of care. The akges@rator within the nebulizer for BAY41-
6551 delivers a fine aerosol of the antimicrob@éat directly to the site of infection in the lunghis drug candidate can be integrated with
conventional mechanical ventilators or used asnalttneld ‘off-vent’ device for patients no longequéring breathing assistance. This drug
candidate has completed Phase 2 clinical developrme011, Bayer received agreement with the FDAle design of the Phase 3 clinical
studies of BAY41-6551 under the Special Protocaessment (SPA) process that is intended to sufipogubmission of a New Drug
Application (NDA) if the Phase 3 clinical study corances and is successful.

Bayer and Nektar have completed the design of ¢éfeilizer device for commercial production and hanamufactured sufficient devices
for the Phase 3 clinical studies of BAY#&%551. In November 2012, Bayer hired a contractaredeorganization to conduct the Phase 3 pro
for Amikacin Inhale. The stability studies on thebulizer device that needed to be completed poitihe start of the Phase 3 clinical study v
successfully completed in February 2013. The PBadmical program is expected to be initiated kyyBr in March 2013. Please refer to
Item 1A, Risk Factors, “Delays in clinical studi® common and have many causes, and any signifleday in clinical studies being
conducted by us or our partners could result iaydel regulatory approvals and jeopardize the tghtili proceed to commercializatioh

NKTR-181 (mu-opioid analgesic molecule for chronpain)

NKTR-181 is an orally-available mu-opioid drug catate in development as a long-acting analgesiett chronic pain. NKTR-181 is
designed with the objective to address the ababdity and serious central nervous system (CN& siffects associated with current opioid
therapies. NKTR-181 is a novel mu-opioid analgesatecule created using Nektaiproprietary polymer conjugate technology, whiobvdes
it with a long-acting profile and slows its entntd the CNS. Its potential differentiating propestiare inherent to the design of the new
molecule and as a new molecular structure. NKTRsl8khuse deterrent property does not rely on aditation approach to prevent its
conversion into a more abusable form of an opiwidlay 2012, the development program for NKTR-18d.the treatment of moderate to
severe chronic pain was granted Fast Track desognby the FDA.

In 2011, we completed two separate Phase 1 clistodies of NKTR-181. The first study, a singleaasting dose study of NKTR-181
evaluated the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynarh&$0-fold range of
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single oral doses of NKTR-181 in 84 healthy sulgedttup to 500 mg dose levels. The second stuayltple-ascending dose study of NKTR-
181 evaluated the pharmacokinetics and pharmacaugeaf four separate dose cohorts of NKTR-181 (@0 400 mg) administered orally
twice-daily. The study enrolled a total of 60 hkglsubjects over an eight-day treatment period,iacldded a placebo arm (n=3) for each dos
cohort. Measurements in the study included plasomaentrationgime profiles, reductions in pupil diameter, anclodd pressor test, a model
pain used in healthy subjects to measure centeddjasic activity. In this multiple dose Phase hickl study, NKTR-181 exhibited a sustained
analgesic response. Pupillometry data from theystiednonstrated that NKTR-181's centrally-mediatptbm effects are dose-dependent and
indicates that the molecule enters the brain slpwhjich has the potential to reduce the euphoribadher CNS side effects that are associatec
with current opioids. NKTR-181 was also well-tolex@ at all doses evaluated in both studies.

In July 2012, we initiated a Phase 2 clinical sttalgvaluate the efficacy, safety and tolerabibtyNKTR-181 in patients with moderate
to severe chronic pain from osteoarthritis of thed The Phase 2 clinical study utilizes a doubtetbplacebo-controlled, randomized
withdrawal, enriched enrollment study design. Tdesign includes a baseline period and a drugititrateriod followed by a randomized,
placebo-controlled, double-blind phase of the stégproximately 200 patients will be randomizedéceive either NKTR-181 or placebo in
the study. The primary endpoint of the study wélthe average change in a patient’s pain score lhaseline to the end of the double-blind,
randomized treatment period. The study will enopiloid-naive patients with osteoarthritis of thee&rwho are not getting adequate pain relief
from their current nompioid pain medication. Patients who qualify durthg baseline period will enter a titration phah&jng which they wil
be titrated on NKTR-181 tablets administered oradlice-daily until a dose is reached that providesduction of at least 20% in the patient’s
pain score as compared to the patient's own basdhfatients that achieve this level of analgesiithign be randomized on a 1:1 basis to eithe
continue to receive their analgesic dose of NKTR-&Bto receive placebo for up to 25 days. Secgneadpoints of the study include quality-
of-life assessment, sleep and motor activity sgpras well as tolerability endpoints. In the finsif of 2013, we also are planning to initiate a
separate human abuse liability study for NKI&E as part of Phase 2 development for this prochundidate. This study is designed to mea
liking scores for NKTR-181 as compared to an actipmid in approximately forty non-dependent reticeeal opioid drug users.

According to a 2011 report from the National AcagleshSciences, chronic pain conditions, such asaasthritis, back pain and cancer
pain, affect at least 100 million adults in the UaBnually and contribute to over $300 billion @y lost productivity. Opioids are considered
to be the most effective therapeutic option fonp&lowever, opioids cause significant problemsploysicians and patients because of their
serious side effects such as respiratory depressidrsedation, as well as the risks they posediction, abuse, misuse, and diversion. The
FDA has cited prescription opioid analgesics aadpat the center of a major public health crisiaddiction, misuse, abuse, overdose and
death. A 2010 report from the Center for Diseaset@band Prevention (CDC) notes that emergencynreisits tied to the abuse of
prescription painkillers is at an all-time highyviray increased 111 percent over a five-year period.

NKTR-192 (mu-opioid analgesic molecule for acuteipg

NKTR-192 is an orally-available mu-opioid analgesiolecule in preclinical development that is inteddo be a shodeting analgesic 1
treat acute pain. NKTR-192 is also designed toeskithe abuse liability and serious CNS side effagsociated with current opioid therapies.
NKTR-192 is also designed to have slow entry into th&Citg differentiating properties are inherenttte design of the new molecule and
new molecular structure, NKTR-192 does not relyadnrmulation approach to prevent its conversidga amore abusable form of an opioid.
NKTR-192 entered Phase 1 clinical development in 2012.

NKTR-171 (neuropathic pain)

NKTR-171 is a novel, orally-available sodium charslecker and is being developed as a treatmentdaropathic pain. NKTR-171 is
designed to be peripherally-acting in order to addithe serious CNS-related
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side effects associated with existing sodium chhlploekers. The product candidate is currentlynveistigational IND-enabling studies in
preparation for clinical studies in healthy voluere

NKTR-214 (cytokine immunostimulatory therapy)

NKTR-214 is an engineered immunostimulatory cytekamd is being developed for the treatment of dalidors. NKTR-214 is
engineered to selectively activate IL-2 receptargygtotoxic T cells that kill tumor cells, with eglvely low affinity for IL-2 receptors on
regulatory T cells that dampen the immune resptms@mors. This receptor selectivity is intendednitrease efficacy and improve safety ovel
existing immunostimulatory cytokine drugs. The prodcandidate is currently in investigational INDabling studies in preparation for clini
studies in cancer patients.

Overview of Select Technology Licensing Collaboratins and Programs

We have a number of product candidates in clirdegklopment and approved products in collaboratiibim our partners that use our
technology or involve rights over which we haveepas or other proprietary intellectual propertyaltypical collaboration involving our
PEGylation technology, we license our proprietatgliectual property related to our PEGylation temlbgy or proprietary conjugated drug
molecules in consideration for upfront paymentseligpment milestone payments and royalties frorassaf the resulting commercial product
as well as sales milestones. In certain cases|searanufacture and supply our proprietary PEGytathaterials to our partners.

OMONTYS® (Peginesatide), Agreement with Affymax, Inc

In April 2004, we entered into a license, manufentyand supply agreement with Affymax, Inc. (Affgs), under which we granted
Affymax a worldwide, non-exclusive license to certaf our proprietary PEGylation technology to dieye manufacture and commercialize
OMONTYS® . OMONTYSP® is a synthetic PEGylated peptidisnpound that binds to and stimulates the erytiatin receptor and thus acts
as an erythropoietin stimulating agent (ESA). lthis only ESA that is peptide-based and its bugdiftocks (amino acids) are arranged in a
different order than erythropoietin (i.e., it hassequence homology to endogenous erythropoidtivd.compound was discovered by Affyrr
and is being co-developed and marketed by Affynrak Bakeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited (Takddaylarch 2012, the FDA
approved OMONTY® for the treatment of dialysis gats with anemia due to chronic kidney disease (CKIMONTYS® is the first once-
monthly ESA for anemia in CKD for dialysis patiemtgilable in the U.S. In February 2012, Takedaoanoed the acceptance of a Marketing
Authorization Application for OMONTYS® by the Eurogre Medicines Agency. The application is currentiger review by that agency.

On February 23, 2013, Affymax and Takeda annouacedluntary recall of all lots of OMONTYS drug phact to the user level as a
result of new post-marketing reports regardingaseriypersensitivity reactions, including anaphigawhich can be life-threatening or
fatal. The FDA has been notified by Affymax of Eports of anaphylaxis with 3 of those cases rewylti death. The reported serious
hypersensitivity reactions have occurred withim3@utes after such administration of OMONTYS. Thiea&e been no reports of such
reactions following subsequent dosing, or in pasievho have completed their dialysis session. Senzech of the drug, more than 25,000
patients have received OMONTYS in the post-markgesietting.

We currently manufacture our proprietary PEGylatioaiterials for Affymax exclusively on a fixed pribasis subject to annual
adjustments. In addition, Affymax is responsibledd clinical development, regulatory and commealization expenses and we are entitled to
development milestones and royalties on net sdlpsginesatide. We will share a portion of our fetwyalty payments with Enzon
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for a specified period oktimased on certain patent expiration dates. Oht tagreceive royalties in any particular
country will expire upon the later of ten yearseathe first commercial sale of the product in thatintry or the expiration of patent rights in
that particular country. The agreement expires oaumtry-by-country basis upon the expiration ofyfffax’s royalty obligations. The
agreement may also be terminated by either partihéo
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other party’s continued material breach after eatgin of a cure period or by us in the event thifiyrax challenges the validity or
enforceability of any patent licensed to them urtderagreement.

LEVADEX @, Agreement with MAP Pharmaceuticals

In June 2004, we entered into a license agreemiémAP Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (MAP), which includesvorldwide, exclusive licens
to certain of our patents and other intellectuapgrty rights to develop and commercialize a foatiah of dihydroergotamine (DHE) for
administration to patients via the pulmonary orahaelivery route, which resulted in the developt&EEVADEX ®. In 2006, we amended
and restated this agreement. Under the terms afgteement, we have the right to receive certalestaine payments based on development
criteria that are solely the responsibility of MARd royalties based on net sales of LEVADEX . LEMBD®is a self-administered
formulation of DHE using an inhaler device. Ourtigo receive royalties in any particular countil expire upon the later of (i) 10 years al
first commercial sale in that country, (ii) the éaipon which the licensed know-how becomes knowhdaeneral public, and (iii) expiration
of certain patent claims, each on a country-by-tgupasis. Either party may terminate the agreempoh a material, uncured default of the
other party. On May 26, 2011, MAP submitted an NiDAhe FDA for LEVADEX® . In March of 2012, the FDi&sued a complete response
letter identifying issues relating to chemistry,matacturing and controls deficiencies at a thirdypaanufacturer that needed to be resolved t
the FDA's satisfaction as well as citing the neadadditional time to complete review of inhaleahiity information. In December 2012,
MAP announced that its NDA resubmission for LEVADEMas accepted for filing by the FDA. The FDA seaayet date of April 15, 2013
under the Prescription Drug User Fee Act (PDUFAjdmplete its review of the NDA resubmission. Ti¥AFendeavors to complete its revi
of NDAs by the PDUFA date but does not always dars the FDA'’s decision regarding a NDA can be yidssignificantly beyond the
original PDUFA date through various regulatory gslar regulatory actions. On January 22, 2013, Btapred into an agreement and plan of
merger with Allergan, Inc. and a wholly-owned sulisiy of Allergan pursuant to which Allergan comrmed a tender offer for all of the
outstanding shares of Map. The tender offer aciiuisiransaction is scheduled to be completed domlzey 28, 2013.

BAX 855 and Long-Acting Therapies for Hemophilia Agreement with Subsidiaries of Baxter Internatioha

In September 2005, we entered into an exclusivearef, development, license, manufacturing andlgwggpeement with Baxter
Healthcare SA and Baxter Healthcare Corporatioxi@ato develop products with an extended ha#f-fdr the treatment and prophylaxis of
Hemophilia A patients using our proprietary PEGglatechnology. The first product in this collabmoa, BAX 855, is a longer-acting
(PEGylated) form of a full-length recombinant factdll (rFVIII) protein. BAX 855 is a full-length EGylated longer-acting recombinant
factor VIII (rFVIII) that was developed to increasges half-life of ADVATE (Antihemophilic Factor (Rembinant) Plasma/Albumin-Free
Method). We are entitled to up to $84.0 milliortial development and sales milestone paymenthafhn$11.0 million has been paid to date,
as well as royalties on net sales varying by prodnd country of sale. Our right to receive thesalties in any particular country will expire
upon the later of ten years after the first comiaésale of the product in that country or the eapon of patent rights in certain designated
countries or in that particular country.

In 2012, Baxter completed a Phase 1 clinical sfodBAX 855 that was a prospective, open-label gtassessing the safety, tolerability
and pharmacokinetics of BAX 855 in 19 previoushatied patients age 18 years or older with sevemmplailia A. In January 2013, Baxter
announced the top level results from this Phadanital study. This study demonstrated that thé-hfe (measuring the duration of activity of
the drug in the body) of BAX 855 was approximatel§-fold higher compared to ADVATE. A longer haifiel was achieved in all patients in
the study using BAX 855, no patients developedhitbis to either base molecule, BAX 855 or PEG, angbatients had allergic reactions.
Eleven adverse events were reported in eight gataeoss both treatment arms, but none was setieasment-related or resulted in
withdrawal from the study. Baxter recently initidte Phase 3 clinical study of BAX 855 in the U.8d @atient enrollment commenced in
February 2013.
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The Phase 2/3 clinical study is designed as a foeitter, open-label study called PROLONG-ATE anidi eviroll more than 100 previously
treated adult patients with severe hemophilia Adsess the efficacy, safety and pharmacokinetiB&\&f 855 for prophylaxis and on-demand
treatment of bleeding.

Cipro DPI (formerly known as Cipro Inhale), Agreeméwith Bayer Schering Pharma AG Assigned to Noviaras of December 31, 2008

We were a party to a collaborative research, dgveémt and commercialization agreement with Bayd&eBaog Pharma AG (Bayer)
related to the development of an inhaled powdentdation of ciprofloxacin delivered by way of a dygwder inhaler, Cipro DPI (formerly
known as Cipro Inhale) for the treatment of chrdaitg infections caused BBseudomonas aeruginosacystic fibrosis patients. On
December 31, 2008, we assigned the agreement tartioPharma AG in connection with the completiéithe pulmonary asset sale
transaction. However, we retained our economia@sten the future potential net sales royaltigSifiro DPI receives regulatory approval and
is successfully commercialized by Bayer. Cipro BB completed Phase 2 clinical development witreB&y the treatment of chronic lung
infections. In August 2012, Bayer initiated a Phas#inical study which it calls RESPIRE for Cipd| in patients with non-cystic fibrosis
bronchiectasis. The two placebo-controlled triRESPIRE-1 and RESPIRE-2, are enrolling up to 6Qi@pts and will evaluate Cipro DPI as a
chronic, intermittent therapy over a period of 48eks.

Overview of Select Licensing Partnerships for Appreed Products
Neulasta® , Agreement with Amgen, Inc.

In July 1995, we entered into a nerelusive supply and license agreement (the 1998ekgent) with Amgen, Inc., pursuant to which
licensed our proprietary PEGylation technology ¢éaused in the development and manufacture of NewfladNeulast® selectively stimulates
the production of neutrophils that are depletedyiptoxic chemotherapy, a condition called neutrop¢hat makes it more difficult for the
body to fight infections. On October 29, 2010, wieaded and restated the 1995 Agreement by entiatm@ supply, dedicated suite and
manufacturing guarantee agreement (the 2010 Agre@raed an amended and restated license agreerithrAmgen Inc. and Amgen
Manufacturing, Limited (together referred to as Aeng Under the terms of the 2010 Agreement, weaguae the manufacture and supply of
our proprietary PEGylation materials (Polymer Matis) to Amgen in an existing manufacturing suitdoé used exclusively for the
manufacture of Polymer Materials for Amgen in oamafacturing facility in Huntsville, Alabama. Thesipply arrangement is on a non-
exclusive basis (other than the use of the manufiact suite and certain equipment) whereby we i@e o manufacture and supply the
Polymer Materials to any other third party and Amggefree to procure the Polymer Materials from ather third party. Under the terms of
2010 Agreement, we received a $50.0 million upfrmement in return for guaranteeing supply of éertmantities of Polymer Materials to
Amgen and the Additional Rights described belovd Amgen will pay manufacturing fees calculated blase fixed and variable components
applicable to the Polymer Materials ordered by Amgad delivered by us. Amgen has no minimum pueclsasnmitments. If quantities of the
Polymer Materials ordered by Amgen exceed specdieghtities (with each specified quantity repreisgna small portion of the quantity that
we historically supplied to Amgen), significant étlthal payments become payable to us in returmgfmranteeing supply of additional
guantities of the Polymer Materials.

The term of the Agreement runs through Octobe2220. In the event we become subject to a bankyuptinsolvency proceeding, we
cease to own or control the manufacturing facitityduntsville, Alabama, we fail to manufacture angply the Polymer Materials or certain
other events occur, Amgen or its designated thartlypwill have the right to elect, among certaihatoptions, to take title to the dedicated
equipment and access the manufacturing faciligpp@rate the manufacturing suite solely for the psepof manufacturing the Polymer
Materials (Additional Rights). Amgen may termin#te 2010 Agreement for convenience or due to annaacmaterial default by us. Either
party may terminate the 2010 Agreement in the egemsolvency or bankruptcy of the other party.
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PEGASYS® , Agreement with F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd

In February 1997, we entered into a license, manufsmg and supply agreement with F. Hoffmann-L&RoLtd and Hoffmann-
La Roche Inc. (Roche), under which we granted Rechverldwide, exclusive license to use certainlietéual property related to our
PEGylation materials to manufacture and commemgadi certain class of products, of which PEGASY Stheésonly product currently
commercialized. PEGASYS is approved in the U.3J, Bnd other countries for the treatment of Hesa@itand is designed to help the
patient’'s immune system fight the Hepatitis C viris a result of Roche exercising a license extensption in December 2009, beginning in
2010 Roche has the right to manufacture all afeitgiirements for our proprietary PEGylation materfar PEGASYS® and we supply raw
materials or perform additional manufacturing,rifaonly on a back-up basis. In connection with iRds exercise of the license extension
option in December 2009, we received a paymen8af®million. The agreement expires on the latetasfuary 10, 2015 or the expiration of
our last relevant patent containing a valid claim.

Somavert , Agreement with Pfizer, Inc.

In January 2000, we entered into a license, matwiag and supply agreement with Sensus Drug Dgwveémt Corporation
(subsequently acquired by Pharmacia Corp. in 20@dlttzen acquired by Pfizer, Inc. in 2003), for BieGylation of Somaveft (pegvisomant),
a human growth hormone receptor antagonist fotrélement of acromegaly. We currently manufactuneproprietary PEGylation reagent for
Pfizer on a price per gram basis. The agreemeritesxpn the later of ten years from the grant st fimarketing authorization in the designated
territory, which occurred in March 2003, or the igapon of our last relevant patent containing &dvalaim. In addition, Pfizer may terminate
the agreement if marketing authorization is withraor marketing is no longer feasible due to cartaéicumstances, and either party may
terminate for cause if certain conditions are met.

PEG-Intron ®, Agreement with Merck (through its acdgition of Schering-Plough Corporation)

In February 2000, we entered into a manufacturimysupply agreement with Schering-Plough Corponatichering) for the
manufacture and supply of our proprietary PEGyfatimaterials to be used by Schering in productioa pégylated recombinant human
interferon-alpha (PEG-Intron). PEG-Intron is a tne@nt for patients with Hepatitis C. Schering waguared by, and became a wholly-owned
subsidiary of, Merck & Co., Inc. We currently maactiure our proprietary PEGylation materials for &alg on a price per gram basis. In
December 2010, the parties amended the manufagtanid supply agreement to provide for a transpiam to an alternative manufacturer anc
extension of the term through the successful mawifimg transition or December 31, 2018 at theskafEhe amended agreement provided 1
one-time payment and milestone payments as waticasased pricing for any future manufacturing perfed by us.

Macugen® , Agreement with Valeant Pharmaceuticalgémational, Inc.

In 2002, we entered into a license, manufacturimysupply agreement with Eyetech, Inc. (subsequextjuired by Valeant
Pharmaceuticals International, Inc or Valeant)spant to which we license certain intellectual priyprelated to our proprietary PEGylation
technology for the development and commercialiratibMacuger? , a PEGylated anti-vascular endothgi@vth factor aptamer currently
approved in the U.S. and E.U. for age-related naaalggeneration. We currently manufacture our petgry PEGylation materials for Valeant
on a price per gram basis. Under the terms of gneeament, we will receive royalties on net prodiates in any particular country for the
longer of ten years from the date of the first cantral sale of the product in that country or theation of patent coverage. We share a po
of the payments received under this agreementBiton Pharmaceuticals, Inc. The agreement exppres the expiration of our last relevant
patent containing a valid claim. In addition, Valeaay terminate the agreement if marketing autladion is withdrawn or marketing is no
longer feasible due to certain circumstances, &hdreparty may terminate for cause if certain dbads are met.
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CIMZIA ©, Agreement with UCB Pharma

In December 2000, we entered into a license, matwiag and supply agreement covering our propyefGylation materials for use
in CIMZIA ®(certolizumab pegol) with Celltech Chirdience Ltd., which was acquired by UCB Pharma (U®B)004. Under the terms of the
agreement, UCB is responsible for all clinical depenent, regulatory, and commercialization expendés have the right to receive
manufacturing revenue on the basis of a fixed Eregram. We were also entitled to receive rogaltin net sales of the CIMZI®product fol
the longer of ten years from the first commercaéof the product anywhere in the world or theietfon of patent rights in a particular
country. In February 2012, we sold our rights teree royalties on future worldwide net sales ofIZIA ®effective as of January 1, 2012
until the agreement with UCB is terminated or eagirThis sale is further discussed in Note 7 ohI& Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data. We share a portion of the patsnee receive from UCB with Enzon Pharmaceutidals, The agreement expires upon
the expiration of all of UCB’s royalty obligationgtovided that the agreement can be extended &messive two year renewal periods upon
mutual agreement of the parties. In addition, UC&8/ierminate the agreement should it cease thdafgwent and marketing of CIMZIA
and either party may terminate for cause undeaiteconditions.

MIRCERA ®(C.E.R.A.) (Continuous Erythropoietin Recégr Activator), Agreement with F. Hoffmann-La Rochietd

In December 2000, we entered into a license, matwiag and supply agreement with F. Hoffmann-LalRoLtd and Hoffmann-
La Roche Inc. (Roche), which was amended and esbtatits entirety in December 2005. Pursuant ¢éoafpreement, we license our intellectua
property related to our proprietary PEGylation mate for the manufacture and commercializatiolRothe’s MIRCERA® product.
MIRCERA @ is a novel continuous erythropoietin recggctivator indicated for the treatment of aneasaociated with chronic kidney disease
in patients on dialysis and patients not on dialy&s of the end of 2006, we were no longer reguicemanufacture and supply our proprietary
PEGylation materials for MIRCERA under our origimgreement. In February 2012, we entered intol-artahufacturing agreement with
Roche under which we manufactured our propriet&yation material for MIRCERA&R . Roche entered ittie toll-manufacturing
agreement with the objective of establishing ua ascondary back-up source on a non-exclusive.lasier the terms this agreement, Roche
agreed to pay us an up-front payment of $5.0 milptus a total of up to $22.0 million in performarlgased milestone payments upon our
achievement of certain manufacturing readinesgjatidn and production milestones, including thiévéey of specified quantities of
PEGylation materials, all of which were succesgfuabmpleted by the end of January 2013. Roche walglil pay us additional consideration
for any future orders of the PEGylation materiaisMIRCERA® beyond the initial quantities orderedpast of the initial arrangement. Roche
may terminate the toll-manufacturing agreementtduen uncured material default by us or for coneroe under certain circumstances and
subject to certain financial obligations. We welsoantitled to receive royalties on net salehefMIRCERA® product. In February 2012, we
sold all of our future rights to receive royalti@s future worldwide net sales of MIRCERA effecta® of January 1, 2012. This sale is furthel
discussed in Note 7 of Item 8, Financial StatemantsSupplementary Data.

Significant Developments in our Most Recent FiveafdPeriod
Exit from the Inhaled Insulin Programs

In 1995, we entered into a collaborative developraad licensing agreement with Pfizer to develog mrarket Exuber@ and, in 2006
and 2007, we entered into a series of interimieigeements with Pfizer to develop a next germndtrm of dry powder inhaled insulin and
proprietary inhaler device, also known as NGl.dnuary 2006, Exubefa received marketing approviiderl).S. and EU for the treatment of
adults with Type 1 and Type 2 diabetes. Under tilaloorative development and licensing agreemeitePhad sole responsibility for
marketing and selling Exubefa . We performed athefmanufacturing of the Exubeta dry powder imswdnd we supplied Pfizer with the
Exubera® inhalers through third party contract maotufrers
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(Bespak Europe Ltd. and Tech Group North Amerine,)| We recorded no revenue from Pfizer relateti¢ése activities for the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011, 2010, 2009, and 2008.

On October 18, 2007, Pfizer announced that it witihg the Exuber& business and gave notice ofitetion under our collaborative
development and licensing agreement. On Novemh20@®7, we entered into a termination agreemennamdal release with Pfizer. Under
this agreement we received a one-time payment 3 .$1million in November 2007 from Pfizer in sagisfion of all outstanding contractual
obligations under our then-existing agreementgingdo Exuber® and NGI. All agreements betweerd?fand us related to Exubéra and
NGlI, other than the termination agreement and nhuél@ase and a related interim Exub® manufacturing maintenance letter, terminated on
November 9, 2007. In February 2008, we enteredartermination agreement with Bespak and Tech Gpauguant to which we paid i
aggregate of $40.2 million in satisfaction of oatgting accounts payable and termination costs apehses that were due under the ExuBera
inhaler contract manufacturing agreement. We atsered into a maintenance agreement with both iPdimd Tech Group to preserve key
personnel and manufacturing capacity to suppodniil future Exuber@ inhaler manufacturing if werid a new partner for the inhaled
insulin program.

On April 9, 2008, we announced that we had ceabegotiations with potential partners for Exub&@nd NGI as a result of new data
analysis from ongoing clinical trials conductedRfizer which indicated an increase in the numberesf cases of lung cancer in Exub&ra
patients who were former smokers as compared terpatin the control group who were not former serskin April 2008, we ceased all
spending associated with maintaining Exulfera matwifilng capacity and any further NGI developmemt|uiding, but not limited to,
terminating the Exubef manufacturing capacity teamiance arrangements with Pfizer and Tech Group.

Asset Sale to Novartis

On December 31, 2008, we completed the sale adioesssets related to our pulmonary business, iassd¢echnology and intellectual
property to Novartis Pharma AG and Novartis Phaeuticals Corporation (together referred to as Nisjafor a purchase price of
$115.0 million in cash (Novartis Pulmonary AsseleladJnder the terms of the transaction, we tramséeto Novartis certain assets and
obligations related to our pulmonary technologwealepment and manufacturing operations including:

» dry powder and liquid pulmonary technology platfamoluding but not limited to our pulmonary inhatat devices, formulation
technology, manufacturing technology and relatéelliectual property

 capital equipment, information systems and thdifpdease for our pulmonary development and maciufiang facility in San Carlos,
California;

» manufacturing and associated development servagsents for the Cipro Inhale progra

« manufacturing and royalty rights to the Tobramylcihalation Powder (TIP) program through the terrtioraof our collaboration
agreement with Novarti

 certain other interests that we had in two privat@panies; an

» approximately 140 of our personnel primarily detéceto our pulmonary technology, development pnograand manufacturing
operations

In addition, we retained all of our rights to BAY-4551, partnered with Bayer Healthcare LLC, certaiyalty rights for the Cipro DPI
development program partnered with Bayer Scherhmgyiia AG, and certain intellectual property rigspigcific to inhaled insulin.

In connection with the Novartis Pulmonary AsseeSale also entered into an Exclusive License Agezgtwith Novartis Pharma.
Pursuant to the Exclusive License Agreement, Na/&tiarma granted back
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to us an exclusive, irrevocable, perpetual, nondfierable, royalty-free and worldwide license unckstain specific patent rights and other
related intellectual property rights acquired byvbidis Pharma from Nektar in the transaction, ab agecertain improvements or modificatic
thereto that are made by Novartis Pharma aftecltfgéng. Certain of such patent rights and othkted intellectual property rights relate to
development program for inhaled vancomycin or aeessary for us to satisfy certain of our contigudantractual obligations to third parties,
including in connection with development, manufaefisale, and commercialization activities reldteBAY41-6551. We also entered into a
service agreement pursuant to which we have sutamiatl to Novartis certain services to be perfornedated to our partnered program for
BAY41-6551 and a transition services agreementyaunsto which Novartis and we will provide eachestiwith specified services for limited
time periods following the closing of the Novarfislmonary Asset Sale to facilitate the transitibthe acquired assets and business from us
Novartis.

Government Regulation

The research and development, clinical testing,ufeanture and marketing of products using our tetdgies are subject to regulation by
the FDA and by comparable regulatory agenciesherotountries. These national agencies and otderdk state and local entities regulate,
among other things, research and development Besivand the testing (in vitro, in animals, andhiiman clinical trials), manufacture, labeling,
storage, recordkeeping, approval, marketing, atbhegtand promotion of our products.

The approval process required by the FDA beformduyxt using any of our technologies may be matketehe U.S. depends on
whether the chemical composition of the productgrasiously been approved for use in other dosaged. If the product is a new chemical
entity that has not been previously approved, thegss includes the following:

» extensive preclinical laboratory and animal test
» submission of an Investigational New Drug applimat{IND) prior to commencing clinical trial
» adequate and w-controlled human clinical trials to establish tlaéesy and efficacy of the drug for the intendeddation; anc

» extensive pharmaceutical development for the cleniaation of the chemistry, manufacturing procasd controls for the active
ingredient and drug product; a

» submission to the FDA of an NDA for approval ofragl a Biological License Application (BLA) for apgval of a biological product
or a Premarket Approval Application (PMA) or PreketrNotification 510(k) for a medical device protig@ 510(k)).

If the active chemical ingredient has been previoapproved by the FDA, the approval process islaimexcept that certain preclinical
tests relating to systemic toxicity normally reeuairfor the IND and NDA or BLA may not be necessétiie company has a right of reference
to such data or is eligible for approval under B&cb05(b)(2) of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmtt or the biosimilars provisions of the
Public Health Services Act.

Preclinical tests include laboratory evaluatiopafduct chemistry and animal studies to assessatety and efficacy of the product and
its chosen formulation. Preclinical safety teststre conducted by laboratories that comply wittARjdod laboratory practices (GLP)
regulations. The results of the preclinical testsdrugs, biological products and combination pasisubject to the primary jurisdiction of the
FDA's Center for Drug Evaluation and Research (CDBRCenter for Biologics Evaluation and Resea@BER) are submitted to the FDA as
part of the IND and are reviewed by the FDA befdmeical trials can begin. Clinical trials may ba@0 days after receipt of the IND by the
FDA, unless the FDA raises objections or requitasfication within that period.
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Clinical trials involve the administration of theud) to healthy volunteers or patients under thestigion of a qualified, identified
medical investigator according to a protocol subediin the IND for FDA review. Drug products to b®ed in clinical trials must be
manufactured according to current good manufaajuypiiactices (cGMP). Clinical trials are conducte@c¢cordance with protocols that detail
the objectives of the study and the parameters tasled to monitor participant safety and produitady as well as other criteria to be
evaluated in the study. Each protocol is submitbetthe FDA in the IND.

Apart from the IND process described above, edidical study must be reviewed by an independeriitutidonal Review Board (IRB)
and the IRB must be kept current with respect ¢ostiatus of the clinical study. The IRB considarapng other things, ethical factors, the
potential risks to subjects participating in thaltand the possible liability to the institutiorhere the trial is conducted. The IRB also reviews
and approves the informed consent form to be sidpyettie trial participants and any significant cpes in the clinical study.

Clinical trials are typically conducted in threeqaential phases. Phase 1 involves the initial chiotion of the drug into healthy human
subjects (in most cases) and the product gendsatigsted for tolerability, pharmacokinetics, alpgion, metabolism and excretion. Phase 2
involves studies in a limited patient population to

» determine the preliminary efficacy of the produmt $pecific targeted indication
» determine dosage and regimen of administration;
« identify possible adverse effects and safety ri

If Phase 2 trials demonstrate that a product agpedre effective and to have an acceptable spfefile, Phase 3 trials are undertaken tc
evaluate the further clinical efficacy and safetyhe drug and formulation within an expanded pdtjgpulation at geographically dispersed
clinical study sites and in large enough trialpttovide statistical proof of efficacy and tolerdtyil The FDA, the clinical trial sponsor, the
investigators or the IRB may suspend clinical &rial any time if any one of them believes that\spatticipants are being subjected to an
unacceptable health risk. In some cases, the FDARendrug sponsor may determine that Phase 8 &iialnot needed prior to entering Pha
trials.

Following a series of formal meetings and commuigca between the drug sponsor and the regulaepaes, the results of product
development, preclinical studies and clinical stgdire submitted to the FDA as an NDA or BLA foprawal of the marketing and commerc
shipment of the drug product. The FDA may deny apgiif applicable regulatory criteria are not sé#id or may require additional clinical or
pharmaceutical testing or requirements. Even ihglata are submitted, the FDA may ultimately detlidd the NDA or BLA does not satisfy
all of the criteria for approval. Additionally, tregproved labeling may narrowly limit the conditsoof use of the product, including the
intended uses, or impose warnings, precautionsmraindications which could significantly limitétpotential market for the product. Further,
as a condition of approval, the FDA may impose {moatket surveillance, or Phase 4, studies or nishuation and mitigation strategies.
Product approvals, once obtained, may be withdridaompliance with regulatory standards is not rteimed or if safety concerns arise after
the product reaches the market. The FDA may requiditional post-marketing clinical testing and phacovigilance programs to monitor the
effect of drug products that have been commeredlend has the power to prevent or limit futurekating of the product based on the results
of such programs. After approval, there are ongoapgrting obligations concerning adverse reactassociated with the product, including
expedited reports for serious and unexpected aewents.

Each manufacturing establishment producing drudyeebfor the U.S. market must be registered withRBDA and typically is inspected
by the FDA prior to NDA or BLA approval of a druggauct manufactured by such establishment. Estabkats handling controlled
substances must also be licensed by the U.S. Dnfgyd&ment Administration. Manufacturing establigmts of U.S. marketed products are
subject to inspections
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by the FDA for compliance with cGMP and other U&julatory requirements. They are also subject.& t&deral, state, and local regulati
regarding workplace safety, environmental protecdad hazardous and controlled substance conaimisng others.

A number of the drugs we are developing are alreguyoved for marketing by the FDA in another famnusing another delivery
system. We believe that, when working with drugsraped in other forms, the approval process fodpots using our alternative drug deliv
or formulation technologies may involve less risklaequire fewer tests than new chemical entiteedHbwever, we expect that our
formulations will often use excipients not currgrapproved for use. Use of these excipients wiluige additional toxicological testing that
may increase the costs of, or length of time ne¢olegain regulatory approval. In addition, as thelate to our products, regulatory procedure
may change as regulators gain relevant experiemeceany such changes may delay or increase thefoagjulatory approvals.

For product candidates currently under developragiizing pulmonary technology, the pulmonary indratlevices are considered to be
part of a drug and device combination for deep ldelivery of each specific molecule. The FDA wilake a determination as to the most
appropriate center and division within the agemayt tvill assume primary responsibility for the mwiof the applicable applications, which
would consist of an IND and an NDA or BLA where CREr CBER are determined to have primary jurisditidr an investigational device
exemption application and PMA or 510(k) where tlemter for Devices and Radiological Health (CDRHJésermined to have primary
jurisdiction. In the case of our product candida@BER in consultation with CDRH could be involviedthe review. The assessmen
jurisdiction within the FDA is based upon the primanode of action of the drug or the location of #pecific expertise in one of the cent

Where CDRH is determined to have primary jurisdictover a product, 510(k) clearance or PMA apprivetquired. Medical devices
are classified into one of three classes — ClaS&aks Il, or Class Il — depending on the degriedsts associated with each medical device
and the extent of control needed to ensure safetyeffectiveness. Devices deemed to pose lowes @sk placed in either Class | or I, which
requires the manufacturer to submit to the FDAenRrrket Notification requesting permission to conuiadly distribute the device. This
process is known as 510(k) clearance. Some lowdasices are exempted from this requirement. Devilee=med by the FDA to pose the
greatest risk, such as life-sustaining, life-sugpgror implantable devices, or devices deemedsubstantially equivalent to a previously
cleared 510(k) device are placed in Class Ill, néiog PMA approval.

To date, our partners have generally been resgerfsibclinical and regulatory approval procedutas, we may participate in this
process by submitting to the FDA a drug masterdéeeloped and maintained by us which contains etataerning the manufacturing
processes for the inhaler device, PEGylation maltedr drug. For our proprietary products, we preand submit an IND and are responsible
for additional clinical and regulatory procedures firoduct candidates being developed under an TMiE.clinical and manufacturing,
development and regulatory review and approvalgssgenerally takes a number of years and recghieesxpenditure of substantial resour
Our ability to manufacture and market products, thbedeveloped by us or under collaboration agre¢sneltimately depends upon the
completion of satisfactory clinical trials and sesss in obtaining marketing approvals from the FD# aquivalent foreign health authorities.

Sales of our products outside the U.S. are sutjpdotal regulatory requirements governing clinicals and marketing approval for
drugs. Such requirements vary widely from coundrgauntry.

In the U.S., under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA rgegnt orphan drug designation to drugs intendecktt a rare disease or condition,
which is generally a disease or condition thatafféewer than 200,000 individuals in the U.S. €hempany that obtains the first FDA apprc
for a designated orphan drug for a rare diseasgvwex marketing exclusivity for use of that drugttee designated condition for a period of
seven years. In addition, the Orphan Drug Act pfesifor protocol assistance, tax credits, resegnahis, and exclusions from user fees for
sponsors of orphan products. Once a product rezeinghan drug exclusivity, a
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second product that is considered to be the sautefdr the same indication may be approved dutirgeixclusivity period only if the second
product is shown to be “clinically superior” to theginal orphan drug in that it is more effectigafer or otherwise makes a “major
contribution to patient care” or the holder of exgile approval cannot assure the availability dficgent quantities of the orphan drug to meet
the needs of patients with the disease or conditiowhich the drug was designated. Similar incegialso are available for orphan drugs in
the E.U.

In the U.S., the FDA may grant Fast Track or Breakigh designation to a product candidate, whitdwal the FDA to expedite the
review of new drugs that are intended for seriquf@threatening conditions and that demonsttagepotential to address unmet medical
needs. Important features of Fast Track or Brealdjin designation include a potentially reducedicdihnprogram and close, early
communication between the FDA and the sponsor cagnfmimprove the efficiency of product development

Patents and Proprietary Rights

We own more than 150 U.S. and 500 foreign patemssanumber of pending patent applications thaecegarious aspects of our
technologies. We have filed patent applications, glan to file additional patent applications, caneg various aspects of our PEGylation and
advanced polymer conjugate technologies and oyrgtary product candidates. More specifically, patents and patent applications cover
polymer architecture, drug conjugates, formulatjonsthods of making polymers and polymer conjugatethods of administering polymer
conjugates, and methods of manufacturing polymedspalymer conjugates. Our patent portfolio corggiatents and patent applications that
encompass our PEGylation and advanced polymer gatguechnology platforms, some of which we acalineour acquisition of Shearwater
Corporation in June 2001. Our patent strategy fadegatent applications on innovations and imgnoents to cover a significant majority of
the major pharmaceutical markets in the world. @ahg patents have a term of twenty years fromediest priority date (assuming all
maintenance fees are paid). In some instances)tgatens can be increased or decreased, dependlithg daws and regulations of the country
or jurisdiction that issued the patent.

In January 2002, we entered into a Cross-Licendeoption Agreement with Enzon Pharmaceuticals, imersuant to which we and
Enzon provided certain licenses to selected pataireach party’s PEGylation patent portfolio. értain cases, we have the option to license
certain of Enzon’s PEGylation patents for use inmroprietary products or for sublicenses to timagties in each case in exchange for
payments to Enzon based on manufacturing proéit&enue share or royalties on net sales if a desidmaoduct candidate is approved in one
or more markets.

In connection with the Novartis Pulmonary AsseteSabk of December 31, 2008, we entered into amusixel license agreement with
Novartis Pharma. Pursuant to the exclusive liceiggeement, Novartis Pharma grants back to us dasixe, irrevocable, perpetual, roye
free and worldwide license under certain speciéitept rights and other related intellectual propgghts acquired by Novartis from us in the
Novartis Pulmonary Asset Sale, as well as cerfaprovements or modifications thereto that are niadsovartis. Certain of such patent rig
and other related intellectual property rightsteeta our development program for inhaled vancomyciare necessary for us to satisfy certain
continuing contractual obligations to third partieluding in connection with development, mantifae, sale, and commercialization activi
related to BAY41-6551 partnered with Bayer Healtkda C.

We also rely on trade secret protection for ourfidemtial and proprietary information. No assuranee be given that we can
meaningfully protect our trade secrets. Others mdgpendently develop substantially equivalent mitial and proprietary information or
otherwise gain access to, or disclose, our tradete Please refer to Iltem 1A, Risk Factors, idiclg but not limited to “We rely on trade
secret protection and other unpatented proprigtghys for important proprietary technologies, amy loss of such rights could harm our
business, results of operations and financial ¢aomdf
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In certain situations in which we work with drugsvered by one or more patents, our ability to dggvelnd commercialize our
technologies may be affected by limitations in aocess to these proprietary drugs. Even if we belee are free to work with a proprietary
drug, we cannot guarantee that we will not be sadw$, or determined to be, infringing a third gatrights and be prohibited from working
with the drug or found liable for damages. Any suestriction on access or liability for damages lddwave a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations and financial ¢adi

The patent positions of pharmaceutical and bioteldgy companies, such as ours, are uncertain amdvim complex legal and factual
issues. There can be no assurance that patentsatletssued will be held valid and enforceabla aourt of law. Even for patents that are helc
valid and enforceable, the legal process assocwatbcobtaining such a judgment is time consuming eostly. Additionally, issued patents
be subject to opposition or other proceedingsdhatresult in the revocation of the patent or nesiahce of the patent in amended form (and
potentially in a form that renders the patent withcommercially relevant and/or broad coverageitheu, our competitors may be able to
circumvent and otherwise design around our pat&wvsn if a patent is issued and enforceable, becdeselopment and commercialization of
pharmaceutical products can be subject to subatatgiays, patents may expire early and providg ardhort period of protection, if any,
following the commercialization of a products engassed by our patent(s). We may have to participdteerference proceedings declared
by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, which dwoekult in a loss of the patent and/or substaatist to us. Please refer to Item 1A, Risk
Factors, including without limitation, “If any ofuo pending patent applications do not issue, odasmed invalid following issuance, we may
lose valuable intellectual property protection.”

U.S. and foreign patent rights and other propnetaghts exist that are owned by third parties egidte to pharmaceutical compositions
and reagents, medical devices and equipment arttbdeefor preparation, packaging and delivery ofrptaceutical compositions. We cannot
predict with any certainty which, if any, of thesghts will be considered relevant to our technglbg authorities in the various jurisdictions
where such rights exist, nor can we predict wittiadety which, if any, of these rights will or még asserted against us by third parties. We
could incur substantial costs in defending oursebs@d our partners against any such claims. Funtbrey, parties making such claims may be
able to obtain injunctive or other equitable relighich could effectively block our ability to ddee or commercialize some or all of our
products in the U.S. and abroad and could resuttéraward of substantial damages. In the eveatatdim of infringement, we or our partners
may be required to obtain one or more licenses tiord parties. There can be no assurance thatwebtain a license to any technology that
we determine we need on reasonable terms, if atralhat we could develop or otherwise obtainratiéive technology. The failure to obtain
licenses if needed may have a material adverseteffeour business, results of operations and fiiahcondition. Please refer to Item 1A, Risk
Factors, including without limitation, “We may no¢ able to obtain intellectual property licenseatesl to the development of our drug
candidates on a commercially reasonable basitaif.&

It is our policy to require our employees and cdtasits, outside scientific collaborators, sponsaesarchers and other advisors who
receive confidential information from us to execatafidentiality agreements upon the commencemeainployment or consulting
relationships with us. These agreements provideathaonfidential information developed or madetm to the individual during the course
of the individual’s relationship with us is to begkt confidential and not disclosed to third paréesept in specific circumstances. The
agreements provide that all inventions conceivedigmployee shall be our property. There can kesaorance, however, that these
agreements will provide meaningful protection oe@uhte remedies for our trade secrets in the efamtauthorized use or disclosure of such
information.
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Customer Concentrations

Our revenue is derived from our collaboration agreets with partners, under which we may receivdraghresearch payments,
milestone payments based on clinical progressJaggy progress or net sales achievements, rogadtienanufacturing revenue. UCB Pharma
Roche, and Affymax represented 30%, 23%, and 118&tiofevenue, respectively, for the year ended Bee 31, 2012. No other
collaboration partner accounted for more than 1@%uo total revenue during the year ended DecerBbheP012.

Backlog

Pursuant to our collaboration agreements, we matwiaand supply our proprietary PEGylation matsriaventory is produced and
sales are made pursuant to customer purchase dodelsivery. The volume of our proprietary PEGQida materials actually ordered by our
customers, as well as shipment schedules, arecsibjrequent revisions that reflect changes ithltbe customers’ needs and our
manufacturing capacity. In our partnered prograrnere we provide contract research services, trersgcss are typically provided under a
work plan that is subject to frequent revisiond ttenge based on the development needs and stahesprogram. The backlog at a particulal
time is affected by a number of factors, includsepeduled date of manufacture and delivery andldeweent program status. In light of
industry practice and our own experience, we ddoetieve that backlog as of any particular daiedécative of future results.

Competition

Competition in the pharmaceutical and biotechnolioglystry is intense and characterized by aggressisearch and development and
rapidly-evolving science, technology, and standafdsedical care throughout the world. We frequentimpete with pharmaceutical
companies and other institutions with greater faialn research and development, marketing and,sal@sufacturing and managerial
capabilities. We face competition from these congmanot just in product development but also irmarguch as recruiting employees,
acquiring technologies that might enhance ourtghiti commercialize products, establishing relagtips with certain research and academic
institutions, enrolling patients in clinical trigdsid seeking program partnerships and collabomtigth larger pharmaceutical companies.

Science and Technology Competition

We believe that our proprietary and partnered petdwill compete with others in the market on tlasib of one or more of the following
parameters: efficacy, safety, ease of use and\fstace intense science and technology compefitgon a multitude of technologies seeking
to enhance the efficacy, safety and ease of uapmbved drugs and new drug molecule candidatesindber of the drug candidates in our
pipeline have direct and indirect competition frarge pharmaceutical companies and biopharmacéuatioapanies. With our PEGylation and
advanced polymer conjugate technologies, we belie/bave competitive advantages relating to factach as efficacy, safety, ease of use
and cost for certain applications and molecules.cdfestantly monitor scientific and medical devel@mts in order to improve our current
technologies, seek licensing opportunities whepr@miate, and determine the best applicationstmrtechnology platforms.

In the fields of PEGylation and advanced polymaenrjegate technologies, our competitors include Bmdgavient, Dr. Reddy’s
Laboratories, Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Moun¥aa Pharmaceuticals, Inc., SunBio Corporation,MNCorporation, and Novo Nordisk
A/S (formerly assets held by Neose Technologias).iBeveral other chemical, biotechnology and plageutical companies may also be
developing PEGylation technology, advanced polyocogjugate technology or technologies intended tivelesimilar scientific and medical
benefits. Some of these companies license intaégiroperty or pegylation materials to other comes, while others apply the technology to
create their own drug candidates.
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Product and Program Specific Competition
Naloxegol (formerly NKTR-118) (orally-available pgiheral opioid antagonist)

There are no oral drugs approved specifically liertteatment of opioid-induced constipation (Ol€ppioid bowel dysfunction (OBD).
The only approved treatment for OIC is a subcutasgeatment known as methylnaltrexone bromide etatkby Salix Pharmaceuticals, Ltd
under a license from Progenics PharmaceuticalsMethylnaltrexone bromide is indicated for theatraent of opioid-induced constipation in
patients with advanced illness who are receivirligh@e care, when response to laxative therapy @ been sufficient. In August 2012,
Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (which is in collediion with Forest Laboratories) received apprdia@h the FDA for LINZESS™
(linaclotide) as a once-daily treatment for aduttmand women with irritable bowel syndrome with stigation or chronic idiopathic
constipation. Other therapies used to treat OIC@BD include over-the-counter laxatives and stofiemers, such as docusate sodium, senn
and milk of magnesia. These therapies do not addhesunderlying cause of constipation as a reupioid use and are generally viewed as
ineffective or only partially effective to treatetlsymptoms of OID and OBD.

There are a number of companies developing potgrbaucts which are in various stages of clinb@avelopment and are being
evaluated for the treatment of OIC and OBD in défg patient populations. Potential competitorsuide Progenics Pharmaceuticals, Inc. in
collaboration with Salix Pharmaceuticals, Ltd., @GulPharmaceuticals, GlaxoSmithKline, Mundipharmia Limited, Theravance, Inc.,
Sucampo Pharmaceuticals, Alkermes, Inc. and TaRbdamaceutical Company Limited.

Etirinotecan pegol (next-generation topoisomerasmhibitor)

There are a number of chemotherapies and canaapthe approved today and in various stages otalitlevelopment for breast and
ovarian cancers including but not limited to: Abmar (paclitaxel protein-bound particles for injébttasuspension (albumin bound)), Afinitor
(everolimus), DoxiP (doxorubicin HCI), Ellenée (epbicin), GemzaP (gemcitabine), Halaven (eribulidgrceptin® (trastuzumab),
Hycamtin® (topotecan), Ixempfa (ixabepilone), Nawa® (vinolrebine), Paraplatih (carboplatin), Tafgpaclitaxel) and Taxotere
(docetaxel). These therapies are only partiallgaive in treating breast and ovarian cancer. Malarmaceutical or biotechnology companies
with approved drugs or drugs in development fos¢heancers include Bristol-Meyers Squibb, Eisai,, IRoche Holding Group (including its
Genentech subsidiary), GlaxoSmithKline plc, Pfizec,, Eli Lilly & Co., and many others. There an@rrently no drugs in Phase 3
development to specifically treat metastatic breaster following anthracylcline, taxane and catadine therapy in either the adjuvant or
metastatic setting.

There are also a number of chemotherapies and crerapies approved today and in clinical develepifior the treatment of colorec
cancer. Approved therapies for the treatment adreatal cancer include Eloxatin (oxaliplatin), Caogar® (irinotecan), Avastif
(bevacizumab), Zaltrap (Ziv-afilbercept), Stivafy@egorafenib), Erbitu® (cetuximab), Vectibix (pamtumab), Xelod& (capecitabine),
Adrucil @ (fluorouracil), and Wellcovorif®  (leucovoiinThese therapies are only partially effectivéré@ating the disease. There are a number
of drugs in various stages of preclinical and chihidevelopment from companies exploring cancemthies or improved chemotherapeutic
agents to potentially treat colorectal cancerhéise drugs are approved, they could be competitiveetirinotecan pegol if it is approved by
government health authorities. These include prtsdimcdevelopment from Bristol-Myers Squibb CompaRfjzer, Inc., GlaxoSmithKline plc,
Antigenics, Inc., F. Hoffman-La Roche Ltd, Novaii&, Cell Therapeutics, Inc., Neopharm Inc., Meclit&kesearch Ltd, Alchemia Limited,
and many others.

BAY41-6551 (Amikacin Inhale, formerly NKTR-061)

There are currently no approved drugs on the méoketdjunctive treatment or prevention of gram-atag pneumonias in mechanically
ventilated patients which are also administeredhéapulmonary route. The current standard of takedes approved intravenous antibiotics
which are partially effective for the
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treatment of either hospital-acquired pneumonigenttilator-associated pneumonia in patients on r@ueichl ventilators. These drugs include
drugs that fall into the categories of antipseudoah@ephalosporins, antipseudomonal carbepenenss|digam/beta-lactamase inhibitors,
antipseudomonal fluoroquinolones, such as ciprafbirx or levofloxacin, and aminoglycosides, suchmikacin, gentamycin or tobramycin.

Research and Development
Our total research and development expenditurebeatisaggregated into the following significaridg of expenses (in millions):

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Salaries and employee benefits $ 49.¢ $ 43.¢ $ 37.¢
Stock compensation exper 7.1 7.8 7.2
Facility and equipmer 11.2 12.¢ 13.C
Outside services, including Contract Research Qzgtions 58.¢ 43.C 33.4
Supplies, including clinical trial materizg 12.t 14.¢ 13.1
Travel, lodging and mea 3.4 3.1 2.t
Other 5.7 1.2 1.1
Research and development expe $148.5 $126.¢ $108.]

Manufacturing and Supply

We have a manufacturing facility located in HuniteyiAlabama that is capable of manufacturing PE@ad derivatives and starting
materials for active pharmaceutical ingredientsIE&\PThe facility is also used to produce APIsuport the early phases of clinical
development of our proprietary drug candidates. fl#ity and associated equipment are designedpedated to be consistent with the all
applicable laws and regulations.

As we do not maintain the capability to manufacfimshed drug products, we utilize contract maetigers to manufacture the finished
drug product for us. We source drug starting malefor our manufacturing activities from one orrmeuppliers. For the drug starting
materials necessary for our proprietary drug caatdidevelopment, we have agreements for the s@bglych drug components with drug
manufacturers or suppliers that we believe havicgrit capacity to meet our demands. However, ftione to time, we source critical raw
materials and services from one or a limited nundbauppliers and there is a risk that if such $yipp services were interrupted, it would
materially harm our business. In addition, we taficorder raw materials and services on a purcbader basis and do not enter into Idegn
dedicated capacity or minimum supply arrangemaefits utilize the services of contract manufacturemnainufacture APls required for later
phases of clinical development and eventual comiadézation for us under all applicable laws andulegjons.

Environment

As a manufacturer of PEG reagents for the U.S. atavke are subject to inspections by the FDA fanpliance with cGMP and other
U.S. regulatory requirements, including U.S. feflestate and local regulations regarding environi@eorotection and hazardous and
controlled substance controls, among others. Enmental laws and regulations are complex, charegpiéntly and have tended to become
more stringent over time. We have incurred, and omtinue to incur, significant expenditures towrsve are in compliance with these laws
and regulations. We would be subject to signifiqgaemialties for failure to comply with these lawsl aagulations.

31



Table of Contents

Employees and Consultants

As of December 31, 2012, we had 433 employeeshafhw325 employees were engaged in research aradogenvent, commercial
operations and quality activities and 108 employeee engaged in general administration and busidegelopment. Of the 433 employees,
353 were located in the United States and 80 vom@éd in India. We have a number of employees lvdhd advanced degrees, such as Ph
None of our employees are covered by a collectargdining agreement, and we have experienced nlo stoppages. We believe that
maintain good relations with our employees.

To complement our own expert professional staffutize specialists in regulatory affairs, procesgjineering, manufacturing, quality
assurance, clinical development and business dewelot. These individuals include certain of ouestific advisors as well as independent
consultants.

Available Information

Our website address ldtp://www.nektar.com The information in, or that can be accessed tjinipour website is not part of this annual
report on Form 10-K. Our annual reports on FornKl@uarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current re&ppon Form 8-K and amendments to
those reports are available, free of charge, dhrough our website as soon as reasonably pratdiedter we electronically file such material
with, or furnish it to, the Securities Exchange @oission (SEC). The public may read and copy anyeras we file with the SEC at the
SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Wag#trin D.C. 20549. Information on the operationhaf Public Reference Room can
obtained by calling 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maistain Internet site that contains reports, proxy/iaformation statements and other
information regarding our filings atww.sec.gov

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The following table sets forth the names, agespasitions of our executive officers as of Febru28y 2013:

Name Age Position

Howard W. Robir 60 Director, President and Chief Executive Offi

John Nicholsor 61 Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi

Robert A. Medve, M.D 47  Senior Vice President and Chief Medical Offi

Stephen K. Doberstein, Ph. 54  Senior Vice President and Chief Scientific Offi

Gil M. Labrucherie, J.D 41  Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Segr

Maninder Hora, Ph.D 59  Senior Vice President, Pharmaceutical Developmedt a
Manufacturing Operatior

Jillian B. Thomset 47  Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief Accoun@fiicer

Rinko Ghost 49  Senior Vice President and Chief Business Off

Howard W. Robirhas served as our President and Chief Executivieddfince January 2007 and has served as a meber board of
directors since February 2007. Mr. Robin serve@laisf Executive Officer, President and a directo8iona Therapeutics, Inc., a biotechnol
company, from July 2001 to November 2006 and framudry 2001 to June 2001, served as their Chiefdiipg Officer, President and as a
director. From 1991 to 2001, Mr. Robin was Corpendice President and General Manager at Berlex tzaboes, Inc., a pharmaceutical
products company that is a subsidiary of Scheddg), and from 1987 to 1991 he served as Vice PrasidfeFinance and Business
Development and Chief Financial Officer of Berléxom 1984 to 1987, Mr. Robin was Director of Bus&®lanning and Development at
Berlex. He was a Senior Associate with
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Arthur Andersen & Co. prior to joining Berlex. MRobin serves as a director of the Biotechnologyistiy Organization, the world’s largest
biotechnology industry trade organization, and akswes as a director of BayBio, a non-profit tradgociation serving the Northern California
life sciences community. He received his B.S. it@unting and Finance from Fairleigh Dickinson Umgiy in 1974.

John Nicholsorhas served as our Senior Vice President and ChiahEial Officer since December 2007. Mr. Nichol$oined the
Company as Senior Vice President of Corporate [@veént and Business Operations in October 200%vasdappointed Senior Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer in Decemi@d?2 Before joining Nektar, Mr. Nicholson spentyEars in various executive roles at
Schering Berlin, Inc., the U.S. management holdiogpany of Bayer Schering Pharma AG, a pharma@diionpany. From 1997 to
September 2007, Mr. Nicholson served as ScherimfnBac.’s Vice President of Corporate Developmand Treasurer. From 2001 to
September 2007, he concurrently served as Presifi&ahering Berlin Insurance Co., and from Febr2207 through September 2007, he
also concurrently served as President of BayerrRa&hemicals and Schering Berlin Capital Corp. Nicholson holds a B.B.A. from the
University of Toledo.

Robert A. Medve, M.has served as our Senior Vice President and Cheefiddl Officer since June 2011 and previously s&ag&our
Vice President Drug Development and Medical Affaitsen he joined Nektar in March 2011 until June22@rom November 2006 to March
2011, he was Chief Medical and Regulatory OffigeeurAxon, Inc., a privately held biotechnologymuany developing drug candidates for
the treatment of pain and CNS disorders. From A6 to November 2006, Dr. Medve served as CotpMie President, Science, Rese:
and Development for Lifetree Clinical Research, tredeafter served in a consulting capacity frametio time. From May 2003 to November
2005, Dr. Medve served as Senior Vice PresidentgMrevelopment and Chief Medical and Regulatoryo@fffor Metaphore
Pharmaceuticals, a biotechnology company develogiing candidates for pain and inflammation. Fromuday 1998 to May 2003, he served
in various leadership positions at Johnson & Johnagharmaceutical company, most recently as ExecDirector of Pediatric Drug
Development. From May 1996 to January 1998, heeskirvthe medical affairs group at Knoll PharmaimalitCompany, a wholly-owned
pharmaceutical subsidiary of BASF acquired by Akhd001, most recently as Director of Medical Af§aPrior to joining industry,
Dr. Medve served as the Director of Pediatric Rd@amagement and Instructor of Anesthesiology atStadée University of New York at Buffa
(SUNY) and also completed a Pain Management Feligmet SUNY. He completed his residency in aneséhasThomas Jefferson Univers
Hospital and served as a surgical intern at Mereglth Systems Medical Center. Dr. Medve receivedvhD. from Jefferson Medical College
and received his B.S. in Biology from the PennsgiasState University.

Stephen K. Doberstein, Ph.bas served as our Senior Vice President and Chiehf#fic Officer since January 2010. From Octope08
through December 2009, Dr. Doberstein served as Fresident, Research at Xoma (US) LLC, a pubtielged clinical stage biotechnology
company. From July 2004 until August 2008, he sga® Vice President, Research at privately held Prime Therapeutics, a clinical stage
biotechnology company. From September 2001 unljl 2004, Dr. Doberstein was Vice President, Reseat@rivately held Xencor, Inc., a
clinical stage biotechnology company. From 1992360, he held various pharmaceutical researchipesiat Exelixis, Inc., a publicly traded
clinical stage biotechnology company. Prior to wogkat Exelixis, Dr. Doberstein was a Howard HugRestdoctoral Fellow and a Muscular
Dystrophy Association Senior Postdoctoral Fellowhat University of California Berkeley. Dr. Doberst received his Ph.D. Biochemistry,
Cell and Molecular Biology from the Johns Hopkinsitérsity School of Medicine and received a B.SChemical Engineering from the
University of Delaware.

Gil M. Labrucheriehas served as our Senior Vice President, Generaisgband Secretary since April 2007, responsitifiall aspects ¢
our legal affairs. Mr. Labrucherie served as owevresident, Corporate Legal from October 200&uiin April 2007. From October 2000 to
September 2005, Mr. Labrucherie was Vice Preside@orporate Development at E2open. While at E2pptnLabrucherie was responsible
for global corporate alliances and merger and aitipuis. Prior to E2open, he was the Senior DireotdCorporate Development at AltaVista
Company, an Internet search company, where heegaonsible for strategic
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partnerships and mergers and acquisitions. Mr.ucttarie serves on the General Counsels Committdeeddiotechnology Industry
Organization, the world’s largest biotechnologyustly trade organization. Mr. Labrucherie beganchiger as an associate in the corporate
practice of the law firm of Wilson Sonsini Goodri&hRosati, P.C. Mr. Labrucherie received his Jioni the Berkeley Law School and a B.A.
from the University of California Davis.

Maninder Hora, Ph.Dhas served as our Senior Vice President, PharmeakDevelopment and Manufacturing Operations sikiagust
2010. From December 2008 to July 2010, he was Riesident, Product and Quality Operations at Faimgéch Corporation, a clinical stage
biotechnology company, which was acquired by Abbdtpril 2010. From July 2006 to December 2008, Bora served in various
management capacities at PDL Biopharma, Inc., pHaiomaceutical company, most recently as Vice &easj Product Operations. From 1986
to 2006, Dr. Hora held positions of increasing cesibility with Chiron Corporation (now Novartig,pharmaceutical company, serving most
recently at Chiron as Vice President of ProcessRanduct Development. Dr. Hora served as a key mewibvarious teams that successfully
registered eight drugs or vaccines in the U.S.Eumpe during his 20-year tenure at Chiron. Dr.aHuais also held positions at Wyeth
Pharmaceuticals and GlaxoSmithKline PLC prior taijgy Chiron. Dr. Hora completed his Ph.D. in Bigareering from the Indian Institute of
Technology, Delhi, India, and was a Fulbright Sehait the University of Washington, and receivesiBhiS. in chemistry from the University
of Jabalpur.

Jillian B. Thomsefas served as our Senior Vice President, Finant€haref Accounting Officer since February 2010.RriMlarch 200¢
through March 2008, Ms. Thomsen served as our Riesident Finance and Corporate Controller and #pnil 2008 through January 2010
she served as our Vice President Finance and 8hezfunting Officer. Before joining Nektar, Ms. Theen was Vice President Finance and
Deputy Corporate Controller of Calpine Corporaticom September 2002 to February 2006. Ms. Thonmsercertified public accountant and
previously was a senior manager at Arthur Andetdd? where she worked from 1990 to 2002, and sfieethin audits of multinational
consumer products, life sciences, manufacturingesmellgy companies. Ms. Thomsen holds a Mastersobdntancy from the University of
Denver and a B.A. in Business Economics from Calor@ollege.

Rinko Ghoslhas served as our Senior Vice President and ChisihBss Officer since March 2010. He served aseuior Vice
President, Business Development and Alliance Mamagée from March 2008 through February 2010, oue\Reesident, Business
Development from August 2006 until February 2008mi8r Director, Business Development from July 2068! July 2006, and prior to that
he worked in a variety of corporate and busineseldpment roles for us from May 2001 to June 206m February 2001 to April 2001, he
was engaged as a commercial development consattéwviron (now Medimmune/AstraZeneca) in Palo AFpom 1999 to 2000, Mr. Ghosh
was co-Chief Executive Officer of a private biotaotogy company in Asia. From 1994 to 1999, he wagged as a management consultant
with A.T. Kearney, a global management consultingfFrom 1989 to 1992, he worked as an environaie@nsultant with Environ
Corporation, a human health and environmental dongdirm. Mr. Ghosh earned his M.B.A. from the #fiton School, University of
Pennsylvania, his M.S. in Environmental Engineefiogn VVanderbilt University, and his B.S. in Cheali€ngineering from the Indian
Institute of Technology, Bombay.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

We are providing the following cautionary discussaf risk factors, uncertainties and assumptioas\we believe are relevant to our
business. These are factors that, individuallyndhe aggregate, we think could cause our actsaltseto differ materially from expected and
historical results and our forward-looking statetseMVe note these factors for investors as perchiijeSection 21E of the Exchange Act and
Section 27A of the Securities Act. You should ustind that it is not possible to predict or idgnili such factors. Consequently, you should
not consider this section to be a complete disoussi all potential risks or uncertainties that nsaypstantially impact our business. Moreover,
we operate in a competitive and rapidly changingrenment.
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New factors emerge from time to time and it is pogsible to predict the impact of all of these deston our business, financial conditior
results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Business
Drug development is a long and inherently uncertgimocess with a high risk of failure at every stagédevelopment.

We have a number of proprietary drug candidatespanhered drug candidates in research and develapranging from the early
discovery research phase through preclinical tgstivd clinical trials. Preclinical testing and @l studies are long, expensive and highly
uncertain processes. It will take us, or our callaltive partners, several years to complete clisitalies. The start or end of a clinical study is
often delayed or halted due to changing regulatequirements, manufacturing challenges, requirieical trial administrative actions, slower
than anticipated patient enroliment, changing saeaslof care, availability or prevalence of usa abmparator drug or required prior therapy,
clinical outcomes, or our and our partners’ finahcnstraints.

Drug development is a highly uncertain scientificlanedical endeavor, and failure can unexpectettiyioat any stage of clinical
development. Typically, there is a high rate ofiiain for drug candidates in preclinical and otial trials due to scientific feasibility, safety,
efficacy, changing standards of medical care ahdrotariables. The risk of failure increases for dug candidates that are based on new
technologies, such as the application of our adsdpolymer conjugate technology to small molecuteduding naloxegol, etirinotecan pegol,
NKTR-181, NKTR-192, NKTR-171 and other drug candidai@sently in discovery research or preclinical depenent. The failure of one or
more of our drug candidates could have a matedizdige effect on our business, financial condiéind results of operations.

If we or our partners do not obtain regulatory apgval for our drug candidates on a timely basis, afrall, or if the terms of any
approval impose significant restrictions or limit@ins on use, our business, results of operationgldimancial condition will be
negatively affected.

We or our partners may not obtain regulatory aparéor drug candidates on a timely basis, or ataglthe terms of any approval (which
in some countries includes pricing approval) mapase significant restrictions or limitations on uBeug candidates must undergo rigorous
animal and human testing and an extensive FDA ntadda equivalent foreign government health autiiogview process for safety and
efficacy. The time required for obtaining regulgtdecisions is uncertain and difficult to predithe FDA and other U.S. and foreign health
authorities have substantial discretion, at anysplad development, to terminate clinical studieguire additional clinical development or ot
testing, delay or withhold registration and mankgtapproval and mandate product withdrawals, irintydecalls. Further, health authorities
have the discretion to analyze data using their methodologies that may differ from those used $pmuour partners which could lead such
authorities to arrive at different conclusions melijag the safety or efficacy of a drug candidateadidition, undesirable side effects caused by
our drug candidates could cause us or regulatdhoaties to interrupt, delay or halt clinical tiseand could result in a more restricted label or
the delay or denial of regulatory approval by regmy authorities. For example, we understandtti@FDA is exploring whether there is any
evidence of a potential cardiovascular class efigated to opioid withdrawal associated with musa@pantagonists and naloxegol is a mu-
opioid antagonist. Although AstraZeneca has coreglebmprehensive safety studies for naloxegol eopthe KODIAC development
program and the results from these studies are¢iymsihe health authorities retain significantadétion over regulatory requirements which
remain very uncertain and difficult to predict prio obtaining approval.

Even if we or our partners receive regulatory aparof a product, the approval may limit the indezhuses for which the drug may be
marketed. Our partnered drugs that have obtairgdatry approval, and the manufacturing procegsethese products, are subject to
continued review and periodic inspections by théA\FD
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and other regulatory authorities. Discovery froratsteview and inspection of previously unknown peats may result in restrictions on
marketed products or on us, including withdrawalemall of such products from the market, suspensfaelated manufacturing operations or
a more restricted label. The failure to obtain tintegulatory approval of product candidates, argdpct marketing limitations or a product
withdrawal would negatively impact our businessutts of operations and financial condition.

Even with success in previously completed clinit@ls, the risk of clinical failure for any drug endidate remains high prior to
regulatory approval.

A number of companies have suffered significanbuegeen failures in late stage clinical studiestdfactors such as inconclusive
efficacy or safety, even after achieving positigsults in earlier clinical studies that were satitfry both to them and to reviewing governrr
health authorities. While etirinotecan pegol, Antikalnhale, and BAX 855 have each demonstratedipesiesults from Phase 1 and 2 clinical
studies, there is a substantial risk that Phadmi8al study outcomes for these drug candidatesiftarger patient populations will not
demonstrate positive efficacy, safety or othericéihoutcomes sufficient to support regulatorynfils and achieve regulatory approval. Phase :
clinical study outcomes remain very unpredictalnié & is possible that one or more of these Phadmi@al studies could fail at any time due
to efficacy, safety or other important clinicaldings or regulatory requirements. If one or mor¢heke drug candidates fail in Phase 3 clinica
studies, it would have a material adverse effeatumbusiness, financial condition and resultspdrations.

We are a party to numerous collaboration agreemeatsl other significant agreements which contain cplax commercial terms that
could result in disputes, litigation or indemnifidaon liability that could adversely affect our buséss, results of operations and
financial condition.

We currently derive, and expect to derive in the$eeable future, all of our revenue from collabonaagreements with biotechnology
and pharmaceutical companies. These collaboratjsgeanents contain complex commercial terms, inolgtdi

+ clinical development and commercialization obligasi that are based on certain commercial reasaredsdgerformance standards
that can often be difficult to enforce if disputesse as to adequacy of our par’s performance

» research and development performance and reimbargeshligations for our personnel and other resesiadlocated to partnered di
candidate development prograr

« clinical and commercial manufacturing agreemerus)esof which are priced on an actual cost basipffoducts supplied by us to our
partners with complicated cost allocation formwas methodologie:

* intellectual property ownership allocation betwesrand our partners for improvements and new inwesideveloped during the
course of the collaboratio

 royalties on drug sales based on a number of comwglgables, including net sales calculations, gaplgy, scope of patent claim
coverage, patent life, generic competitors, bunglécing and other factors; ai

» indemnity obligations for intellectual property iimMigement, product liability and certain other oiai

We are a party to certain significant agreemergkiding an asset purchase agreement with Novartsuant to which we sold a
significant portion of our pulmonary business & &md of 2008, the worldwide exclusive license agrent with AstraZeneca related to the
further development and commercialization of nagmteand the purchase and sale agreement with RBh&e Trust (RPI) related to the sale
of our royalty interests in UCB’s CIMZI& and RocBeéMIRCERA® that we completed in February 2012. Eaictnese agreements contains
complex representations and warranties, covenadténaemnification obligations that
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could result in substantial future liability andrimaour financial condition if we breach any of @greements with Novartis, AstraZeneca, RPI
or any third party agreements impacted by thesepfairansactions.

From time to time, we have informal dispute resolutliscussions with third parties regarding thprapriate interpretation of the
complex commercial terms contained in our agreesn@ne or more disputes may arise or escalatesifuthre regarding our collaboration
agreements, transaction documents, or thary license agreements that may ultimately rasudbstly litigation and unfavorable interpretat
of contract terms, which would have a material asweffect on our business, financial condition erslilts of operations.

We have substantial future capital requirements atibre is a risk we may not have access to suffitieapital to meet our current
business plan. If we do not receive substantial@stione payments from our existing collaboration agments, execute new high value
collaborations or other arrangements, or are unalieraise additional capital in one or more finarmyg transactions, we would be
unable to continue our current level of investmeintresearch and development.

As of December 31, 2012, we had cash, cash equigalend investments in marketable securities dadtt@pproximately $302.2 million
and indebtedness of approximately $149.0 milliooluding approximately $125.0 million in senior sezd notes due July 2017, $14.6 million
in capital lease obligations, and $9.4 million dfer liabilities. In addition, at December 31, 2002 had a $131.3 million liability related to
the sale of future royalties. While this royaltylightion liability will not be settled in cash, weay be required to make a payment of up to $7.
million in 2014 if the worldwide net sales threst®bf MIRCERA® in 2013 are not met. While we beli¢lat our cash position will be
sufficient to meet our liquidity requirements thgbuat least the next 12 months, our future capégliirements will depend upon numerous
unpredictable factors, including:

* the cost, timing and outcomes of clinical studied eegulatory reviews of our proprietary drug caladés that we have licensed to our
collaboration partners —important examples inclodexegol that has been licensed to AstraZenecakaaim Inhale that has been
licensed to Bayer, and BAX 855 in connection withr icensing transaction with Baxte

 if and when we receive potential milestone paymantsroyalties from our existing collaborationthié drug candidates subject to
those collaborations achieve clinical, regulatarg@ammercial success. In particular, depending bather AstraZzeneca successfully
submits regulatory filings with the FDA and withetEMA for naloxegol, we may or may not receive 0$95.0 million in milestone
payments under our license agreement with Astrazzerethough AstraZeneca has indicated it plamsake such filings in the third
quarter of 2013 subject to AstraZen's final preparation of the registration package apde-NDA meeting with the FDA

» the progress, timing, cost and results of our cihdevelopment programs — in particular our PI8aB&ACON study for etirinotecan
pegol and our Phase 2 clinical program for NI-181;

» the success, progress, timing and costs of ourteffo implement new collaborations, licenses ahémtransactions that increase our
current net cash, such as the sale of additioyaltyinterests held by us, term loan or other dgldngements, and the issuance of
securities

* the outcome of the regulatory review process amingercial success of drug products for which weesrtéled to receive royalties
(e.g., Map Pharmaceuti’'s LEVADEX @);

» the number of patients, enrollment criteria, priynand secondary endpoints, and the number of alisitidies required by the
government health authorities in order to consideapproval our drug candidates and those of olialooration partners

» our general and administrative expenses, capifsmditures and other uses of cash;

» disputes concerning patents, proprietary rightéicense and collaboration agreements that nedgtingact our receipt of milestone
payments or royalties or require us to make sigaift payments arising from licenses, settlemedigrae judgments or ongoing
royalties.
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A significant multi-year capital commitment is réxpd to advance our drug candidates through thiewsustages of research and
development in order to generate sufficient datntable high value collaboration partnerships wigimificant up-front payments or to
successfully achieve regulatory approval. In thenéwe do not enter into any new collaborationmanthips with significant ufront payment
and we choose to continue our main research arela@went programs, we may need to pursue finaraltegnatives, including dilutive
equity-based financings, such as an offering ofvedible debt or common stock, which would dilute percentage ownership of our current
common stockholders and could significantly lowesr market value of our common stock. If sufficieapital is not available to us or is not
available on commercially reasonable terms, it@woatuire us to delay or reduce one or more ofesearch and development programs. If wi
are unable to sufficiently advance our researchdevelopment programs, it could substantially impae value of such programs and result ir
a material adverse effect on our business, finhooiadition and results of operations.

The results from the expanded Phase 2 clinical studr etirinotecan pegol in women with platinum-rissant/refractory ovarian
cancer are unlikely to result in a review or an aggval of a NDA by the FDA.

We expanded the etirinotecan pegol Phase 2 studyl®yatients in women with platinum-resistantaefory ovarian cancer that had
received prior DoxiP therapy with the potential i8 to consider an early NDA submission after waluate these expanded study results. Wi
are currently in the process of compiling and peniag verification procedures on the data from 8tigly. Acceptance and approval of an
NDA by the FDA almost always requires the sponsaranduct comparative Phase 3 clinical studies poi@cceptance for review or appro
of an NDA. As a result, acceptance for review qurapal of an accelerated NDA submitted to the F2&dxl on overall response rate from ou
single-arm Phase 2 study in platinuesistant/refractory ovarian cancer would be unusuod is highly unlikely. Therefore we do not exptiae
FDA to accept or approve a NDA based on this PRadmical study. The FDA has significant discretim determine what constitutes a high
unmet medical need, what therapies should be ceresichvailable to patients regardless of whichepiess are approved or typically prescribec
in a particular setting, the relevance of certdfitacy end points (e.g. overall response rategmssion free survival, overall survival), and the
number of patients required to be studied to detnatessufficient therapeutic benefit and safetyfigoOne or more of such judgments and
determinations by the FDA could impair our abilibysubmit an NDA for platinum resistant/refractomyarian cancer patients, and even if
submitted, whether the FDA would accept it for esvior approve the NDA.

Further, this expansion of our Phase 2 clinicadigin platinum resistant/refractory ovarian canwél necessarily change the final
efficacy (e.g., overall response rates, progresBmmsurvival, overall survival) and safety (ifequency and severity of serious adverse
events) results, and, accordingly, the final resmlitthis study remain subject to substantial ckatd could be materially and adversely
different from previously announced results. If thieical studies for etirinotecan pegol ovariamoer are not successful, it could significantly
harm our business, results of operations and finhnondition.

While we have conducted numerous experiments udatgpratory and home-based chemistry techniques thave not been able to
convert NKTR-181 into a rapid-acting and more abuma opioid, there is a risk that in the future adknique could be discovered to
convert NKTR-181 into a rapid-acting and more abuma opioid which would significantly diminish thealue of this drug candidate.

An important objective of our NKTR-181 drug deveiognt program is to create a unique opioid molethdé does not rapidly enter a
patient’s central nervous system and thereforgh@potential to be less susceptible to abusedhiamative opioid therapies. To date, we hav
conducted numerous experiments using laboratonjhante-based chemistry techniques that have bedsieuttaconvert NKTR-181 into a
rapidly-acting, more abusable form of opioid. e fature, an alternative chemistry technique, pssa@ method of administration,
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or combination thereof, may be discovered to enditd@econversion of NKTR-181 into a more abusableidpvhich could significantly and
negatively impact the potential of NKTR-181.

If we are unable to establish and maintain collakadion partnerships on attractive commercial ternwjr business, results of
operations and financial condition could suffer.

We intend to continue to seek partnerships withrplageutical and biotechnology partners to fundréigoo of our research and
development capital requirements. The timing of wellaboration partnerships is difficult to preditite to availability of clinical data, the
outcomes from our clinical studies, the numberateptial partners that need to complete due digeand approval processes, the definitive
agreement negotiation process and numerous otpeediotable factors that can delay, impede or presignificant transactions. If we are
unable to find suitable partners or to negotiateaboration arrangements with favorable commerteiths with respect to our existing and
future drug candidates or the licensing of ourlietéual property, or if any arrangements we negetior have negotiated, are terminated, it
could have a material adverse effect on our busjrigmncial condition and results of operations.

Preliminary and interim data from our clinical stuigs that we announce or publish from time to tinesubject to audit and
verification procedures that could result in matatichanges in the final data and may change as mpagient data becomes available.

From time to time, we publish preliminary or intardata from our clinical studies. For example, \@@eéhannounced preliminary tumor
response rate data from our expanded Phase 2atlsticly for etirinotecan pegol in platinum resistieefractory ovarian cancer. Preliminary
data remains subject to audit confirmation andfication procedures that may result in the finabdaeing materially different from the
preliminary data we previously published. Interiatalis also subject to the risk that one or moraefclinical outcomes may materially cha
as patient enrollment continues and more patietat lbacomes available. As a result, preliminaryiatetim data should be viewed with caul
until the final data are available. Material adeechanges in the final data could significantlynmaur business prospects.

Delays in clinical studies are common and have maauses, and any significant delay in clinical sted being conducted by us or o
partners could result in delay in regulatory apprals and jeopardize the ability to proceed to comaialization.

We or our partners may experience delays in clitics of drug candidates. Etirinotecan pegol 8#X 855 are currently in Phase 3
clinical studies and Bayer plans to advance Amik&chale into Phase 3 clinical development in Ma6i3. In addition, we are conducting a
Phase 2 study for NKTR-181 that we estimate wiltbmpleted in mid-2013 and we also plan to stéwdraan abuse liability study for NKTR-
181 during the first half of 2013. These and ottfesur planned clinical studies may not begin ometi have an effective design, enroll a
sufficient number of patients or be completed dresile, if at all. Our clinical trials for any ofioproduct candidates could be delayed for a
variety of reasons, including:

» delays in obtaining regulatory approval to commemctinical study
» delays in reaching agreement with applicable healthorities on a clinical study desic
» imposition of a clinical hold following an inspeati of our clinical trial operations or trial sitbg the FDA or other health authoritie

* we, our partners, the FDA or foreign health autiesicould suspend or terminate a clinical study uadverse side effects of a drug
on subjects in the tria

» delays in recruiting suitable patients to partitépa a trial;
» delays in having patients complete participatioa tnial or return for po-treatment follov-up;
« clinical sites dropping out of a trial to the detent of enrollment rate
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» delays in manufacturing and delivery of sufficisapply of clinical trial materials; ar
» any change in health authorities policies or guigarapplicable to our drug candida

If initiation or completion of any of the plannelihécal studies are delayed for our drug candid&tesny of the above reasons or otherwise,
the approval process could be delayed and theyatulcommercialize and commence sales of thesg cndidates could be materially
harmed, which could have a material adverse effiedur business, financial condition and resultepsrations.

The commercial potential of a drug candidate in ddepment is difficult to predict. If the market szfor a new drug is significantly
smaller than we anticipate, it could significantgnd negatively impact our revenue, results of op#as and financial condition.

It is very difficult to estimate the commercial potial of product candidates due to important feectnich as safety and efficacy comps
to other available treatments, including potergiteric drug alternatives with similar efficacy files, changing standards of care, third party
payer reimbursement standards, patient and phpgicferences, the availability of competitive aitgives that may emerge either during the
long drug development process or after commenstaddluction, and the availability of generic versaf our successful product candidates
following approval by government health authoritiesed on the expiration of regulatory exclusiaityour inability to prevent generic versic
from coming to market by asserting our patentdulf to one or more of these risks the market p@ieot a drug candidate is lower than we
anticipated, it could significantly and negativétypact the commercial terms of any collaboratiortnship potential for such drug candidate
or, if we have already entered into a collaboraf@mrsuch drug candidate, the revenue potentiahfroyalty and milestone payments could be
significantly diminished and would negatively impaar business, financial condition and resultspérations.

We may not be able to obtain intellectual propelitenses related to the development of our drug daates on a commercially
reasonable basis, if at all.

Numerous pending and issued U.S. and foreign patgrts and other proprietary rights owned by thiedties relate to pharmaceutical
compositions, methods of preparation and manufagtfuand methods of use and administration. We @igmredict with any certainty which,
any, patent references will be considered relet@atir or our collaboration partnetschnology or drug candidates by authorities inviigéous
jurisdictions where such rights exist, nor can wedjct with certainty which, if any, of these righwill or may be asserted against us by t
parties. In certain cases, we have existing licRseross-licenses with third parties, howeverstepe and adequacy of these licenses is ven
uncertain and can change substantially during tiexgelopment and commercialization cycles for biotetogy and pharmaceutical products.
There can be no assurance that we can obtainrséde any technology that we determine we neaéasonable terms, if at all, or that we
could develop or otherwise obtain alternate teabml If we are required to enter into a licensenvaitthird party, our potential economic
benefit for the products subject to the licensé el diminished. If a license is not available @menercially reasonable terms or at all, we may
be prevented from developing and selling the dwlgch could significantly harm our business, resolt operations, and financial condition.

If any of our pending patent applications do notsige, or are deemed invalid following issuance, waynose valuable intellectual
property protection.

The patent positions of pharmaceutical and bioteldgy companies, such as ours, are uncertain amdvim complex legal and factual
issues. We own more than 150 U.S. and 500 foreagents and a number of pending patent applicatlwatscover various aspects of our
technologies. There can be no assurance that pdtethave issued will be held valid and enforteeaba court of law. Even for patents that
are held valid and enforceable, the legal procsesscated with obtaining such a judgment is timesoming and costly. Additionally, issued
patents can be subject to opposition or other gdicgs that can result in the
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revocation of the patent or maintenance of therpateamended form (and potentially in a form theatders the patent without commercially
relevant and/or broad coverage). Further, our coimopg may be able to circumvent and otherwisegiearound our patents. Even if a pater
issued and enforceable, because development andemrmalization of pharmaceutical products can igesi to substantial delays, patents
may expire early and provide only a short periograftection, if any, following the commercializatiof a products encompassed by our pater
(s). We may have to participate in interferencecpealings declared by the U.S. Patent and Trade®féide, which could result in a loss of the
patent and/or substantial cost to us.

We have filed patent applications, and plan todilielitional patent applications, covering variosexts of our PEGylation and advance«
polymer conjugate technologies and our propriepaoguct candidates. There can be no assurancththpatent applications for which we
apply would actually issue as a patents, or doifoe@mmercially relevant and/or broad coverages Tbverage claimed in a patent applica
can be significantly reduced before the paterdsaed. The scope of our claim coverage can beairit our ability to enter into licensing
transactions with third parties and our right toaige royalties from our collaboration partnershipsce publication of discoveries in scientific
or patent literature often lags behind the datsuch discoveries, we cannot be certain that we therérst inventor of inventions covered by
our patents or patent applications. In additioeretis no guarantee that we will be the first ke & patent application directed to an invention.

An adverse outcome in any judicial proceeding iming intellectual property, including patents, abslubject us to significant liabilities
to third parties, require disputed rights to betised from or to third parties or require us teseassing the technology in dispute. In those
instances where we seek an intellectual propargniie from another, we may not be able to obtaititense on a commercially reasonable
basis, if at all, thereby raising concerns on dailitg to freely commercialize our technologies &rdproducts.

We could be involved in legal proceedings and m@aguir substantial litigation costs and liabilitiehat will adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of opeiats.

From time to time, third parties have asserted,raag in the future assert, that we or our partimdrage their proprietary rights, such as
patents and trade secrets, or have otherwise kdamir obligations to them. The third party oftexsds its assertions on a claim that its paten
cover our technology platform or drug candidatethat we have misappropriated its confidential mppietary information. Similar assertions
of infringement could be based on future paterds ey issue to third parties. In certain of oueagents with our partners, we are obligated
to indemnify and hold harmless our collaboratiortmers from intellectual property infringement, guat liability and certain other claims,
which could cause us to incur substantial costsliabdity if we are called upon to defend oursed\and our partners against any claims. If a
third party obtains injunctive or other equitabdéief against us or our partners, they could eiffet prevent us, or our partners, from
developing or commercializing, or deriving reverfigen, certain drugs or drug candidates in the il abroad. Currently, the Research
Foundation of the State University of New York (SUNseeks to recover amounts it alleges it is owadpant to a technology licensing
contract between SUNY and us. SUNY has filed aioadh the United States District Court for the Marn District of New York. We dispute
SUNY'’s claims. However, we cannot predict with e@rty the eventual outcome of any pending or fulitigation. Costs associated with such
litigation, substantial damage claims, indemnifimatclaims or royalties paid for licenses from thparties could have a material adverse effec
on our business, financial condition and resultepsrations.

Third-party claims involving proprietary rights other matters could also result in substantialesatint payments or substantial damage
to be paid by us. For instance, a settlement nrggiire us to enter a license agreement under wiéctvould pay substantial royalties or ot
compensation to a third party, diminishing our feteconomic returns from the related drug. In Oet@®11, we entered into a settlement
related to a trade secret and breach of contitagation where we agreed to make an upfront payrae#$2.7 million and a future contingent
payment of $3.0 million if a certain drug candidegeeives FDA approval. In 2006, we entered infitigation settlement related to an
intellectual property dispute with the UniversitfyAdabama in Huntsville
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pursuant to which we paid $11.0 million and agreepay an additional $10.0 million in equal $1.0liom installments over ten years ending
with the last payment due on July 1, 2016.

In addition, from time to time, we may in the fuguassert claims against third parties, based oimg&ment of our proprietary rights or
otherwise. Any such claims may not ultimately becassful, and we may incur substantial costs atuililies in pursuing them.

Our manufacturing operations and those of our coafrt manufacturers are subject to laws and other govmental regulatory
requirements, which, if not met, would have a masdradverse effect on our business, results of ag@&ms and financial condition.

We and our contract manufacturers are require@iitain cases to maintain compliance with curretdgmanufacturing practices
(cGMP), including cGMP guidelines applicable tohaetpharmaceutical ingredients, and with laws agltations governing manufacture and
distribution of controlled substances, and areexttp inspections by the FDA, DEA or comparableraiges in other jurisdictions to confirm
such compliance. We anticipate periodic regulatospections of our drug manufacturing facilitieslane manufacturing facilities of our
contract manufacturers for compliance with applieabgulatory requirements. Any failure to followdadocument our or our contract
manufacturers’ adherence to such cGMP and othey éadl governmental regulations or satisfy otherufaaruring and product release
regulatory requirements may disrupt our abilityrieet our manufacturing obligations to our customeesd to significant delays in the
availability of products for commercial use or @i study, result in the termination or hold odliaical study or delay or prevent filing or
approval of marketing applications for our produéigilure to comply with applicable laws and regiolas may also result in sanctions being
imposed on us, including fines, injunctions, cpénalties, failure of regulatory authorities torgrenarketing approval of our products, delays,
suspension or withdrawal of approvals, license cation, seizures or recalls of products, operatasgrictions and criminal prosecutions, any
of which could harm our business. The results e§¢hinspections could result in costly manufactucinanges or facility or capital equipment
upgrades to satisfy the FDA that our manufactuaing quality control procedures are in substantaliance with cGMP. Manufacturing
delays, for us or our contract manufacturers, pendesolution of regulatory deficiencies or suspamswould have a material adverse effect
on our business, results of operations and finaooiadition.

If we or our contract manufacturers are not able tnanufacture drugs or drug substances in sufficiequiantities that meet applicable
quality standards, it could delay clinical studie®sult in reduced sales or constitute a breachoof contractual obligations, any of
which could significantly harm our business, finama condition and results of operations.

If we or our contract manufacturers are not ableamufacture and supply sufficient drug quantitreseting applicable quality standards
required to support large clinical studies or comuia¢ manufacturing in a timely manner, we riskajéhg our clinical studies or those of our
collaboration partners, reducing drug sales bycollaboration partners or breaching contractualgallons. As a result, we could incur
substantial costs and damages, and reduce or éwenage product or royalty revenue. In some cagesrely on contract manufacturing
organizations to manufacture and supply drug proftueur clinical studies and those of our colledd®mn partners. Pharmaceutical
manufacturing involves significant risks and unagties related to the demonstration of adequatslgy, sufficient purification of the drug
substance and drug product, the identificationelimdination of impurities, optimal formulations,quess validation, and challenges in
controlling for all of these variables. We havedd@nd may in the future face significant difficedt, delays and unexpected expenses as we
validate third party contract manufacturers reqliiar drug supply to support our clinical studieslahe clinical studies and products of our
collaboration partners. Failure by us or our carttraanufacturers to supply drug product in suffitiguantities that meet all applicable quality
requirements could result in supply shortages toratinical studies or the clinical studies and coencial activities of our collaboration
partners. Such failures could significantly andeniatly delay clinical trials and regulatory subsiens or result in reduced sales, any of whick
could significantly harm our business prospectsiilte of operations and financial condition.
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Failures in device manufacturing could have sinmeffects. For instance, we entered a service agreewith Novartis pursuant to which
we subcontract to Novartis certain important sexgito be performed in relation to our partneredyrmm for Amikacin Inhale with Bayer
Healthcare LLC. If our subcontractors do not de@i@equate resources to our programs, we riskib@zour obligations to our partners.
Building and validating large scale clinical or amercial-scale manufacturing facilities and processecruiting and training qualified
personnel and obtaining necessary regulatory apfs @y complex, expensive and time consuming. émpidist we have encountered challenge:
in scaling up manufacturing to meet the requiremefifarge scale clinical trials without making nifaghtions to the drug formulation, which
may cause significant delays in clinical developtm@&e experienced repeated significant delaysartiag the Phase 3 clinical development
program for Amikacin Inhale as we sought to finaland validate the device design with a demonstredapability to be manufactured at
commercial scale. Drug/device combination prodacgsparticularly complex, expensive and time-coriagrio develop due to the number of
variables involved in the final product design litting ease of patient and doctor use, maintenafcknical efficacy, reliability and cost of
manufacturing, regulatory approval requirementsstaddards and other important factors. There coe$ to be substantial and unpredictable
risk and uncertainty related to manufacturing amgp$y until such time as the commercial supply ohaivalidated and proven.

Our revenue is exclusively derived from our collalation agreements, which can result in significafiictuation in our revenue from
period to period, and our past revenue is therefoia necessarily indicative of our future revenue.

Our revenue is derived from our collaboration agreets from which we receive contract research paymenilestone payments based
on clinical progress, regulatory progress or nkfssachievements, royalties and manufacturing réxe8ignificant variations in the timing of
receipt of cash payments and our recognition ofmere can result from significant milestone paymeéated on the execution of new
collaboration agreements, the timing of clinicalammes, regulatory approval, commercial launchtaedachievement of certain annual sales
thresholds. The amount of our revenue derived ftolfaboration agreements in any given period weipend on a number of unpredictable
factors, including our ability to find and maintanitable collaboration partners, the timing of tlegiotiation and conclusion of collaboration
agreements with such partners, whether and wheor war collaboration partners achieve clinical,ulegpry and sales milestones, the timing
of regulatory approvals in one or more major mavkegimbursement levels by private and governmayers, and the market introduction of
new drugs or generic versions of the approved dasgyell as other factors.

If our partners, on which we depend to obtain re@tibry approvals for and to commercialize our partee drug candidates, are not
successful, or if such collaborations fail, the ddepment or commercialization of our partnered driegndidates may be delayed or
unsuccessful.

When we sign a collaborative development agreemelitense agreement to develop a drug candidateaypharmaceutical or
biotechnology company, the pharmaceutical or blotetogy company is generally expected to:

» design and conduct large scale clinical stuc
» prepare and file documents necessary to obtainrgment approvals to sell a given drug candidatd{a
» market and sell the drugs when and if they areaymat.

Our reliance on collaboration partners poses a eumbrisks to our business, including risks that:

« we may be unable to control whether, and the extewhich, our partners devote sufficient resoutoethe development programs or
commercial marketing and sales effo
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» disputes may arise or escalate in the future veisipect to the ownership of rights to technologintallectual property developed with
partners

» disagreements with partners could lead to delaysritermination of, the research, developmentonmoercialization of product
candidates or to litigation or arbitration procew;

 contracts with our partners may fail to provideaith significant protection, or to be effectivelgferced, in the event one of our
partners fails to perforn

» partners have considerable discretion in electihgther to pursue the development of any additipreduct candidates and may
pursue alternative technologies or products eibinetheir own or in collaboration with our compet#ip

» partners with marketing rights may choose to det®teer resources to the marketing of our partnereducts than they do to prodt
of their own development or product-licensed from other third partie

* the timing and level of resources that our partdedicate to the development program will affeettiming and amount of revenue
receive;

» we do not have the ability to unilaterally termimaigreements (or partners may have extension ewedmights) that we believe are
not on commercially reasonable terms or consistéthtour current business stratey

» partners may be unable to pay us as expectec

* partners may terminate their agreements with ustenally for any or no reason, in some cases thighpayment of a termination fee
penalty and in other cases with no terminationpkesalty.

Given these risks, the success of our current atude partnerships is highly unpredictable andhaare a substantial negative or positive
impact on our business. We have entered into amiédions in the past that have been subsequenthyrtated, such as our collaboration with
Pfizer for the development and commercializatiombfled insulin that was terminated by Pfizer imvimber 2007. If other collaborations are
suspended or terminated, our ability to commermgatiertain other proposed product candidates astdbe negatively impacted. If our
collaborations fail, our product development or coencialization of product candidates could be dedagr cancelled, which would negatively
impact our business, results of operations andhéi@h condition.

If we are unable either to create sales, marketiagd distribution capabilities or to enter into ageenents with third parties to perform
these functions, we will be unable to commercialagr products successfully.

We currently have no sales, marketing or distriiuttapabilities. To commercialize any of our drtig# receive regulatory approval for
commercialization, we must either develop intesaés, marketing and distribution capabilities,akhivould be expensive and time
consuming, or enter into collaboration arrangemeiitfs third parties to perform these services. ¢ decide to market our products directly,
must commit significant financial and manageriglaerces to develop a marketing and sales forcetedfimical expertise and with supporting
distribution, administration and compliance captibg. Factors that may inhibit our efforts to coemialize our products directly or indirectly
with our partners include:

 our inability to recruit and retain adequate nurshareffective sales and marketing person
« the inability of sales personnel to obtain access tpersuade adequate numbers of physicians torysescribe our product

* the lack of complementary products or multiple preidoricing arrangements may put us at a competdisadvantage relative to
companies with more extensive product lines;

» unforeseen costs and expenses associated witingraat sustaining an independent sales and magketganization
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If we, or our partners through our collaborationgre not successful in recruiting sales and markegipersonnel or in building a sales
and marketing infrastructure, we will have difficty commercializing our products, which would advels affect our business, results
of operations and financial condition.

To the extent we rely on other pharmaceutical otdahnology companies with established sales, rtiagkand distribution systems to
market our products, we will need to establish mxaihtain partnership arrangements, and we mayeable to enter into these arrangements
on acceptable terms or at all. To the extent treenter into co-promotion or other arrangementg ramenues we receive will depend upon the
efforts of third parties, which may not be succelkahd are only partially in our control. In theeew that we market our products without a
partner, we would be required to build a salesraadketing organization and infrastructure, whichuldarequire a significant investment and
we may not be successful in building this orgamimaand infrastructure in a timely or efficient nmem.

We purchase some of the starting material for drugsd drug candidates from a single source or a lied number of suppliers, and
the partial or complete loss of one of these supgicould cause production delays, clinical triaéldys, substantial loss of revenue and
contract liability to third parties.

We often face very limited supply of a critical ramaterial that can only be obtained from a singtes limited number of, suppliers,
which could cause production delays, clinical tdalays, substantial lost revenue opportunity ertreat liability to third parties. For example,
there are only a limited number of qualified supgi and in some cases single source supplierydaaw materials included in our
PEGylation and advanced polymer conjugate drug diations, and any interruption in supply or failtoegprocure such raw materials on
commercially feasible terms could harm our busiigsdelaying our clinical trials, impeding commeiciation of approved drugs or
increasing our costs to the extent we cannot pagsooeased costs to a manufacturing customer.

We rely on trade secret protection and other unpatsl proprietary rights for important proprietaryethnologies, and any loss of such
rights could harm our business, results of operat®and financial condition.

We rely on trade secret protection for our confiddrand proprietary information. No assurance loamgiven that others will not
independently develop substantially equivalent ictarftial and proprietary information or otherwissrgaccess to our trade secrets or disclos
such technology, or that we can meaningfully prioter trade secrets. In addition, unpatented petgny rights, including trade secrets and
know-how, can be difficult to protect and may lose thilue if they are independently developed by altparty or if their secrecy is lost. Al
loss of trade secret protection or other unpateptedrietary rights could harm our business, resaflioperations and financial condition.

We expect to continue to incur substantial losseslaegative cash flow from operations and may nehave or sustain profitability it
the future.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, we reponed lass of $171.9 million. If and when we achigvefitability depends upon a
number of factors, including the timing and recaigni of milestone payments and royalties receitiee timing of revenue under our
collaboration agreements, the amount of investm&atmake in our proprietary product candidatestaedegulatory approval and market
success of our product candidates. We may not leet@lachieve and sustain profitability.

Other factors that will affect whether we achiewe gustain profitability include our ability, alooe together with our partners, to:

» develop drugs utilizing our technologies, eithetdpendently or in collaboration with other pharmaioal or biotech companie

 effectively estimate and manage clinical developneests, particularly the cost of the BEACON stuaahyl the Phase 2 clinical study
for NKTR-181;
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» receive necessary regulatory and marketing appsg

» maintain or expand manufacturing at necessaryde

» achieve market acceptance of our partnered proc

 receive royalties on products that have been aplawnarketed or submitted for marketing approvéhwegulatory authorities; ar
+ maintain sufficient funds to finance our activiti

If government and private insurance programs do mobvide payment or reimbursement for our partnerptbducts or proprietary
products, those products will not be widely acceptehich would have a negative impact on our bussseresults of operations and
financial condition.

In both domestic and foreign markets, sales ofpauinered and proprietary products that have redeiggulatory approval will depend
part on market acceptance among physicians anehpatipricing approvals by government authorities the availability of payment or
reimbursement from third-party payers, such as gowent health administration authorities, managed providers, private health insurers
and other organizations. Such third-party payegsrarreasingly challenging the price and cost ¢iffeness of medical products and services.
Therefore, significant uncertainty exists as tofheing approvals for, and the payment or reimbovent status of, newly approved healthcare
products. Moreover, legislation and regulationgetfhg the pricing of pharmaceuticals may chanderbaegulatory agencies approve our
proposed products for marketing and could furthmeit lpricing approvals for, and reimbursement aff products from government authorities
and third-party payers. A government or thipasty payer decision not to approve pricing forpmvide adequate coverage and reimburser
of, our products would limit market acceptancewaflsproducts.

We depend on third parties to conduct the clini¢ahls for our proprietary product candidates anchg failure of those parties to fulfil
their obligations could harm our development andmmercialization plans.

We depend on independent clinical investigatorstrast research organizations and other thady service providers to conduct clini
trials for our proprietary product candidates. Wiy heavily on these parties for successful exeoutf our clinical trials. Though we are
ultimately responsible for the results of theinties, many aspects of their activities are bayonr control. For example, we are responsible
for ensuring that each of our clinical trials imidacted in accordance with the general investigatiplan and protocols for the trials, but the
independent clinical investigators may prioritizeer projects over ours or communicate issues daggour products to us in an untimely
manner. Third parties may not complete activitiesohedule or may not conduct our clinical trialsi€cordance with regulatory requirements
or our stated protocols. The early terminationrof af our clinical trial arrangements, the failafethird parties to comply with the regulations
and requirements governing clinical trials or aelrance on results of trials that we have not diyesonducted or monitored could hinder or
delay the development, approval and commerciatinatf our product candidates and would adversdgcabur business, results of operations
and financial condition.

Significant competition for our polymer conjugatehemistry technology platforms and our partnered aptbprietary products and
product candidates could make our technologies, guots or product candidates obsolete or uncompetitiwhich would negatively
impact our business, results of operations and firedal condition.

Our PEGylation and advanced polymer conjugate céteyrnplatforms and our partnered and proprietaodpcts and product candidates
compete with various pharmaceutical and biotechmotmmpanies. Competitors of our PEGylation angmpelr conjugate chemistry
technologies include Biogen, Savient, Dr. Reddyabdratories Ltd., Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Su@Brporation, Mountain View
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Novo Nordisk A/S (formerbgets held by Neose Technologies, Inc.), and NOF
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Corporation. Several other chemical, biotechnolagg pharmaceutical companies may also be devel@ii@ylation technologies or
technologies that have similar impact on targegdnolecules. Some of these companies license oidarthe technology to other companies,
while others are developing the technology forrima use.

There are several competitors for our proprietaodpct candidates currently in development. For Kewin Inhale, the current standard
of care includes several approved intravenous iatitb for the treatment of either hospital-acqdipmeumonia or ventilator-associated
pneumonia in patients on mechanical ventilators.natoxegol, there are currently several altermatierapies used to address opioid-induced
constipation (OIC) and opioid-induced bowel dystfimt (OBD), including subcutaneous Relistor (metiarexone bromide) and oral and
rectal over-the-counter laxatives and stool softesach as docusate sodium, senna and milk of reegre addition, there are a number of
companies developing potential products which mnearious stages of clinical development and amegbevaluated for the treatment of OIC
and OBD in different patient populations, includi@gbist Pharmaceuticals , Progenics Pharmaceutloalsin collaboration with Salix
Pharmaceuticals, Ltd., Mundipharma Int. Limitedc&upo Pharmaceuticals and Takeda Pharmaceuticgi&ogniimited. For etirinotecan
pegol, there are a number of chemotherapies anmbcémerapies approved today and in various staigelical development for breast and
ovarian cancers including but not limited to: Albmagr® (paclitaxel protein-bound particles for injgiéasuspension (albumin bound)), Afinitor
® (everolimus), DoxiP (doxorubicin HCI), Ellen¢e (epbicin), Gemzaf (gemcitabine), Halaven (eribulidgrceptin® (trastuzumab),
Hycamtin® (topotecan), Ixempfa (ixabepilone), Naug® (vinolrebine), Iniparib, Paraplatth (carboptétiTaxol® (paclitaxel) and
Taxotere® (docetaxel). Major pharmaceutical or lmbtelogy companies with approved drugs or drugeirelopment for these cancers
include, but are not limited to, Bristol-Meyers $ujy Eli Lilly & Co., Roche, GlaxoSmithKline plcphnson and Johnson, Pfizer, Inc.and
Sanofi Aventis. There are approved therapies fetitbatment of colorectal cancer, including Elaxat{oxaliplatin), Camptosa&r (irinotecan),
Avastin® (bevacizumab), Zaltr&p (Ziv-afilberceptliv@rga® (regorafenib), ErbituX (cetuximab), Veckii(panitumumab), Xeloda
(capecitabine), Adruc# (fluorouracil) and Wellcaw® (leucovorin). In addition, there are a numbgdiugs in various stages of preclinical
and clinical development from companies exploriagaer therapies or improved chemotherapeutic agemstentially treat colorectal cancer,
including, but not limited to, products in develogmh from Bristol-Myers Squibb Company, Pfizer, If@laxoSmithKline plc, Antigenics, Inc.,
F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd, Novartis AG, Cell Therapes, Inc., Neopharm Inc., Meditech Research Atdhemia Limited, and Enzon
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

There can be no assurance that we or our partrikisiacessfully develop, obtain regulatory appieviar and commercialize next-
generation or new products that will successfutlgnpete with those of our competitors. Many of campetitors have greater financial,
research and development, marketing and sales,fadnting and managerial capabilities. We face ostitipn from these companies not just
in product development but also in areas suchasiting employees, acquiring technologies thathmhi&nhance our ability to commercialize
products, establishing relationships with certaisearch and academic institutions, enrolling petianclinical trials and seeking program
partnerships and collaborations with larger phasutical companies. As a result, our competitors sumceed in developing competing
technologies, obtaining regulatory approval or gajrmarket acceptance for products before we des@&lievelopments could make our
products or technologies uncompetitive or obsolete.

If product liability lawsuits are brought againsts) we may incur substantial liabilities.

The manufacture, clinical testing, marketing arlé s medical products involve inherent producbiiity risks. If product liability costs
exceed our product liability insurance coveragenves incur substantial liabilities that could haveevere negative impact on our financial
position. Whether or not we are ultimately sucagssfany product liability litigation, such litigen would consume substantial amounts of
financial and managerial resources and might résatlverse publicity, all of which would impair obusiness. Additionally, we may not be
able to maintain our clinical trial insurance ooghuact liability insurance at an acceptable cosdf ll, and this insurance may not provide
adequate coverage against potential claims ordosse
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Our future depends on the proper management of eurrent and future business operations and theirsagiated expenses.

Our business strategy requires us to manage oundsssto provide for the continued developmentoténtial commercialization of our
proprietary and partnered drug candidates. Outegfyaalso calls for us to undertake increased reBemd development activities and to
manage an increasing number of relationships watinprs and other third parties, while simultangomsanaging the capital necessary to
support this strategy. Our decision to bear a nitgjor all of the clinical development costs ofrigtotecan pegol substantially increases our
future capital requirements. If we are unable tmage effectively our current operations and anyviftove may experience, our business,
financial condition and results of operations mayablversely affected. If we are unable to effetfimeanage our expenses, we may find it
necessary to reduce our personnel-related costisghreductions in our workforce, which could haran operations, employee morale and
impair our ability to retain and recruit talent.rthermore, if adequate funds are not availablemag be required to obtain funds through
arrangements with partners or other sources thgtratuire us to relinquish rights to certain of technologies, products or future economic
rights that we would not otherwise relinquish ajuiee us to enter into other financing arrangementsinfavorable terms.

We are dependent on our management team and kelyrtieal personnel, and the loss of any key manageemployee may impair oL
ability to develop our products effectively and magrm our business, operating results and financiadndition.

Our success largely depends on the continued ssreicour executive officers and other key persbre loss of one or more members
of our management team or other key employees amuldusly harm our business, operating resultsfiaadcial condition. The relationships
that our key managers have cultivated within odustry make us particularly dependent upon theitinoed employment with us. We are ¢
dependent on the continued services of our techp@aonnel because of the highly technical nabfi@ir products and the regulatory appr
process. Because our executive officers and keyagmgs are not obligated to provide us with corgtheervices, they could terminate their
employment with us at any time without penalty. Bdenot have any post-employment noncompetitioneagemts with any of our employees
and do not maintain key person life insurance egion any of our executive officers or key empks/e

Because competition for highly qualified technicpersonnel is intense, we may not be able to attaud retain the personnel we need
to support our operations and growth.

We must attract and retain experts in the areafiro€al testing, manufacturing, research, regulatnd finance, and may need to attract
and retain marketing and distribution experts agnvktbp additional expertise in our existing persnwe face intense competition from other
biopharmaceutical companies, research and acadestittitions and other organizations for qualifiggtsonnel. Many of the organizations
with which we compete for qualified personnel hgveater resources than we have. Because compdttiskilled personnel in our industry
intense, companies such as ours sometimes expetiggit attrition rates with regard to their skilleshployees. Further, in making employn
decisions, job candidates often consider the valdke stock options they are to receive in corinaaith their employment. Our equity
incentive plan and employee benefit plans may eatfective in motivating or retaining our emploge® attracting new employees, and
significant volatility in the price of our stock madversely affect our ability to attract or retgimalified personnel. If we falil to attract new
personnel or to retain and motivate our currensquanel, our business and future growth prospectiid®e severely harmed.

If earthquakes or other catastrophic events stril@jr business may be harmed.

Our corporate headquarters, including a substgmidion of our research and development operatianeslocated in the San Francisco
Bay Area, a region known for seismic activity anglogential terrorist target. In addition, we owgifgies for the manufacture of products us
our PEGylation and advanced polymer conjugate t@olgies in Huntsville, Alabama and own and leadiees in Hyderabad, India. There are
no
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backup facilities for our manufacturing operatibmsated in Huntsville, Alabama. In the event ofemmthquake or other natural disaster,
political instability, or terrorist event in any tifese locations, our ability to manufacture angpsumaterials for drug candidates in
development and our ability to meet our manufanfudbligations to our customers would be signiftadisrupted and our business, result
operations and financial condition would be harn@dr collaborative partners may also be subjectatastrophic events, such as earthquakes
floods, hurricanes and tornadoes, any of whicha&bakm our business, results of operations anadiahcondition. We have not undertaken a
systematic analysis of the potential consequerceartbusiness, results of operations and finamciatiition from a major earthquake or other
catastrophic event, such as a fire, sustainedoliogswer, terrorist activity or other disaster, atwinot have a recovery plan for such disasters.
In addition, our insurance coverage may not badafft to compensate us for actual losses fromimteyruption of our business that may
occur.

We have implemented certain anti-takeover measuvasich make it more difficult to acquire us, evehdugh such acquisitions may
be beneficial to our stockholders.

Provisions of our certificate of incorporation amgdaws, as well as provisions of Delaware law, daukke it more difficult for a third
party to acquire us, even though such acquisitioag be beneficial to our stockholders. These akidver provisions include:

» establishment of a classified board of directohghat not all members of the board may be eleatee time

 lack of a provision for cumulative voting in theeetion of directors, which would otherwise allowgdehan a majority of stockholders
to elect director candidate

« the ability of our board to authorize the issuaoftthlank check” preferred stock to increase thenber of outstanding shares and
thwart a takeover attemg

 prohibition on stockholder action by written consehereby requiring all stockholder actions taiéleen at a meeting of stockholde

» establishment of advance notice requirements forimations for election to the board of director§@mrproposing matters that can be
acted upon by stockholders at stockholder meeteuyd

« limitations on who may call a special meeting ofckholders

Further, provisions of Delaware law relating toihess combinations with interested stockholders disgourage, delay or prevent a
third party from acquiring us. These provisions ra#go discourage, delay or prevent a third padgnfacquiring a large portion of our
securities or initiating a tender offer or proxyntest, even if our stockholders might receive anjuen for their shares in the acquisition over
the then current market prices. We also have agghahcontrol severance benefit plan which providesertain cash severance, stock award
acceleration and other benefits in the event oyleyees are terminated (or, in some cases, resiggpecified reasons) following an
acquisition. This severance plan could discouratigra party from acquiring us.

The price of our common stock is expected to remedtatile.

Our stock price is volatile. During the year en@etember 31, 2012, based on closing bid priceshenNASDAQ Global Select Marke
our stock price ranged from $10.83 to $5.68 peresi&e expect our stock price to remain volatilezahiety of factors may have a significant
effect on the market price of our common stockluding: announcements of data from, or materiakttgyments in, our clinical studies and
those of our collaboration partners, including dagarding efficacy and safety, delays in clinidavelopment, regulatory approval or
commercial launch;

» announcements of data from, or material developsnenpur clinical studies and those of our collation partners, including data
regarding efficacy and safety, delays in clinicavelopment, regulatory approval or commercial I
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announcements by collaboration partners as to fitems or expectations related to drug candidatdsspproved drugs in which we
have a substantial economic inter

announcements regarding terminations or disputdsruwur collaboration agreemer
fluctuations in our results of operatiol

developments in patent or other proprietary rigimsluding intellectual property litigation or eniteg into intellectual property license
agreements and the costs associated with thosegameents

announcements of technological innovations or riemwatpeutic products that may compete with our amgat@roducts or products
under developmen

announcements of changes in governmental regulatfenting us or our competitor
litigation brought against us or third parties tbhom we have indemnification obligatior
public concern as to the safety of drug formulaideveloped by us or others; ¢
general market condition

The indenture governing the senior secured noteposes significant operating and financial restriotis on us and our subsidiaries
that may prevent us from pursuing certain busineggportunities and restrict our ability to operateinbusiness.

The indenture governing the senior secured notefaites covenants that restrict our and our subsédiaability to take various actions,
such as:

incur or guarantee additional indebtedness or id&eialified capital stock or cause certain of swinsidiaries to issue preferred stc
pay dividends or distributions, redeem equity iess or subordinated indebtedness or make ceyfa@s of investment:

create or incur liens

transfer, sell, lease or otherwise dispose of ags®l issue or sell equity interests in certaiourfsubsidiaries

incur restrictions on certain of our subsidiariakility to pay dividends or other distributionstbee Company or to make intercompany
loans or asset transfe

enter into transactions with affiliate

engage in any business other than businesses atadhe same, similar, ancillary or reasonablyteeldo the our business as of
July 11, 2012; an

consummate a merger, consolidation, reorganizatidusiness combination, or sell, assign, trangfase or otherwise dispose of all
or substantially all of our asse

In addition, the indenture governing the senioused notes contains a financial maintenance cotaeguiring us to maintain a $25.0
million segregated cash reserve account until JuB015 to be applied to interest payments on titesnin the event of a default, subject to
certain conditions. This indenture also requiresatsto permit, thereafter and through the quateting June 30, 2017, the aggregate balance
of our unrestricted cash and cash equivalentsagnikl of any two consecutive fiscal quarters tebg than $25.0 million, subject to certain
conditions. Our ability to comply with these covatgawill likely be affected by many factors, incind events beyond our control, and we may
not satisfy those requirements. Our failure to clymnmpth our debt-related obligations could resaltan event of default under our other
indebtedness and the acceleration of our othebiedeess, in whole or in part, could result in @@ng of default under the indenture goverr
the senior secured notes.
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The restrictions contained in the indenture govegrithe senior secured notes could also limit otlityko plan for or react to market
conditions, meet capital needs or otherwise regiric activities or business plans and adversdgctabur ability to finance our operations,
enter into acquisitions or to engage in other esgractivities that would be in our interest.

Item 1B.  Unresolved Staff Commen:
None.

Item 2. Properties
California

We lease a 102,283 square foot facility in the Mis8ay Area of San Francisco, California (Missi®ay Facility), under an operating
lease which expires in 2020. In November 2010, weed into the Mission Bay Facility relocating allaur functions from the San Carlos,
California facility (San Carlos Facility), includinour corporate headquarters and research andogeweht for our PEGylation and advanced
polymer conjugate technology operations. In Decer@gbé&l, we expanded our lease of the Mission Bajliiato include an additional 24,0(
square feet of space. However, we retain the tigterminate the lease expansion on May 31, 2012 ldo not exercise the early termination
right, the lease for the expanded space will exipii@020, on the same date as the original leasseatent for the Mission Bay Facility.

Our lease for approximately 100,000 square fegt@San Carlos Facility is under a capital leasehvbxpires in 2016. We have
subleased portions of the San Carlos Facility aaccarrently seeking one or more subtenants foréhmining space.

Alabama

We currently own three facilities consisting of egppmately 160,000 square feet in Huntsville, Alatza which house laboratories as \
as administrative, clinical and commercial manufaog facilities for our PEGylation and advancedypter conjugate technology operations
as well as manufacturing of APlIs for early clinisaidies.

In July 2012, we consolidated our U.S.-based rebeactivities into our Mission Bay Facility and sed use of one of our buildings
located in Huntsville that was dedicated to redeautivities. We are currently seeking a buyertifierland and building.

India

We own a research and development facility comgjstif approximately 88,000 square feet, near Hymitalndia. In addition, we lease
approximately 504 square feet of office space idétgbad, India, under a one-year operating leateniti expire in 2013.

Item 3. Legal Proceeding:

From time to time, we are subject to legal procegsli including the proceedings described spedyidalow. We are not currently a
party to or aware of any proceedings that we belig¥ have, individually or in the aggregate, ateral adverse effect on our business,
financial condition or results of operations.

On November 18, 2009, the Research Foundationeobtate University of New York (SUNY) filed an amstiagainst Nektar in the Unit
States District Court for the Northern Districtidéw York. SUNY seeks to recover amounts it allejesowed pursuant to a technology
licensing contract between Nektar and SUNY. We
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dispute SUNY’s claims. Discovery in the matter blmsed and cross motions for summary judgmentydiog Nektar's motion for summary
judgment dismissing the action) were filed in Oe&oB012. The motions are fully briefed and areentty being considered by the court. In
event the action survives Nektar’'s motion, we exeat a trial would be scheduled in the first la&l2013. We believe that SUN¥ claims ar
without merit. No reasonable estimate of the pdeddss or range of loss can be made at this timena liabilities have been recorded for this
matter on our Consolidated Balance Sheets as aébleer 31, 2012 or 2011.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure
Not applicable.
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registran’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters andusr Purchases of Equity Securitit

Our common stock trades on the NASDAQ Global Séleatket under the symbol “NKTR.” The table belovisstorth the high and low
closing sales prices for our common stock as regash the NASDAQ Global Select Market during thegus indicated.

High Low

Year Ended December 31, 201

1st Quarte $12.5: $8.5¢
2nd Quarte 10.4¢« 7.22
3rd Quarte 7.6t 4.8t
4th Quartel 5.62 4.2
Year Ended December 31, 201

1st Quarte $ 8.22 $5.6¢
2nd Quarte 8.14 6.41
3rd Quarte 10.7¢ 7.9¢
4th Quartel 10.8: 5.9¢

Holders of Record
As of February 21, 2013, there were approximat@§ Rolders of record of our common stock.

Dividend Policy
We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocommon stock. We currently expect to retay fature earnings for use in the
operation and expansion of our business and dantiipate paying any cash dividends on our comstook in the foreseeable future.

There were no sales of unregistered securitiesrard were no common stock repurchases made dinéngear ended December 31,
2012.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

Information regarding our equity compensation plas®f December 31, 2012 is disclosed in Item ¥ty Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management and Related StddkhMatters” of this Annual Report on Form 10-Kdds incorporated herein by
reference from our proxy statement for our 2013uahmeeting of stockholders to be filed with theCSfuirsuant to Regulation 14A not later
than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year /by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Performance Measurement Comparison

The material in this section is being furnished ahdll not be deemed “filed” with the SEC for pusps of Section 18 of the Exchange
Act or otherwise subject to the liability of thatcsion, nor shall the material in this section kbermied to be incorporated by reference in any
registration statement or other document filed wlith SEC under the Securities Act or the Exchangeexcept as otherwise expressly stat
such filing.

The following graph compares, for the five yearipgended December 31, 2012, the cumulative todaksolder return (change in stock
price plus reinvested dividends) of our commonlsisith (i) the NASDAQ Composite Index, (ii) the NARQ Pharmaceutical Index, (iii) the
RGD SmallCap Pharmaceutical Index, (iv) the NASDBi@technology Index and (v) the RDG SmallCap Bibtealogy Index. Measurement
points are the last trading day of each of outaligears ended December 31, 2008, December 31, P@@@mber 31, 2010, December 31,
2011 and December 31, 2012. The graph assumeglib@twas invested on December 31, 2007 in the camstoek of the Company, the
NASDAQ Composite Index, the Nasdaq Pharmaceuticids, the RGD SmallCap Pharmaceutical Index, th€DNAQ Biotechnology Inde
and the RDG SmallCap Biotechnology Index and assumiavestment of any dividends. The stock priagopmance in the graph is not
intended to forecast or indicate future stock ppegormance.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*

Among Mektar Therapeutics, the NASDAD Composite Index, the RDG SmaiCap Phamacautical Indax,
thie NASDAD Blotechnohogy Index, the NASDAD Pharmaceutical Index,
and the RDG SmallCap Bistechnalogy Index
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“5100 invested on December 31, 2007 in stock ar index, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fizszal year ending Decambar 31.
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ltem 6. Selected Financial Dat:

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
(In thousands, except per share information)

The selected consolidated financial data set foetbw should be read together with the consolidéitedhcial statements and related
notes, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis oRaial Condition and Results of Operations,” ar@dther information contained herein.

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
Statements of Operations Data
Revenue
Product sale $ 35,39¢ $ 24,86 $ 27,41: $ 30,11¢ $ 37,79¢
Royalty revenue 4,87¢ 10,32° 7,25 5,17: 3,45¢
Non cash royalty revenue related to sale of futayalties® 10,79: — — — —
License, collaboration and other revel 30,12} 36,28¢ 124,37. 36,64 48,93(
Total revenue 81,19: 71,48( 159,03¢ 71,93: 90,18t
Total operating costs and expen® 222,39. 195,41 187,29« 167,06. 172,83
Loss from operation (141,20 (123,93) (28,255 (95,137 (82,657)
Gain on debt extinguishme — — — — 50,14¢
Non-cash interest expense on liability related to séleiture

royalties® (18,057 — — — —
Interest and other income (expense), (12,19) (9,029 (8,802 (7,640 (2,639
Provision (benefit) for income tax 40€ 1,01¢ 881 (253) (80€)
Net loss $(171,85Y $(133,979 $(37,939 $(102,519 $(34,33¢)
Basic and diluted net loss per sh® $ (50 $ (119 $ (040 $ (111 $ (0.39)
Shares used in computing basic and diluted nefdesshar¢® 114,82 112,94. 94,07¢ 92,77: 92,40;

As of December 31
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Balance Sheet Data
Cash, cash equivalents and investm $ 302,190 $ 41493t $ 31593 $ 396,21. $ 378,99
Working capital $ 236,090 $ 1,174 $ 289,87 $ 260,65 $ 337,84t
Total asset $ 497,79 $ 606,55( $ 521,22! $ 57551t $ 560,53t
Deferred revenu $ 118,44 $ 127,83 $ 14534 $ 192,37. $ 65,57
Convertible subordinated not $ — $ 21495 $ 21495 $ 21495 $ 214,95
Senior secured not $ 125,000 $ — $ — $ — $ —
Liability related to the sale of future royalti® $ 131,26t $ — $ — $ — $ —
Other lon¢-term liabilities $ 2001 $ 21,747 $ 2258 $ 2334 $ 2558t
Accumulated defici $(1,570,38)  $(1,398,52) $(1,264,54) $(1,226,60) $(1,124,09)
Total stockholder equity $ 4v01¢ $ 19781 $ 9066: $ 102,36° $ 190,15:

(1) InFebruary 2012, we sold all of our rightgegeive future royalty payments on net sales of JCBMZIA ®and Roche’s MIRCERA .
As described in Note 7 to our Consolidated Findrisiatements, thi
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royalty sale transaction has been recorded adbititiidhat amortizes over the estimated royaltympant period. As a result of this liabil
accounting, even though the royalties from UCB BRodhe are remitted directly to the purchaser cd¢heyalty interests starting in the
second quarter of 2012, we will continue to reaavenue for these royaltie

(2) Operating costs and expenses includes the Gaialerospulmonary assets of $69.6 million in 20

(3) Basic and diluted net loss per share is based tioweighted average number of common shares adista

The following discussion contains forward-lookitigtsments that involve risks and uncertainties. &etual results could differ
materially from those discussed here. Factors tmaild cause or contribute to such differences idellbut are not limited to, those discussed
in this section as well as factors described in fPaltem 1A — Risk Factors.”

Item 7. Managemen's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditionna Results of Operations
Overview
Strategic Direction of Our Business

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical compawelbping a pipeline of drug candidates that wilimir PEGylation and advanced
polymer conjugate technology platforms, which agsigned to enable the development of new moleeultties that target known mechanis
of action. Our current proprietary pipeline is camed of drug candidates across a number of that&pareas including oncology, pain, anti-
infectives, and immunology. Our research and dgraknt activities involve small molecule drugs, jgd and other biologic drug candida
We create innovative drug candidates by using oopretary advanced polymer conjugate technologiesexpertise to modify the chemical
structure of pharmacophores to create new moleeuldties. Polymer chemistry is a science focusethe synthesis or bonding of polymer
architectures with drug molecules to alter the prtps of a molecule when it is bonded with polysnéxdditionally, we may utilize establish
pharmacologic targets to engineer a new drug catglieglying on a combination of the known propertéthese targets and our proprietary
polymer chemistry technology and expertise. Ougdrandidates are designed to improve the overattfite and use of a drug for patients by
improving the metabolism, distribution, pharmaceiios, pharmacodynamics, héfe and/or bioavailability of drugs. Our objectii®to apply
our advanced polymer conjugate technology platftrereate new drug candidates in multiple therapeuweas that address large potential
markets.

Our most advanced proprietary product candidatexegol (formerly known as NKTR-118), is a peripaleopioid antagonist which has
completed Phase 3 clinical studies for the treatrafapioid-induced constipation (OIC). We are atp&o an exclusive worldwide license
agreement with AstraZeneca for the global developiraed commercialization of naloxegol and naloxdg@d-dose combination products
(formerly known as NKTRE19). The core Phase 3 clinical development progoamaloxegol, which AstraZeneca calls the KODIpAfgram
is comprised of four clinical trials which are dgstd to investigate the safety and efficacy of xedml for the treatment of OIC in patients w
non-cancer related pain. The outcome and timirth@haloxegol development program will have a suii&l impact on our financial
condition as we are entitled to up to $95 milliarrégulatory filing milestones and $140 milliondammercial launch milestones.

On November 12, 2012, AstraZeneca announced pesdj-line results from two Phase 3 efficacy arfdtgaclinical trials and from a
safety extension trial (KODIAC-04, -05, and -07h €ebruary 26, 2013, AstraZeneca announced positpAine results from the long-term
safety study (KODIAC-08) of naloxegol in patientewOIC. AstraZeneca has stated that it plans bomsuan NDA filing in the U.S. and a
marketing authorization application (MAA) filing the E.U. in the third quarter of 2013, pendingrAZeneca’s final preparation of the
registration package and a pre-NDA meeting withRB&. In the event regulatory approval filings atdomitted by AstraZeneca and accepted
by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) ddthe European Medicines Agency (EMA), we wouldebétled to receive $95.0 millic
in milestone payments. As a
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result, the outcome of AstraZeneca’s determinatiomake regulatory filings for naloxegol with thBA& and EMA is critical to our financial
position in 2013 as well as our future businesspects as a result of the significant economicesthétt we have in success of the potential
commercialization of naloxegol.

Our second most advanced proprietary drug candidtitsotecan pegol (formerly known as NKTR-108)a next-generation
topoisomerase | inhibitor. Etirinotecan pegol isreatly being evaluated as a single-agent themyRhase 3 open-label, randomized,
multicenter clinical study in patients with metdgtdreast cancer. This Phase 3 clinical studyctviaie call the BEACON study (BrEAst
Cancer Outcomes with NKTR-102), is scheduled tokapproximately 840 patients with metastatic stezncer that have previously
received treatment with an anthracycline, a taxand,capecitabine. The BEACON study will requirsulastantial investment over the next
years. In November 2012, etirinotecan pegol wagydated by the FDA as a Fast Track developmentrprodor the treatment of patients w
locally recurrent or metastatic breast cancer @megjng after treatment with an anthracycline, aniexand capecitabine. We have complete
expanded Phase 2 clinical study for etirinotecagopim patients with platinum-resistant ovarian @amn We are currently in the process of
finalizing the data in furtherance of planned magiwith health authorities in 2013 which will geidur future development and regulatory
strategy for etirinotecan pegol in ovarian cantreaddition, a Phase 2 clinical study for etiriregte pegol in patients with metastatic colorecta
cancer is still open for enrollment.

We have a significant collaboration with Bayer Hieehre LLC (Bayer) to develop BAY41-6551 (Amikadnhale, formerly known as
NKTR-061), which is an inhaled solution of amikacin,aaminoglycoside antibiotic, that has completed Elaslinical development. We
originally developed the liquid aerosol inhalatigatform and Amikacin Inhale and entered into datmration agreement with Bayer in Auc
2007 to further advance the drug candidate’s dgweémnt and potential commercialization. The stabgitdies on the nebulizer device that
needed to be completed prior to the start of thesPI3 clinical study were successfully completelBebruary 2013. The Phase 3 clinical
program is expected to be initiated by Bayer in &a2013. In 2011, Bayer achieved agreement with-h& on the design of the planned
Phase 3 clinical studies of BAY41-6551 under thectd Protocol Assessment process that is intetmedpport the submission of a NDA if
the planned Phase 3 clinical study is successful.

We also have a significant collaboration with Baxtealthcare to identify and develop PEGylated dragdidates with the objective of
providing new long-acting therapies for hemophiéaients. Under the terms of this collaboration,are providing a license to our intellectual
property and our PEGylation technology and expar&axter is responsible for all clinical developmélhe first drug candidate in this
collaboration, BAX 855, is a longer-acting (PEGeldt form of a full-length recombinant factor VIHRVIII) protein which has completed
Phase 1 clinical development in patients with heliligA. In February 2013, Baxter initiated a Ph&saulti-center, open-label clinical study
called PROLONG-ATE that will enroll more than 10@wpiously treated adult patients with severe heni@ph to assess the efficacy, safety
and pharmacokinetics of BAX 855 for prophylaxis amddemand treatment of bleeding. If BAX 855 isramed by health authorities and is
successfully commercialized by Baxter, this woddresent a substantial royalty revenue opportdaitys, subject to significant risks and
uncertainties relating to regulatory approval wigalth authorities and subsequent commercial ssicces

While the late stage clinical development progra@scribed above are key elements of the futureessaaf our company, we believe |
critically important that we continue to make salogial investments in our earlier-stage drug caagighipeline. For example, in April 2012 we
advanced NKTR-192, our short-acting opioid drugdidate, into Phase 1 clinical studies and in JOI¥2we advanced NKTR-181 into a
Phase 2 clinical study and plan to conduct a huatasse liability study for NKTR-181 in the first fiaf 2013. While we believe that our
substantial investment in research and developimasithe potential to create significant value & on more of our drug candidates
demonstrate positive clinical results and recedgutatory approval in one or more major marketsgdesearch and development is an
inherently uncertain process and there is a higlhaf failure at every stage prior to approval #mltiming and outcome of clinical trial results
are extremely difficult
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to predict. Clinical development successes andrsl can have a disproportionate positive or negatipact on our scientific and medical
prospects, financial prospects, financial conditenmd market value.

Historically, we have entered into a number ofdiee and supply contracts under which we manufadtame supplied our proprietary
PEGylation reagents on a cost-plus or fixed prizgid Our current strategy is to manufacture apglglPEGylation reagents to support our
proprietary drug candidates or our third party aofirators where we have a strategic development@mndnercialization relationship or where
we derive substantial economic benefit. As a resilienever possible, we are renegotiating or nelting renewal of legacy manufacturing
supply arrangements that do not include a stratgelopment or commercialization component. Fangxe, in October 2010, we entered
into a supply, dedicated suite and manufacturirey@utee agreement with Amgen, Inc. and Amgen Matwfiag, Limited, which has
significantly amended economic and other term&énrton-exclusive supply and license agreement exqursly entered into with Amgen in
1995. In addition, in December 2010, we entered am amended manufacturing and supply agreememtvhatck (through its acquisition of
Schering-Plough Corporation) to provide for transfean alternative manufacturer and revised ecacofor an interim supply arrangement
until that transition is completed.

Key Developments and Trends in Liquidity and CapiResources

At December 31, 2012, we had approximately $302lbbmin cash, cash equivalents, and investmemtmarketable securities and
$149.0 million in indebtedness. The indebtedneslsidtes $125.0 million in aggregate principal amaafrit2.0% senior secured notes due
July 15, 2017 which we issued during the three imehded September 30, 2012, but excludes ourtyngtiability relating to the sale of
future royalties under the Purchase and Sale Aggaemith RPI Finance Trust (RPI). As is further déised in Note 7, this royalty obligation
liability will not be settled in cash, but we mag tequired to make a payment of up to $7.0 mililo8014 if the worldwide net sales threshc
of MIRCERA® in 2013 are not met. During the year-etiddecember 31, 2012, we retired $215.0 millioaggregate principal amount of our
previously outstanding convertible subordinateceaot

As of December 31, 2012, we had at least twelvethsoof working capital to fund our current businplEms. We expect the clinical
development of our proprietary drug candidatesuiclg etirinotecan pegol, Amikacin Inhale, NKTR-1&hd NKTR-192 will require
significant investment in order to continue to atk&in clinical development with the objective afering into a collaboration partnership or
obtaining regulatory approval. However, we haveradit facility or any other sources of committexpital. In addition, while in the past we
have received a number of significant payments fiioense and collaboration agreements and othaifiignt transactions, we do not
currently anticipate completing new transactionthwubstantial upfront payments in the near -téor. current business plan is also subject t
significant uncertainties and risks as a resulanfpng other factors, expenses being higher thécigated, unplanned expenses, cash receipt:
being lower than anticipated, and the need tofgatantingent liabilities including litigation mats and indemnification obligations.

The availability and terms of various financingeattatives substantially depend on the successlordaf our drug development
programs including naloxegol, etirinotecan peg@XB355, Amikacin Inhale, NKTR-181, and NKTR-192. & hvailability and terms of
financing alternatives and any future significaayments from existing or new collaborations allefeghon the positive outcome of ongoing or
planned clinical studies, whether we or our pagtrage successful in obtaining health authority apgis in major markets, and if approved, the
commercial success of these drugs. In particularase entitled to up to $235.0 million of regulgtand commercial launch milestones under
our license agreement with AstraZeneca, $95.0aniltif which is related to AstraZeneca submittingutatory approval filings for naloxegol
with the FDA and with the EMA. AstraZeneca has @adiéd that it plans to submit regulatory filings fialoxegol subject to subject to
AstraZeneca'’s final preparation of the registrapickage and a pre-NDA meeting with the FDA. Inglient we do not enter into any new
collaboration partnerships with significant up-ft@ayments or do not receive the naloxegol regnlatdlestone payments in 2013, we would
likely be required to pursue financing alternatives
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In the event we determine to explore financingraléves, our objective would be to first pursueficing alternatives that are not dilutive to
the ownership of our common stock security holddmswever, if non-dilutive financing alternativesarot available to us on commercially
reasonable terms or at all, we could be requirguliteue dilutive equity-based financing alternatisach as an offering of convertible debt or
common stock.

Results of Operations
Years Ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010
Revenue (in thousands, except percentages)

Percentage Percentage

Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Increase/

Year Ended December 31 (Decrease (Decrease (Decrease (Decrease

2012 vs. 2011 vs. 2012 vs. 2011 vs.

2012 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
Product sales $35,39¢ $24,86: $ 27,41: $10,53 $ (2,549 42% (9%
Royalty revenue 4,87¢ 10,321 7,25¢ (5,459 3,07 (53)% 42%
Non cash royalty revenue related to sal

future royalties 10,79: — — 10,79: — 10C% N/A
License, collaboration and oth 30,12% 36,28¢ 124,37. (6,162) (88,08:) (1% (7%
Total revenue $81,19:  $71,48( $159,03¢ $ 9,711  $(87,559 14% (55)%

Our revenue is derived from our collaboration agreets, under which we may receive product salesma, royalties, license fees,
milestone payments or contract research paymesteriie is recognized when there is persuasive maédidat an arrangement exists, deli
has occurred, the price is fixed or determinalié, @ollection is reasonably assured. The amounpfybnt fees received under our license anc
collaboration agreements allocated to continuiniggabons, such as manufacturing and supply comaeniitsy are recognized ratably over our
expected performance period under the arrangemera.result, there may be significant variationthia timing of receipt of cash payments
and our recognition of revenue. We make our bashate of the period over which we expect to fubilir performance obligations. Given the
uncertainties in research and development collagiomis significant judgment is required by us téedmine the performance periods.

Product sales

Product sales include fixed price and cost-plusufenturing and supply agreements with our collationgpartners. Product sales
increased during the year ended December 31, 28hpared to the year ended December 31, 2011 asih oéincreased product demand
from a number of our collaboration partners. Prodiates decreased during the year ended Decemp203B1 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2010 due in part to the transfer afufecturing activities to certain collaboration tp@rs. The timing of shipments is based
solely on the demand and requirements of our cotktibn partners and is not ratable throughout/da. We expect product sales to increase
in 2013 as compared to 2012.

Royalty revenues and non cash royalty revenue redbto sale of future royalties

We receive royalty revenue from certain of ouraotiration partners based on their net sales of @mah products. Royalty revenues
decreased during the year ended December 31, 20d@aced to the year ended December 31, 2011 phynaaria result of the sale of the
royalties we receive from UCB’s CIMZIAR and Roch&MRCERA © product sales as is further described beRuayalty revenues increased
during the year ended December 31, 2011 as compatbd year ended December 31, 2010 primarilyr@salt of the increase in royalties
received from net sales of CIMZIA and MIRCERA . \&epect royalties to decrease in 2013 as compar2adip.
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During the years ended December 31, 2011 and 204 @ecognized $8.3 million and $5.4 million, respealy, in aggregate royalties
from net sales of CIMZI® and MIRCERA . In Febru&912, we sold all of our rights to receive futuogalty payments on CIMZI®R and
MIRCERA @ effective for all periods from January D12 through the life of the royalty obligation. described in Note 7 to our Consolidated
Financial Statements, this royalty sale transadtambeen recorded as a liability that amortizes the estimated royalty payment period. As ¢
result of this liability accounting, even thougle tloyalties from UCB and Roche are remitted diyeittlthe purchaser, we will continue to
record revenue for these royalties. During the peated December 31, 2012, we recognized $13.50milfi aggregate royalties from net sales
of CIMZIA ®and MIRCERA® , of which the $2.7 milliorecognized in the three months ended March 31, #@K2retained by us as these
amounts resulted from product sales in the foundrigr of 2011 and the $10.8 million recognizethinine months ended December 31, Z
was remitted directly to the purchaser as thesaiatsaesulted from product sales in the first thqearters of 2012. We expect non cash
royalties from net sales of CIMZIA and MIRCERA ftacrease in 2013 as compared to 2012.

License, collaboration and other revenue

License, collaboration and other revenue inclugesréization of upfront payments and milestone paytmeeceived in connection with
our license and collaboration agreements and raigeburesearch and development expenses. The fdiese, collaboration and other
revenue depends in part upon the estimated amtiotizaeriod of the upfront payments, the achievenoémilestones, the continuation of
existing collaborations, the amount of reimburseskarch and development work, and entering intoaulaboration agreements, if any.
License, collaboration and other revenue for ther yaded December 31, 2012 decreased compareel yedh ended December 31, 2011
primarily due to the recognition in 2011 of a $&blion license fee from an agreement signed intSmaper 2011.

License, collaboration and other revenue for ther y|ded December 31, 2011 decreased compareel yedh ended December 31, 201C
primarily due to the complete recognition as of &aber 31, 2010 of the $125.0 million upfront paytreseived in the fourth quarter of 2009
from AstraZeneca in connection with the globaltise agreement for naloxegol (formerly known as NKIIB) and naloxegol fixed-dose
combination program (formerly known as NKTR-119)sTtlecrease was patrtially offset by the recognitibthe $5.0 million license fee noted
above, $6.0 million in milestones earned undertegscollaboration agreements, and increases ieme® recognized in 2011 from upfront
payments received by us during 2010.

We expect license, collaboration and other revem@®13 to increase as compared to 2012 primasilg eesult of the recognition of
milestones under existing collaboration agreeménthe event regulatory approval filings for nadggel are submitted by AstraZeneca and
accepted by the FDA and by the EMA, we would bétledtto $95.0 million in milestone payments. lette filings occur in 2013, our license,
collaboration and other revenue in 2013 will inseaignificantly from 2012.

The timing and future success of our drug develagrpegrams and those of our collaboration partasgssubject to a number of risks
and uncertainties. See “Part |, Iltem 1A — Risk Begtfor discussion of the risks associated witlh tomplex nature of our collaboration
agreements.
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Revenue by geography

Revenue by geographic area is based on locatiomgrgfartners. The following table sets forth raxeby geographic area (in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
United States $34,59: $37,89¢ $ 29,63¢
European countrie 46,60( 33,58¢ 129,40:
Total revenue $81,19: $71,48( $159,03¢

The increase in revenue attributable to Europeantcies for the year ended December 31, 2012 cosdgarthe year ended
December 31, 2011 is primarily attributable to @ased product sales and royalty revenues fromastirey European collaboration partners.
The decrease in revenue attributable to Europeantges for the year ended December 31, 2011 cordparthe year ended December 31,
2010 is primarily attributable to the revenue weognized in 2010 from the AstraZeneca license ageeée.

Cost of goods sold (in thousands, except percenggge

Percentagt Percentagt
Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Increase/
Year Ended December 31 (Decrease (Decrease (Decrease (Decrease
2012 vs. 2011 vs. 2012 vs. 2011 vs.
2012 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
Cost of goods sold $30,42¢ $21,89: $25,66" $ 8,531 $ (3,776 3%% (15)%
Product gross prof 4,971 2,97 1,74¢ 1,99¢ 1,22¢ 67% 70%

Product gross margi 14% 12% 6%

Cost of goods sold increased during the year ebdegmber 31, 2012 compared to the year ended Dexe8tth2011 primarily due to
the $10.5 million increase in product sales in 201 increase in product gross margin during e ynded December 31, 2012 compared t
the year ended December 31, 2011 is primarily dubke decreased cost per unit in 2012 resulting frecreased manufacturing activity,
resulting in improved overhead absorption.

The decrease in cost of goods sold during the greded December 31, 2011 compared to the year éwsember 31, 2010 is primarily
due to the $2.5 million decrease in product sale20il1 and an increase in overall commercial andrtary manufacturing activity in 2011
compared to 2010 that resulted in decreased cestsnit. The increase in product gross margin dyifire year ended December 31, 2011
compared to the year ended December 31, 2010nmaply due to the different mix of products soldlahe decreased costs per unit in 2011
resulting from increased manufacturing activity.

We expect product gross margin to fluctuate inreifperiods depending on the level and mix of maestufang orders from our customers
due to the fixed cost base associated with our faaturing activities.

Research and development expense (in thousandss@xeercentages)

Percentagt Percentagt
Year Ended December 31 Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Increase/
- (Decrease (Decrease (Decrease (Decrease
2012 vs. 2011 vs. 2012 vs. 2011 vs.
2012 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
Research and development expense $148,67¢  $126,76t $108,06! $21,90¢ $18,70: 17% 17%
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Research and development expense consists primoaplgrsonnel costs (including salaries, beneditsl stock-based compensation),
clinical study costs, direct costs of outside resteaonducted by clinical research organizatioretenials, supplies, licenses and fees. Resear
and development expense also includes certain eadrallocations consisting of various support audifies related costs.

The increase in research and development expensigefgear ended December 31, 2012 compared tgefireended December 31, 2011
is primarily attributable to the $15.2 million irase in direct research and development prograts, @substantial portion of which is
attributable to the etirinotecan pegol (NKTR-102pBe 3 BEACON clinical study initiated in DecemB8d.1 as well as the NKTR81 Phase
clinical study initiated in July 2012. In additioesearch and development expense increased dug6t@ million increase in salaries and
employee benefits resulting from increased headdmusupport our expanded clinical developmentvitas.

The increase in research and development expensigefgear ended December 31, 2011 compared tyetireended December 31, 2010
is primarily attributable to a $7.5 million incream direct research and development program anerials costs, a $3.0 million increase in
salaries and employee benefits, and a $6.3 milfiorease in support and facilities-related costsctvincludes increased n@ash depreciatic
and non-cash rent expenses related to the mowgr taaility in the Mission Bay Area of San Frana@s€alifornia (Mission Bay Facility) at the
end of 2010.

We utilize our employee and infrastructure resosi@eross multiple development and research progrBinesfollowing table shows
expenses incurred for preclinical study suppomicl supplies, clinical and regulatory servicesyided by third parties and direct materials
costs for each of our drug candidates. The takle pdesents other costs and overhead consistipgreénnel, facilities and other indirect costs
(in thousands):

CSIIFLJIS?/I Year Ended December 31

Status (@) 2012 2011 2010
Etirinotecan pegol (NKTR-102) (topoisomerase | mtar-polymer conjugate’y Phase! $ 31,65( $ 13,10¢ $ 14,73(
NKTR-181 (mt-opioid analgesic molecule for chronic pa Phase : 13,531 9,74 4,38¢
BAY41-6551 (Amikacin Inhalel Complete:

Phase . 13,51: 11,38¢ 12,60¢
NKTR-192 (mt-opioid analgesic molecule for acute pe Phase : 2,67¢ 3,10(¢ —
Naloxegol (NKTF-118) (orally available peripheral opioid antagon® Phase ! 27 98¢ 3,43¢
Other product candidati Various 4,23¢ 12,07 9,591
Total third party and direct materials ca 65,63¢ 50,40: 44,76!
Personnel, overhead and other c 68,78 59,43: 48,73¢
Stoclk-based compensation and deprecia 14,25¢ 16,93 14,56¢
Research and development expe $148,67F  $126,76t  $108,06!

(1) Clinical Study Status definitions are providedhe thart found in Part I, Item 1. Busine

(2) In addition, during the year ended December 31120& made $11.2 million of prepayments to cen@indors in our BEACON stud

(3) We partnered this program with Bayer Healthcare lih Bugust 2007. As part of the Novartis Pulmonasget Sale in 2008, we retair
an exclusive license to this technology for theadepment and commercialization of this drug cantgic

(4) We partnered this program with AstraZeneca ABtiaZeneca) in 2009. In general, all developmestsincurred by us after partnering
with AstraZeneca are reimbursed by AstraZen
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We expect research and development expense t@seie 2013 as compared to 2012 and to continoeaiove the 2012 level for the
next several years. We plan to continue to advatideotecan pegol in the Phase 3 BEACON studynietastatic breast cancer for which we
expect patient enroliment to continue throughout®8nd the clinical study to continue through 204/4&. are also finishing data analysis from
the expanded Phase 2 clinical study for etirinatgmegol in patients with platinum resistant/refoagtovarian cancer in preparation for
meetings with health authorities in 2013. At thmeaime, we continue to advance the Phase 2 disiiady for etirinotecan pegol in colorectal
cancer patients. Our current plan is to fund athef clinical development costs for etirinotecagaddor the foreseeable future without
reimbursement from a collaboration partner. Theicdl development costs for the BEACON clinicaldstwvill continue to be significant. We
estimate that the total third party and direct mateosts over the life of the BEACON study wilnge from approximately $110.0 million to
$120.0 million, of which $26.0 million was incurrétrough the end of 2012. We are unable to estitha@&ming or costs to complete the
clinical development for etirinotecan pegol acrakshe potential oncology indications.

In addition to our etirinotecan pegol developmestivities, in 2013, we plan to continue to enrbktongoing Phase 2 clinical study for
NKTR-181 and also initiate and complete a human abals#ity study for NKTR-181. Further, if the Pha8elinical results are successful, we
plan to begin preparations for the commencemeRhase 3 clinical studies for NKTR-181. We also gtanontinue to advance the
development of NKTR-192. We are also actively aduag the preclinical development work for NKTR-184d NKTR-214 in preparation for
entering clinical development in the 2013-2014 fraume.

In addition, we plan to continue to make substéirtizestments to support the clinical and commeémianufacturing preparation and
scale-up for the nebulizer devices to supply Bégethe Amikacin Inhale program. Under our colladion agreement with Bayer, we are
responsible for all clinical and commercial suppfythe nebulizer devices for this drug candidate. 8 not expect to have any significant
future research and development costs associatbdhalpbxegol or the naloxegol fixetbse combination products as AstraZeneca is reipe
for all further development and commercializatiasts for these drug candidates.

In addition to our drug candidates that we plahaee in clinical development during 2013 and beyovel believe it is vitally important
to continue our substantial investment in a divgipeline of new drug candidates to continue tddbthie value of our drug candidate pipeline
and our business. Our discovery research orgaoiziidentifying new drug candidates by applying pegylation technology platform to a
wide range of molecule classes, including smallengles and large proteins, peptides and antiboaéesss multiple therapeutic areas. We
to continue to advance our most promising earlgaesh drug candidates into preclinical developrétit the objective to advance these early
stage research programs to human clinical studiestbe next several years.

Our expenditures on current and future preclingeal clinical development programs are subject to@rous uncertainties in timing and
cost to completion. In order to advance our drugdaates through clinical development, each druglichate must be tested in numerous
preclinical safety, toxicology and efficacy studi#ge then conduct clinical studies for our drugdidates that take several years to complete.
The cost and time required to complete clinical$rimay vary significantly over the life of a ciai development program as a result of a
variety of factors, including but not limited to:

» the number of patients required for a given clihgtady design
« the length of time required to enroll clinical spuygharticipants
» the number and location of sites included in theichl studies

« the clinical studies designs required by the healihorities (i.e. primary, secondary end point gne size of the study needed to
demonstrate efficacy and safety outcom

« the potential for changing standards of care fertéiiget patient populatio
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» the competition for patient recruitment from conifpet drug candidates being studied in the sanmréazl setting:

* the costs of producing supplies of the product watds needed for clinical trials and regulatorgraissions

» the safety and efficacy profile of the drug cantig

» the use of clinical research organizations to agsth the management of the trials; ¢

 the costs and timing of, and the ability to secapgrovals from government health authorit

Furthermore, our strategy includes the potentiardéring into collaborations with third partiesp@articipate in the development and
commercialization of some of our drug candidatehsas those collaborations that we have alreadylaied for naloxegol and Amikacin
Inhale. In these situations, the clinical develophp@ogram and process for a drug candidate andstimated completion date will largely be

under the control of that third party and not unol@r control. We cannot forecast with any degreeesfainty which of our drug candidates will
be subject to future collaborations or how suchragements would affect our development plans ditalapquirements.

The risks and uncertainties associated with owgaieh and development projects are discussed mldyerf Item 1A — Risk Factors. As
a result of the uncertainties discussed above rever@able to determine with any degree of certatmyduration and completion costs of our
research and development projects, anticipated lsdimp dates or when and to what extent we wileree cash inflows from a collaboration
arrangement or the commercialization of a drug whatd.

General and administrative expense (in thousandscept percentages)

Percentag¢ Percentage
Year Ended December 31, Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Increase/
(Decrease (Decrease (Decrease (Decrease
2012 vs. 2011 vs. 2012 vs. 2011 vs.
2012 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
General and administrative expense $41,61¢ $46,76( $40,98¢ $ (5,14¢) $ 5,77¢ (11)% 14%

General and administrative expense includes thieof@iministrative staffing, business developmardrketing, finance, human
resources and legal activities.

General and administrative expense decreased dinéngear ended December 31, 2012 compared toeireended December 31, 2011
primarily as a result of a $2.7 million paymentightion incurred in 2011 related to the settlena#rs commercial litigation matter as well as a
$2.1 million decrease in non-cash stock-based cosgi®n expense in 2012 as compared to 2011.

For the year ended December 31, 2011 comparede tgetlr ended December 31, 2010, general and adraftivis expense increased by
$2.7 million due to the payment obligation relatedhe settlement of a commercial litigation matteted above. In addition, general and
administrative expense increased due to persoefatkd costs, support and facilities-related c@std,other administrative costs.

In 2013, we expect general and administrative es@ito increase modestly compared to 2012.
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Impairment of long lived assets (in thousands extpprcentages)

Percentagt Percentagt
Year Ended December 31, Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Increase/
(Decrease (Decrease (Decrease (Decrease
2012 vs. 2011 vs. 2012 vs. 2011 vs.
2012 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
Impairment of long-lived assets $1,67¢ $— $12,57¢ $ 1,67¢ $(12,57¢) 10C% (100%

In an effort to reduce ongoing operating costsiamtove our organizational structure, efficiencylgmoductivity, in March 2012, we
announced a plan to consolidate our U.S.-basedn@sactivities at our existing San Francisco liocaiind to cease the use of and offer for
sale one of our buildings located in HuntsvilleaBdma that was dedicated to research activitiea. rdsult, we concluded that the combined
carrying value of the land and building exceedédvalue and we recorded an impairment loss of $illion in March 2012. No further
impairment losses were recorded in the year enagmaiber 31, 2012, however, until we dispose oftlassets, we will update our analysis o
their fair value on a regular basis and such updateld result in further impairment charges inufatperiods. As of December 31, 2012, the
remaining net book value of these assets is $2lBmi

During the year ended December 31, 2010, we reddcat of our operations previously located in Eamlos, California, including our
corporate headquarters, to our Mission Bay Fadilitgan Francisco, California. We determined thatdarrying value of the San Carlos
facility exceeded its fair value based on a disteditash flow model and an impairment charge of@#llion was recognized as a result. As
of December 31, 2012, the remaining net book vafuitbese assets is $1.4 million.

Interest income (in thousands except percentages)

Percentagt Percentagt
Year Ended December 31 Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Increase/
* (Decrease (Decrease (Decrease (Decrease
2012 vs. 2011 vs. 2012 vs. 2011 vs.
2012 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
Interest income $2,31¢ $2,24¢ $1,54¢ $ 71 $ 69¢ 3% 45%

Interest income for the year ended December 312 2@t consistent with the year ended December(811,.2

The increase in interest income for the year emistEmber 31, 2011 compared to the year ended Dexe3tib2010 is a result of higher
average cash and investment balances partiallgtdffsthe impact of lower interest rates earnedumcash, cash equivalents, and available-
for-sale investments.

Interest expense (in thousands except percentages)

Percentage Percentage
Year Ended December 31 Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Increase/
* (Decrease (Decrease (Decrease (Decrease
2012 vs. 2011 vs. 2012 vs. 2011 vs.
2012 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
Interest expense $15,48¢ $10,22: $11,17+ $ 5,26¢ $ (95)) 52% (9)%
Non-cash interest expense on liability
related to sale of future royalti $18,05° $ — $ — $18,05° $ — 100% N/A
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The increase in interest expense for the year ebéedmber 31, 2012 compared to the year ended heredi, 2011 is attributable to
the interest expense recorded on the senior seooted we issued in 2012. On July 11, 2012, weei&$125.0 million of 12% senior secured
notes maturing on July 15, 2017. In connection whtk transaction, we retired a principal amoun$42.5 million of our $215.0 million in
aggregate principal amount of 3.25% convertibleosdimated notes in exchange for $42.5 million imgipal amount of 12% senior secured
notes. We repaid the remaining $172.4 million imgpal amount of convertible subordinated noteflhat maturity on September 28, 2012.

The increase in non-cash interest expense onitiatelated to sale of future royalties for the yeaded December 31, 2012 compared tc
the year ended December 31, 2011 is attributabfeetooyalty sale transaction that we complete20ih2. On February 24, 2012, we sold all of
our rights to receive future royalty payments oMZIA ®and MIRCERA® in exchange for $124.0 million. Alescribed in Note 7 to our
Consolidated Financial Statements, this royaltg s@nsaction has been recorded as a liabilityahatrtizes over the estimated royalty
payment period as CIMZI&R and MIRCERA royalties aeenitted directly to the purchaser. We impute iastion the transaction and record
interest expense at the effective interest ratéctwive currently estimated to be approximately 1T¥#ere are a number of factors that could
materially affect the estimated interest rate ardnuil assess this estimate on a periodic basia Pesult, future interest rates could differ
significantly and any such change in interest vatebe adjusted prospectively.

As a result of the timing of the royalty sale tractson and the issuance of the senior secured Mol 2, we expect interest expense
non-cash interest expense to increase in 2013rapared to 2012.

The decrease in interest expense for the year dbdeeimber 30, 2011 compared to the year ended Degedtt, 2010 is primarily
attributable to the complete amortization of defdrfinancing costs during 2010 relating to our 362®nvertible subordinated notes that
matured in September 2012.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have financed our operations primarily throug\enue from product sales, royalties and researdliavelopment contracts, as well
as public and private placements of debt and egfgyof December 31, 2012, we had cash, cash dguatgaand investments in marketable
securities of $302.2 million and indebtedness @f%Q million. The indebtedness includes $125.0iamlin aggregate principal amount of
12.0% senior secured notes due July 15, 2017 Molides our long-term liability relating to the saif future royalties. As is further described
in Note 7 to our Consolidated Financial Statemethis,royalty obligation liability will not be sééid in cash, but we may be required to make :
payment of up to $7.0 million in 2014 if the worldie net sales thresholds of MIRCERA in 2013 aremet. On July 11, 2012, we issued
$125.0 million in aggregate principal amount ofisesecured notes. In connection with this trarisactve retired a principal amount of
$42.5 million of our $215.0 million in aggregatenmipal amount of 3.25% convertible subordinateteaan exchange for $42.5 million in
principal amount of senior secured notes. As altre$these transactions, we received cash of $8&ll®n, less approximately $4.5 million in
transaction costs, of which $25.0 million is reedito be maintained in a restricted account ualyl 4, 2015. On September 28, 2012, we
repaid the remaining $172.4 million in principal @mt on the convertible subordinated notes. Addétily at December 31, 2012, we had le
of credit arrangements with certain financial ingions and vendors, including our landlord, tatgl2.4 million. These letters of credit will
expire during 2013 and are secured by investmdrgislar amounts. We have no material credit facibr other material committed sources
of capital.

As of December 31, 2012, we had at least twelvethsoof working capital to fund our current businpms. We expect the clinical
development of our proprietary drug candidatesuidiclg etirinotecan pegol (NKTR-102), Amikacin IneBaNKTR-181, and NKTR-192 will
require significant investment in order to continaedvance in clinical development with the ohjerbf entering into a collaboration
partnership or obtaining regulatory approval. Hoarewe have no credit facility or any other sourcesommitted capital. In addition, while
the past we have received a number of significagiqents from license and collaboration
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agreements and other significant transactions,avweod currently anticipate completing new transawiwith substantial upfront payments in
the near -term. Our current business plan is albest to significant uncertainties and risks assult of, among other factors, expenses being
higher than anticipated, unplanned expenses, easlipts being lower than anticipated, and the needtisfy contingent liabilities including
litigation matters and indemnification obligations.

The availability and terms of various financingeattatives substantially depend on the successlordaf our drug development
programs including naloxegol, BAX 855, Amikacin hif, etirinotecan pegol, NKTR-181, and NKTR-192e&vailability and terms of
financing alternatives and any future significaayments from existing or new collaborations alleleghon the positive outcome of ongoing or
planned clinical studies, whether we or our pagtrage successful in obtaining health authority epgls in major markets, and if approved, the
commercial success of these drugs. In particularase entitled to up to $235.0 million of regulgtand commercial launch milestones under
our license agreement with AstraZeneca, $95.0aniltif which is related to AstraZeneca submittingutatory approval filings for naloxegol
with the FDA and with the EMA. AstraZeneca has @adéd that it plans to submit regulatory filings f@loxegol subject to AstraZeneca’s
preparation of the NDA submission package and a\?& meeting with the FDA. In the event we do note¥ into any new collaboration
partnerships with significant up-front paymentsiomot receive the naloxegol regulatory milestoagnpents in 2013, we would likely be
required to pursue financing alternatives. In thent we determine to explore financing alternatiwes objective would be to first pursue
financing alternatives that are not dilutive to tvenership of our common stock security holdersweheer, if non-dilutive financing
alternatives are not available to us on commeiciaisonable terms or at all, we could be requgalirsue dilutive equity-based financing
alternatives such as an offering of convertibletadehcommon stock.

Due to the potential for continued uncertaintyhia tredit markets in 2013 and thereafter, we mageence reduced liquidity with
respect to some of our investments in marketaldergaes. These investments are generally helddturity, which is less than two years.
However, if the need arises to liquidate such steasbefore maturity, we may experience lossebquidation. At December 31, 2012, the
average time to maturity of the investments heldunportfolio was approximately four months ane thaturity of any single investment did
not exceed two years. To date we have not expexicany liquidity issues with respect to these stesy but if such issues arise, we may be
required to hold some, or all, of these securifig#l maturity. We believe that, even allowing fustential liquidity issues with respect to these
securities, our remaining cash, cash equivalentsjravestments will be sufficient to meet our aipiited cash needs for at least the next twelv
months.

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash flows used in operating activities for theryaaded December 31, 2012 totaled $129.8 millidmictvincludes $148.3 million of net
operating cash uses, partially offset by the rac#i$18.5 million from collaboration agreement&tperating cash uses also include $6.7
million in interest payments on our convertible sudinated notes retired in full on September 28, 2We expect that cash flows used in
operating activities, excluding upfront and milestgayments received, if any, will increase in 284 result of increased spending on our
proprietary research and development programsaiticplar, our BEACON study.

Cash flows used in operating activities for therysaded December 31, 2011 totaled $113.7 millidmnictvincludes $7.0 million for semi-
annual interest payments on our convertible subatdd notes, $11.2 million of prepayments to cenandors in our BEACON study, and
$125.0 million of other net operating cash usesjglly offset by the receipt of $29.5 million frooollaboration agreements, of which $16.5
million was included in accounts receivable at Deler 31, 2010 resulting from an upfront paymentigattion arising from an amendment to
one of our manufacturing and supply agreements.

During the year ended December 31, 2010, net csasthin operating activities totaled $55.9 milliarhich primarily consisted of
spending on operating costs and expenses and @0 million for interest payments
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on our convertible subordinated notes, and wasaligiroffset by a $50.0 million upfront payment edeed from Amgen under the supply,
dedicated suite and manufacturing guarantee agraahs we entered into with Amgen in October 2010.

Cash flows from investing activities

We purchased $10.6 million, $9.7 million, and $3hilion of property and equipment in the yearsesh@ecember 31, 2012, 2011, and
2010, respectively. Our capital expenditures weégldr in 2010 as we constructed the leasehold ivggnents for the Mission Bay Facility a
completed our research and development facilitgyiderabad, India. We expect our capital expenditime2013 to be consistent with 2012.

Cash flows used in financing activities

On February 24, 2012, we sold all of our rightseceive future royalty payments on CIMZfA and MIRRA®in exchange for $124.0
million. As part of this sale, we incurred approxit@ly $4.4 million in transaction costs.

On July 11, 2012, we issued $125.0 million of ses&xured notes maturing on July 15, 2017. Asqgfattis transaction, we incurred
approximately $4.5 million in issuance costs. Inmection with this transaction, we retired the gipal amount of $42.5 million of our $215.0
million in aggregate principal amount of convertilsiubordinated notes in exchange for $42.5 millioprincipal amount of the senior secured
notes. In addition, $25.0 million of the proceeds the senior secured notes issuance is requirked maintained in a restricted account until
July 1, 2015. On September 28, 2012, we repaideimaining $172.4 million in principal amount of tbenvertible subordinated notes.

On January 24, 2011, we completed a public offeoihgur common stock with gross proceeds of appnaxely $220.4 million. As part
of the public offering, we incurred approximately.& million in legal and accounting fees, filingfe and other offering expenses.

We received proceeds from issuance of common stdaked to our employee option and stock purchésespf $4.1 million,
$4.5 million, and $8.9 million in the years endeeicember 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively.

Contractual Obligations (in thousands)

Payments Due by Perioc

2-3Yrs
<=1Yr 2014- 4-5Yrs

Total 2013 2015 201€-2017 2018+
Obligations @
12% Senior secured notes due July 2017, includitegést $200,00( $15,00( $30,00( $155,00( $ —
Operating lease® 21,52( 20C 5,17¢ 7,66¢ 8,47¢
Capital leases, including intere®) 19,63« 5,12¢ 10,47 4,03¢ —
Purchase commitmen® 14,64¢ 14,64¢ — — —
Litigation settlement, including intere 4,00( 1,00( 2,00( 1,00( —

$259,80: $35,97" $47,64 $167,69¢ $8,47¢

(1) The above table does not include certain comatits and contingencies which are discussed in 8lofdtem 8. Financial Statements
and Supplementary Dat

(2) In November 2010, we moved into our Mission Bagility, which includes our corporate headquarterd a research and development
center. Under the terms of the sublease we entet@avith Pfizer Inc. or
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3)

(4)

September 30, 2009 for the Mission Bay Facility, wilk begin making non-cancelable lease paymen®)itd. On December 28, 2011,
we amended the sublease of the Mission Bay Fatilityclude an additional 24,002 square feet otepb/nder the terms of the
amendment, beginning January 1, 2012, we begamgidase payments for this additional space of@@®Dper month until at least

May 31, 2013. The sublease is discussed in Nofdtérn 8. Financial Statements and Supplementatsg.|

These amounts primarily result from capitakkabligations arising from our office space leats201 Industrial Road in San Carlos,
California. In November 2010, we ceased use ofgh@&ce as a result of the relocation of all of@alifornia functions to our Mission B,
Facility. We have subleased a portion of the Samo€#acility and are currently seeking one or ngrbtenants for the remaining space.
This is further discussed in Note 6 of Iltem 8. [itial Statements and Supplementary D

Substantially all of this amount was subjecvp@n purchase orders as of December 31, 201%#ratissued under existing contracts.
This amount does not represent any minimum conteactination liabilities for our existing contrac

Given our current cash requirements, we forecastwie will have sufficient cash to meet our netrafing expense requirements and

contractual obligations at least through Decembie2813. We plan to continue to invest in the adeament of our research and development
drug candidate pipeline and our future cash remergs will depend upon the timing and results eSéhinvestments. Our capital needs will
depend on many factors, including continued pragiesur research and development programs, pregrigls preclinical and clinical trials of
our proprietary and partnered drug candidatesability to successfully enter into additional cbitaation agreements for one or more of our
proprietary drug candidates or intellectual propénat we control, the time and costs involved liwaining regulatory approvals, the costs of
developing and scaling our clinical and commensiahufacturing operations, the costs involved iparimg, filing, prosecuting, maintaining
and enforcing patent claims, the need to acquienes to new technologies and the status of citimpgtroducts.

Our substantial debt, the market price of our déesar and the general economic climate, amongrd#wtors, could have material

consequences for our financial condition and caiflelct our sources of short-term and long-term fagdOur ability to meet our ongoing
operating expenses and repay our outstanding iedebss is dependent upon our and our partnertyabilsuccessfully complete clinical
development of, obtain regulatory approvals for amccessfully commercialize new drugs. Even if wewr partners are successful, we may
require additional capital to continue to fund operations and repay our debt obligations as tleepine due. There can be no assurance tha
additional funds, if and when required, will be #afale to us on favorable terms, if at all.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not utilize off-balance sheet financing agements as a source of liquidity or financing.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Prineip{ GAAP) requires management

to make estimates and assumptions that affeceffmted amounts of assets and liabilities andasce of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements and the redamounts of revenues and expenses during theingpperiod.

We base our estimates on historical experienceandrious other assumptions that we believe teeasonable under the circumstan

the results of which form our basis for making jodmts about the carrying value of assets andiligsithat are not readily apparent from
other sources, and evaluate our estimates on asirangasis. Actual results may differ from thostneates under different assumptions or
conditions. We have determined that for the perreg®rted in this report, the following accountpglicies and estimates are critical in
understanding our financial condition and resultewr operations.
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Revenue Recognition

License, collaboration and other research revesueciognized based on the facts and circumstarfi@egb contractual agreement and
includes amortization of upfront fees. We defeome under contractual agreements when we haveefustiligations that indicate that a
separate earnings process has not been complgidntfees are recognized ratably over the explgogeformance period under each
arrangement. Management makes its best estim#te gieriod over which we expect to fulfill our pehance obligations, which may include
technology transfer assistance, clinical develograetivities, or manufacturing activities througie tcompletion of clinical development or the
termination or expiration of the collaboration agreent. Given the complexities and uncertaintiesotiiboration arrangements, significant
judgment is required by management to determineltination of the performance peric

As of December 31, 2012, we had $25.8 million deded upfront fees related to two collaborationeggnents that are being amortized
over 11 to 14 years, or an average of 12.5 yearsolir collaboration agreements, our performandgations may span the life of the
agreement. For these, the shortest reasonablelpsitioe end of the development period (estimatdiabt4 to 6 years) and the longest period is
the contractual life of the agreement, which isegally 10-12 years from the first commercial s@é/en the statistical probability of drug
development success in the Ipbarmaceutical industry, drug development prograave only a 5% to 10% probability of reaching conuiad
success. If we had determined a longer or shomertization period was appropriate, our annual aptffee amortization for these agreements
could be as low as $2.4 million or as high as $iilbon as compared to the $3.2 million recognizethe year ended December 31, 2012.

As of December 31, 2012, we also had $90.4 miltibdeferred upfront fees related to seven licemsmufacturing and supply
agreements that are being amortized over periodas % to 10 years. Our performance obligationstHese agreements may include technolog
transfer assistance and/or bagkmanufacturing and supply services for a spetifieriod of time; therefore, the time estimateddmplete th
performance obligations related to licenses iseeifipecified or is much shorter than the collabonahgreements. We may experience dela
the execution of technology transfer plans, whigymesult in a longer amortization period for apglile agreements.

Our original estimates are periodically evaluateddtermine if circumstances have caused the dgstima change and if so, amortization
of revenue is adjusted prospectively.

On January 1, 2011, we adopted on a prospective Aasounting Standards Update (ASU) 2009-13, whictends the criteria to
identify separate units of accounting within SulitdgD5-25, “Revenue Recognition-Multiple-Element@agements.” In the year ended
December 31, 2012, we entered into our first aramnt that requires accounting under this guidddoder this guidance, at the inception of
each new multiple-element arrangement or the nzterodification of an existing multiple-elementargement, we allocate arrangement
consideration to all units of accounting basedhanrelative selling price method, generally basedwr best estimate of selling price (ESP).
The objective of ESP is to determine the price lsitlvwe would transact a sale if the product oviserwas sold on a stand-alone basis. We
determine ESP for the elements in our collaboragivangements by considering multiple factors iditig, but not limited to, technical
complexity of the performance obligation and simiijaof elements to those performed under prevauiangements. Since we apply signific
judgment in arriving at the ESPs, any material gesnvould significantly affect the allocation oéttotal consideration to the differe
elements of a multiple element arrangement.

Clinical Trial Accruals

We record accruals for the estimated costs of tiical study activities performed by third parti&e generally accrue costs associated
with the start-up and reporting phases of the cdin$tudies ratably over the
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estimated duration of the start-up and reportinaspl. If the actual timing of these phases vartes the estimate, we will adjust the accrual
prospectively. We generally accrue costs associatidthe treatment phase of clinical studies basethe total estimated cost of the treatmen
phase on a per patient basis and we expense tipajxent cost ratably based on patient enrolimethé studies. In addition, certain tirhasec
costs are expensed ratably over the treatment pAdsance payments for goods or services thatheillsed or rendered for future research
and development activities are capitalized as pdegepenses and recognized as expense as thalrgtaids are delivered or the related
services are performed.

Stock-Based Compensation

We use the Black-Scholes option valuation modeéfmh respective grant to determine the estimaieddlue of stock options on the
date of grant (grant date fair value) and commonkspurchased under the ESPP. We expense the txlifa@ value of each award, as
adjusted by the estimated historical forfeiture raatably over the expected service period obikard. The Black-Scholes option pricing
model requires the input of highly subjective asgtioms. Because our employee stock options havectaistics significantly different from
those of traded options, and because changes subljective input assumptions can materially affaictvalue estimates, in management’s
opinion, the existing models may not provide aat@k single measure of the fair value of our emgdostock options or common stock
purchased under our employee stock purchase plaudition, management continually assesses thengs®ns and methodologies used to
calculate the estimated fair value of stock-basedpensation. Circumstances may change and additiateamay become available over time,
which could result in changes to the assumptionsnagthodologies, and which could materially impaat fair value determination, as well as
our stock-based compensation expense.

In addition, for awards that vest upon the achiesmtnof performance milestones, we estimate thengperiod based on our evaluation
of the probability of achievement of each respectihilestone and the related estimated date of aetment.

Non-cash Interest Expense on Liability Related tal& of Future Royalties

In February 2012, we sold all of our rights to ieeduture royalty payments from sales of the CIMZland MIRCERA® drug products
marketed by UCB and Roche, respectively. Althoughane required to make payments to the purchaggirooertain situations, including the
event of our breach of a representation, warrangogenant in the Purchase and Sale Agreemengjithedt rise to a liability in accordance with
the terms and conditions of such agreement, tyaltyosale transaction was recorded as a liakiiyyalty Obligation) that we will amortize
using the interest method over the estimated fith® Purchase and Sale Agreement. As a resuliete interest on the transaction and
record interest expense at the estimated intesitst©ur estimate of the interest rate under theesgent is based on the amount of royalty
payments to be received by RPI over the life ofdtrangement and payments we may be required te toaRPI under the agreement, if any.
We will periodically assess the expected royaltyrpants to RPI from UCB and Roche using a combinatihistorical results and forecasts
from market data sources. To the extent such patgraea greater or less than our initial estimatab®timing of such payments is materially
different than our original estimates, we will ppestively adjust the amortization of the Royaltyli@&tion. There are a number of factors that
could materially affect the amount and timing ofatty payments from CIMZI& and MIRCERA , most of igh are not within our control.
Such factors include, but are not limited to, chaggtandards of care, the introduction of commefiroducts, manufacturing or other delays,
biosimilar competition, intellectual property matteadverse events that result in health authariposed restrictions on the use of the drug
products, and other events or circumstances thatti@ reduced royalty payments from CIMZPA andRGERAZ® , all of which would result
in a reduction of non-cash royalty revenues andgash interest expense over the life of the Roy@ltligation. Conversely, if sales of
CIMZIA ®and MIRCERA® are higher than expected, noskceoyalty revenues and non-cash interest expeosklwalso be greater over the
term of the Royalty Obligation. If we had deterndribat the interest rate used in 2012 should haea lone percentage point higher than our
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current estimate of 17%, the non-cash interestresgpeecognized in the year ended December 31, @061l have increased by $1.2 million.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

On January 1, 2012, we were required to adopt meauating guidance related to the presentatioroofprehensive income that
prohibits the presentation of other comprehensiceme (OCI) in the statement of stockholders’ gqaitd instead, provides the option of
presenting OCI in a continuous statement of congrsive income or as two separate consecutive statesmVe elected to present OCI in twc
separate consecutive statements.

ltem 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MagkRisk
Interest Rate and Market Risk

The primary objective of our investment activitisgo preserve principal while at the same time imé&ing yields without significantly
increasing risk. To achieve this objective, we Btia liquid, high quality debt securities. Our @stments in debt securities are subject to
interest rate risk. To minimize the exposure duart@dverse shift in interest rates, we inveshortsterm securities and maintain a weighted
average maturity of one year or less.

A hypothetical 50 basis point increase in interasts would result in an approximate $0.4 milli@crase, less than 1%, in the fair value
of our available-for-sale securities at December2B 2. This potential change is based on sertyitirialyses performed on our investment
securities at December 31, 2012. Actual results diffgr materially. The same hypothetical 50 bt increase in interest rates would have
resulted in an approximate $1.7 million decreasss than 1%, in the fair value of our availabledale securities at December 31, 2011.

Due to the potential for continued uncertaintytia tredit markets in 2013, we may experience ratiligaidity with respect to some of
our investments in marketable securities. Thesesiments are generally held to maturity, whiclessIthan two years. However, if the need
arises to liquidate such securities before matuwty may experience losses on liquidation. As afddeber 31, 2012, we held $252.8 millior
available-for-sale investments, excluding moneykagfunds, with an average time to maturity of fowwnths. To date we have not
experienced any liquidity issues with respect wsthsecurities, but should such issues arise, webmeequired to hold some, or all, of these
securities until maturity. We believe that, evelowaing for potential liquidity issues with respdotthese securities, our remaining cash, cash
equivalents, and investments will be sufficientrteet our anticipated cash needs for at least tkietwelve months. Based on our available
cash and our expected operating cash requiremeatsiyrrently do not intend to sell these securipiésr to maturity and it is more likely than
not that we will not be required to sell these siies before we recover the amortized cost basisordingly, we believe there are no other-
than-temporary impairments on these securitieshand not recorded any provisions for impairment.

Foreign Currency Risk

The majority of our revenue, expense, and capiiethpasing activities are transacted in U.S. dalldswvever, since a portion of our
operations consists of research and developmeinitast outside the United States, we have entardtransactions in other currencies,
primarily the Indian Rupee, and we therefore atgeni to foreign exchange risk.

Our international operations are subject to rigksctl of international operations, including, mat limited to, differing economic
conditions, changes in political climate, differitax structures, other regulations and restrictiansl foreign exchange rate volatility. We do
not utilize derivative financial instruments to nage our exchange rate risks.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of NektaerBpeutics

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Nektar Therapeutics as of Decemb&(3P, and 2011, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehefs$s, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows faheaf the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2012. Our audits also included thenfifal statement schedule listed in the Indexea 115(a)(2). These financial statements
schedule are the responsibility of the Company’sagament. Our responsibility is to express an opioin these financial statements and
schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstalts of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those standard:s
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether the finastaieiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on Blasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digds in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princied and significant estimates made by managenenelaas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referr@alove present fairly, in all material respedts,¢onsolidated financial position of Nektar
Therapeutics at December 31, 2012 and 2011, ancbtieolidated results of its operations and ité ¢lsvs for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2012, in conformity Wwit8. generally accepted accounting principles. Alls@ur opinion, the related financial
statement schedule, when considered in relatidinetdvasic financial statements taken as a whotsepits fairly in all material respects the
information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), Nektar
Therapeutics’ internal control over financial reing as of December 31, 2012, based on criteragbéished in Internal Control-Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoringa@eations of the Treadway Commission and our tegetied February 28, 2013
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ ERNST & Y OUNGLLP

Redwood City, California
February 28, 2013
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of NektaerBpeutics

We have audited Nektar Therapeuticdernal control over financial reporting as of Batber 31, 2012, based on criteria establishedt@mrial
Control-Integrated Framework issued by the CommitteSponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Casion (the COSO criteria). Nektar
Therapeutics’ management is responsible for maiimtgieffective internal control over financial repog, and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financigdoeting included in the accompanying Managementiaal Report on Internal Control over
Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to exgge@n opinion on the company’s internal controlrdiveancial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8d&/nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenalteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal corix@r financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, testing and etnadutihe design and operating effectiveness ofiraiecontrol based on the assessed risk, anc
performing such other procedures as we considezedssary in the circumstances. We believe thaawdit provides a reasonable basis for ou
opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statets:iéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (ftajmeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettitansactions and dispositions of the assetsafdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@awith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureh®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely deteatfauinauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzaneterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agject to the risk that controls may become inadegjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Nektar Therapeutics maintainedalimaterial respects, effective internal contreéofinancial reporting as of December 31,
2012, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), the consolidated
balance sheets of Nektar Therapeutics as of Deaedih@012 and 2011, and the related consolidasgdreents of operations, comprehensive
loss, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for eaicthe three years in the period ended Decemhe2@lI2 of Nektar Therapeutics and our
report dated February 28, 2013 expressed an ufigdadipinion thereon.

/s/ ERNST & Y OUNGLLP

Redwood City, California
February 28, 2013
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NEKTAR THERAPEUTICS
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Shor-term investment

Accounts receivable, net of allowance of nil at &aber 31, 2012 and 20

Inventory
Other current asse
Total current asse
Long-term investment
Restricted cas
Property and equipment, r
Goodwill
Other asset

Total asset

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued compensatic
Accrued expense
Accrued clinical trial expense
Deferred revenue, current porti
Interest payabl
Convertible subordinated not
Other current liabilitie:
Total current liabilities
Senior secured not
Capital lease obligations, less current por
Liability related to the sale of future royaltidsss current portio
Deferred revenue, less current port
Deferred gair
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingenci
Stockholder' equity:

Preferred stock, 10,000 shares authorized, $0.pa0%alue; 3,100 shares designated
Series A and no shares issued or outstanding arbleer 31, 2011; no shares
designated, issued or outstanding at December(3®,

Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 300,000 authoriz&8,259 shares and 114,485 shares
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2012 ant] 2€dpectively

Capital in excess of par val
Accumulated other comprehensive I
Accumulated defici

Total stockholder equity
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

December 31

2012

2011

(In thousands, excep
par value information)

$ 2543
251,75
5,80¢
18,26¢
13,36¢
314,63

25,00(
72,21
76,501
9,44:

$ 497,79

$ 2,862
8,77¢
8,00¢

17,50(
21,89¢
7,08:

12,41
78,53
125,00
11,60;
128,26t
96,55!
2,40
8,407
450,77:

11
1,617,74
(357)
(1,570,38))
47,01¢

$ 497,79

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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$ 15,31
225,85t
4,93¢
12,65¢
17,94«
276,70t
173,76¢

78,57¢
76,50

99¢

$ 606,55(

$ 3,01¢
12,801
6,66¢
11,95:
19,64
1,80¢
214,95!
4,681
275,53:

14,58:

108,18t
3,27¢
7,15¢
408,73

11
1,597,42:
(1,109
(1,398,52)
197,81

$ 606,55(
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NEKTAR THERAPEUTICS
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31

2011

2010

(In thousands, except per share information

2012
Revenue
Product sale $ 35,39¢
Royalty revenue 4,87¢
Non-cash royalty revenue related to sale of future ltms 10,79:
License, collaboration and other revel 30,127
Total revenue 81,19:
Operating costs and expens
Cost of goods sol 30,42¢
Research and developmt 148,67!
General and administrati 41,61«
Impairment of lon-lived asset: 1,67¢
Total operating costs and expen 222,39:.
Loss from operation 141,20)
Non-operating income (expenst
Interest incom 2,31t
Interest expens (15,489
Non-cash interest expense on liability related to s&feiture royalties (18,057
Other income (expense), r 98:
Total nor-operating expense, n (30,249
Loss before provision for income tax (171,449
Provision for income taxe 40€
Net loss $(171,85)
Basic and diluted net loss per sh $ (150
Weighted average shares outstanding used in congpliéisic and diluted net loss per st 114,82(

$ 24,86
10,32

36,28¢
71,48(

21,89
126,76¢
46,76(

195,41°
123,93)

2,24¢
(10,229

(1,049
(9,029)
(132,96()
1,01€
$(133,97¢)

$ (L9
112,94

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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$ 27,41.
7,25¢

124,37
159,03¢

25,66
108,06!
40,98¢
12,57¢
187,29:

(28,25%)

1,54¢
(11,179

827
(8,807)
(37,05
881

$ (37,939

$ (040
94,07¢
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NEKTAR THERAPEUTICS
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
(In thousands)
Net loss $(171,85)) $(133,979) $(37,939)
Other comprehensive income (los
Net unrealized gain (loss) on availe-for-sale investment 1,20¢ (783) (267)
Income tax benefit on unrealized gain on avail-for-sale investment 470 — —
Net foreign currency translation gain (lo 1C (1,28¢) 21C
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of 74€ (2,079 (57)
Comprehensive los $(171,109 $(136,049) $(37,99%

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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NEKTAR THERAPEUTICS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Balance at December 31, 20

Stock option exercises and RSU rele

Stoclk-based compensatic

Shares issued for Employee Stock Purchase

Other comprehensive lo

Net loss

Balance at December 31, 20

Sale of common stock, net of issuance costs of
$617

Stock option exercises and RSU rele

Stoclk-based compensatic

Shares issued for Employee Stock Purchase

Other comprehensive lo

Net loss

Balance at December 31, 20

Shares issued under equity compensation |

Stoclk-based compensatic

Other comprehensive incor

Net loss

Balance at December 31, 20

Accumulated

Other

Total

o Comprehensive Stockholders’
Capital in
Common Par Excess of Accumulated
Shares Value Par Value Income/(Loss) Deficit Equity
(In thousands)

93,28! $ 9 $1,327,94; $ 1,02¢ $(1,226,60) $ 102,36
1,17¢ — 8,34( — — 8,34(
— — 17,39¢ — — 17,39¢
60 — 551 — — 551
— — — (57) — (57)
— — — — (37,939 (37,93%)
94,51, 9 1,354,23. 96¢ (1,264,54) 90,66
19,00( 2 219,78: — — 219,78
86¢€ — 3,91¢ — — 3,91¢
— — 18,88t — — 18,88t
10z — 614 — — 614
— — — (2,079 — (2,07))
- - - - (133,979 (133,97
114,48t 11 1,597,42 (1,109 (1,398,52) 197,81:
174 — 4,117 — — 4,115
— — 16,19¢ — — 16,19¢
— — — 74¢€ — 74¢€
— — — — (171,85Y (171,85Y)
11525¢ $ 11  $1,617,74  $ (357)  $(1,570,38) $ 47,01

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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NEKTAR THERAPEUTICS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Non-cash interest expense on liability related to s&feiture royalties
Non-cash royalty revenue related to sale of future ltms
Stoclk-based compensatic
Depreciation and amortizatic
Impairment of lon-lived asset:
Other nor-cash transactior
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Accounts receivable, n
Inventory
Other asset
Accounts payabl
Accrued compensatic
Accrued expense
Accrued clinical trial expens
Deferred revenu
Interest payabl
Other liabilities
Net cash used in operating activit
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipir
Restricted cas
Maturities of investment
Sales of investmen
Purchases of investmer
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of senior secured notesf 8dt5 million of issuance cos
Repayment of convertible subordinated n¢
Payment of capital lease obligatic
Proceeds from sale of future royalties, net of $dikon of transaction cost
Proceeds from shares issued under equity compengating
Issuance of common stock, net of issuance ¢

Net cash provided by financing activiti

Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equts:

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of

Cash and cash equivalents at end of "

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information

Cash paid for intere:

Cash paid for income taxi

Supplemental schedule of nc-cash investing and financing activities
Retirement of convertible subordinated notes irharge for senior secured no

Property and equipment acquired through capitalds

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
(In thousands)

$(171,85)  $(133,979)  $ (37,939
18,057 — —
(10,797 — —
16,19¢ 18,88! 17,39¢
14,50¢ 14,95 16,55
1,67¢ — 12,57¢
84% 1,35¢ 19¢
(867) 20,16¢ (20,30))
(5,619 (5,390 (795)
6,031 (12,26 577
(122) (3,389 4,271
(4,039 3,55¢ (800)
1,49t 1,01: 1,68¢
5,547 (191) (2,029
(9,389 (17,516 (47,025
5,27¢ — —
3,27¢ (947) (247)
(129,75() (113,74 (55,87))
(10,587 (9,729) (31,45)
(25,000 — —
307,88 383,05: 475,81
5,37¢ 210,08 15,47¢
(164,667 (695,37)) (443,127
113,02 (111,95:) 16,71
77,94( — —
(172,40) - -
(2,437) (1,979 (1,356
119,58t — —
4,117 4,53( 8,891
— 219,78 —
26,80 222,33¢ 7,53t
60 91€ (219)
10,12t (2,449 (31,849
15,31: 17,75¢ 49,59
25,43. $ 15,31 $ 17,75t
9,62C $ 10277 $ 10,59¢
1,021 $ 957 $ 407

$ 4254 $ — I —
$ — $ — $ 19t

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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NEKTAR THERAPEUTICS

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2012

Note 1 — Organization and Summary of Significant Acounting Policies
Organization

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical compaadtuartered in San Francisco, California and parated in Delaware. We are
developing a pipeline of drug candidates thatadithur PEGylation and advanced polymer conjugatetdogy platforms with the objective to
improve the benefits of drugs for patients.

Our research and development activities have reduignificant resources to date and are expeotedritinue to require significant
resources. As a result, we expect to continuedariaubstantial losses and negative cash flows @penations in the future. We have financed
our operations primarily through cash from licegsioollaboration and manufacturing agreements disasdinancing transactions. At
December 31, 2012, we had approximately $302.2anilh cash, cash equivalents and investments nketeble securities, of which $25.0
million was restricted, and $149.0 million in indetness. The indebtedness includes $125.0 mili@ygregate principal amount of 12.0%
senior secured notes due July 15, 2017 which wedsduring the year ended December 31, 2012, lmliiées our long-term liability relating
to the sale of future royalties. As is further désed in Note 7, this royalty obligation liabilityill not be settled in cash, but we may be reqt
to make a payment of up to $7.0 million to the toypurchaser in 2014 if certain worldwide net saleresholds of MIRCERA in 2013 are
not met. During the year ended December 31, 20&2getred $215.0 million in aggregate principal amioof all of our previously outstanding
convertible subordinated notes.

Basis of Presentation, Principles of Consolidatiamd Use of Estimate

Our consolidated financial statements include tharfcial position, results of operations and cémivs of our whollyewned subsidiarie
Nektar Therapeutics (India) Private Limited, NeKt@erapeutics UK, Ltd. (Nektar UK) and Aerogen,.lAd intercompany accounts al
transactions have been eliminated in consolidatm@ecember 2010, we completed the dissolutioAeybgen, Inc. and all remaining assets
were transferred to Nektar Therapeutics.

Our consolidated financial statements are denomihiait U.S. dollars. Accordingly, changes in exclearages between the applicable
foreign currency and the U.S. dollar will affecettianslation of each foreign subsidiary’s finahoésults into U.S. dollars for purposes of
reporting our consolidated financial results. Ttatisn gains and losses are included in accumulatieer comprehensive income (loss) in the
stockholders’ equity section of the balance shBetlate, such cumulative translation adjustments Im@t been material to our consolidated
financial position. Aggregate gross foreign curgetransaction gains (losses) recorded in operafmnthe years ended December 31, 2012,
2011, and 2010 were not material.

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith U.S. generally accepted accounting priresplGAAP) requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect thetegpamounts of assets and liabilities and discsilcontingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the repontecuats of revenues and expenses during the regqréiriod. Actual results could differ
materially from those estimates. On an ongoingshagt evaluate our estimates, including thoseaeltd deferred revenue recognition peric
inventories, the impairment of investments, theampent of goodwill and longjved assets, contingencies, estimated interestresgpfrom ou
liability related to our sale of future royaltietpck-based compensation, and ongoing litigatiomragst other estimates. We base our estimat
on historical experience and on other assumptisgisrthanagement believes are reasonable underrtiienstances. These estimates also form
the basis for making judgments about the carryalges of assets and liabilities when these valteaat readily apparent from other sources.
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Reclassifications

Certain items previously reported in specific finih statement captions have been reclassifiednéoem to the current period
presentation. Such reclassifications do not impegtiously reported total revenue, operating lassat loss or total assets, liabilities or
stockholders’ equity.

Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments, and Faalde of Financial Instruments

We consider all investments in marketable secsritigth an original maturity of three months or ledsen purchased to be cash
equivalents. Investments in securities with renmgjninaturities of less than one year, or where mi@nt is to use the investments to fund
current operations or to make them available foremt operations, are classified as short-termstents.

Investments are designated as available-for-sal@smncarried at fair value, with unrealized gaind losses reported in stockholders’
equity as accumulated other comprehensive inconss)(I The disclosed fair value related to our eaghivalents and investments is based
primarily on the reported fair values in our perientd brokerage statements, which are based on tr@i&es from a variety of industry
standard data providers and generally represenédymices for similar assets in active marketsaae been derived from observable market
data. We independently validate these fair valisasguavailable market quotes and other information.

Interest and dividends on securities classifiedwaslable-for-sale, as well as amortization of ptens and accretion of discounts to
maturity, are included in interest income. Realigaths and losses and declines in value of avaifdrtsale securities judged to be other-than
temporary, if any, are included in other incomep@nse). The cost of securities sold is based ospéeific identification method.

Accounts Receivable and Significant Customer Contrations

Our customers are primarily pharmaceutical andesimtology companies that are located in the U.& Eamope. Our accounts receiva
balance contains billed and unbilled trade recdesfrom product sales and royalties, as wellrag tand materials based billings from
collaborative research and development agreemfitesn appropriate, we provide for an allowance faulatful accounts by reserving for
specifically identified doubtful accounts. We geaibrdo not require collateral from our customét&e perform a regular review of our
customers’ payment histories and associated aiisHitWWe have not experienced significant credisks from our accounts receivable. At
December 31, 2012, four different customers remtese38%, 27%, 14% and 11%, respectively, of onoasts receivable. At December 31,
2011, four different customers represented 26%,,208% and 17%, respectively, of our accounts rextse:

Inventory and Significant Supplier Concentratior

Inventory is generally manufactured upon receidiraf purchase orders from our collaboration pasngventory includes direct
materials, direct labor, and manufacturing overheradi cost is determined on a first-in, first-ousibalnventory is stated at the lower of cost or
market and is net of reserves determined usingfapitentification plus an estimated reserve fefettive or excess inventory based on
historical experience or projected usage. Inventelgted to research and development activitieggpensed when purchased.

We are dependent on our suppliers and contract factowers to provide raw materials, drugs and desviaf appropriate quality and
reliability and to meet applicable contract andutatpry requirements. In certain cases, we relgingle sources of supply of one or more
critical materials. Consequently, in the event thaiplies are delayed or interrupted for any reasonability to develop and produce our drug
candidates or our ability to meet our supply olligzs could be significantly impaired, which colldve a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of openat

82



Table of Contents

Property and Equipmen

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Majpramements are capitalized, while maintenance apdirs are expensed when incur
Manufacturing, laboratory and other equipment &erelciated using the straight-line method genemlr estimated useful lives of three to
seven years. Leasehold improvements and buildiregdepreciated using the straidime method over the shorter of the estimated udiééuor
the remaining term of the lease.

We periodically review our property and equipmenrtrecoverability whenever events or changes icuaistances indicate that the
carrying value may not be recoverable. Generaflyingpairment loss would be recognized if the caigyamount of an asset exceeds the su
the discounted cash flows expected to result fioenuse and eventual disposal of the asset (Seelpte

Goodwill

Gooduwill represents the excess of the price pai@fother entity over the fair value of the assetpuired and liabilities assumed in a
business combination. We test for impairment inftugth quarter of each year using an October lseresnent date, as well as at other times
when impairment indicators exist or when eventsiooe circumstances change that would indicate#inieying amount may not be fully
recoverable.

We are organized in one reporting unit and havéueted the goodwill for the Company as a wholeorder to test for goodwill
impairment, we first assess qualitative factorddtermine whether it is more likely than not thwe fair value of our single reporting unit is |
than its carrying amount and, if so, we perfornrwa-step goodwill impairment test. The first stegeritifying a potential impairment, compares
the fair value of the reporting unit with its cang amount. If the carrying amount exceeds its¥alue, the second step would need to be
performed; otherwise, no. The second step comtlaedisook value of our assigned goodwill to the iegbfair value of our goodwill. We did
not recognize any goodwill-related impairment clegrduring 2012, 2011, or 2010.

Revenue Recoghnitio

We enter into arrangements with pharmaceuticaltaotchnology collaboration partners that may imeahultiple deliverables. Our
arrangements may contain one or more of the foligwelements: upfront fees, contract research anelalement, milestone payments,
manufacturing and supply payments, royalties, aahée fees. Each deliverable in the arrangemeviakiated to determine whether it meets
the criteria to be accounted for as a separateofiaitcounting or whether it should be combinedwither deliverables. Revenue is recognize
separately for each element.

On January 1, 2011, we adopted on a prospective Aasounting Standards Update (ASU) 2009-13, whictends the criteria to
identify separate units of accounting within Sulitdg05-25, “Revenue Recognition-Multiple-Element@agements.” Under this guidance, at
the inception of each new multiple-element arrangi@nor the material modification of an existing tplé-element arrangement, we allocate
all consideration received under multiple-elemeardarsgements to all units of accounting based omdlative selling price method, generally
based on our best estimate of selling price (EB.objective of ESP is to determine the price lsittvwe would transact a sale if the product
or service was sold on a staafbne basis. We determine ESP for the elementaricalaboration arrangements by considering migltiactors
including, but not limited to, technical complexiythe performance obligation and similarity oémlents to those performed under previous
arrangements. Since we apply significant judgmeiriiving at the ESPs, any material change inestimates would significantly affect the
allocation of the total consideration to the diffetr elements of a multiple element arrangement.

Product sale:

Product sales are primarily derived from cost-alnd fixed price manufacturing and supply agreemeittsour collaboration partners
and revenue is recognized when there is persuasidence that an arrangement
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exists, delivery has occurred, the price is fixed@terminable, and collection is reasonably ass\iée have not experienced any significant
returns from our customers.

Royalty revenue

Generally, we are entitled to royalties from ourtpars based on the net sales of their approvegsdhat are marketed and sold in one o
more countries where we hold royalty rights. Weoggze royalty revenue when the cash is receivedhan the royalty amount to be received
is estimable and collection is reasonably assikéth respect to the non-cash royalties relatedcate sf future royalties described at Note 7,
revenues are recognized during the period in wthielrelated royalty report is received, which galtgioccurs in the quarter after the
applicable product sales are made.

License, collaboration and oth:

Upfront fees received by us in license and collation arrangements that include future obligatisagh as manufacturing and supply
obligations, are recognized ratably over our exgeegierformance period under each respective amaggte \We make our best estimate of the
period over which we expect to fulfill our perforne obligations, which may include technology tfanassistance, research activities, clir
development activities, and manufacturing actigifiem development through the commercializatiothefproduct. Given the uncertainties of
these collaboration arrangements, significant juelginis required to determine the duration of thégsmance period.

On January 1, 2011, we elected to prospectivelpsd8U 2010-17, “Milestone Method of Revenue Redtign’. Under the milestone
method, contingent consideration received fromatttievement of a substantive milestone is recogrizés entirety in the period in which
the milestone is achieved, which we believe is mbest with the substance of our performance undewrarious license and collaboration
agreements. A milestone is defined as an evetttdf)can only be achieved based in whole or ingilier on the entitg performance or on t
occurrence of a specific outcome resulting fromehgty’s performance, (ii) for which there is stéb#tive uncertainty at the date the
arrangement is entered into that the event wik&igeved, and (iii) that would result in additiopalyments being due to the entity. A milestons
is substantive if the consideration earned fromattidevement of the milestone is consistent withpmrformance required to achieve the
milestone or the increase in value to the collati@maresulting from our performance, relates sotelpur past performance, and is reasonable
relative to all of the other deliverables and pagtaeavithin the arrangement.

Our license and collaboration agreements with @umgrs provide for payments to us upon the achiewnt of development milestones,
such as the completion of clinical trials or regoitg submissions, approvals by health authorities, commercial launches of drugs. Given the
challenges inherent in developing and obtainingllegry approval for drug products and in achiewiognmercial launches, there was
substantial uncertainty whether any such milestavmdd be achieved at the time of execution of ¢leensing and collaboration agreements
In addition, we evaluated whether the developmalgstones meet the remaining criteria to be comeisubstantive. As a result of our
analysis, we consider our remaining developmergstohes under all of our license and collaboraagmeements to be substantive and,
accordingly, we expect to recognize as revenuagdytayments received from such milestones onlpdfa@s each milestone is achieved.

Our license and collaboration agreements with oepartners also provide for contingent paymentsstbased solely upon the
performance of the respective partner. For suckirmgent amounts we expect to recognize the paynsntevenue when earned under the
applicable contract, which is generally upon coripleof performance by the respective partner, jgied that collection is reasonably assured

Our license and collaboration agreements with @uners also provide for payments to us upon theasgement of specified sales
volumes of approved drugs. We consider these patgtetoe similar to royalty payments and we witagnize such sales-based payments
upon achievement of such sales volumes, providatcthllection is reasonably assured.
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Shipping and Handling Cost
We recognize costs related to shipping and handlirpgyoduct to customers in cost of goods sold.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation arrangements include spiiitn grants and restricted stock unit (RSU) @samder our equity incentive
plans, as well as shares issued under our Empstgek Purchase Plan (ESPP), in which employeespuashase our common stock at a
discount to the market price.

We use the Black-Scholes option valuation modetterrespective grant to determine the estimateddtue of the option on the date of
grant (grant date fair value) and the estimatedviaiue of common stock purchased under the ESR® Black-Scholes option pricing model
requires the input of highly subjective assumpti®@ecause our employee stock options have chaistatersignificantly different from those
traded options, and because changes in the sugectiut assumptions can materially affect thealue estimate, in management’s opinion,
the existing models may not provide a reliable leimgeasure of the fair value of our employee stimtions or common stock purchased unde
the ESPP. Management will continue to assess therastions and methodologies used to calculatestimated fair value of stock-based
compensation. Circumstances may change and adalitlata may become available over time, which coeddilt in changes to these
assumptions and methodologies, and which couldrafiyeimpact our fair value determination.

We expense the value of the portion of the optioaveard that is ultimately expected to vest basethe historical forfeiture rate on a
straight line basis over the requisite servicequirin our Consolidated Statements of Operatiomsafwards that vest upon the achievement o
performance milestones, we estimate the vestinggéased on our evaluation of the probability ciiavement of each respective milestone
and the related estimated date of achievementk®tased compensation expense for purchases urelBiISRP are recognized based on the
estimated fair value of the common stock duringheaftering period and the percentage of the pureliiscount. Expense amounts are
allocated among inventory, cost of goods sold,aeteand development expense, and general and isthative expense based on the functiot
of the applicable employee. Stock-based compemsaliarges are non-cash charges and as such hawpaxt on our reported cash flows.

Research and Development Exper

Research and development costs are expensed adhand include salaries, benefits and other ¢ipgraosts such as outside services,
supplies and allocated overhead costs. We perfesearch and development for our proprietary druglidates and technology development
and for certain third parties under collaboratigne@ments. For our proprietary drug candidatesoamdhternal technology development
programs, we invest our own funds without reimbomset from a third party.

We record accruals for the estimated costs of tical trial activities performed by third partied/e generally accrue costs associated
with the start-up and reporting phases of the cdihirials ratably over the estimated durationhef $tart-up and reporting phases. We generall
accrue costs associated with the treatment phadaimfal trials based on the total estimated adshe treatment phase on a per patient basis
and we expense the per patient cost ratably oeeestimated patient treatment period based onmpaieoliment in the trials. In addition,
certain timebased costs are expensed ratably over the treaphase. Advance payments for goods or servicesvilidie used or rendered f
future research and development activities aretalgped as prepaid expenses and recognized as®xpsrthe related goods are delivered or
the related services are performed.

Net Loss Per Shar

Basic net loss per share is calculated based ondlghted-average number of common shares outstgualdiring the periods presented.
For all periods presented in the Consolidated Btatgs of Operations, the net loss
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available to common stockholders is equal to tipented net loss. Basic and diluted net loss peresaiee the same due to our historical net
losses and the requirement to exclude potentidllyivk securities which would have an anti-dilieffect on net loss per share. The weighte
average of these potentially dilutive securities baen excluded from the diluted net loss per steloeilation and is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Stock options 13,97( 11,33¢ 9,33¢
Convertible subordinated not — 9,98¢ 9,98¢
Total 13,97( 21,327 19,327

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under the liability moeit Under this method, deferred tax assets ahilities are determined based on
differences between the financial reporting andréporting bases of assets and liabilities andragasured using enacted tax rates and law
are expected to be in effect when the difference®apected to reverse. Realization of deferredtmets is dependent upon future earning
timing and amount of which are uncertain. We re@ra@luation allowance against deferred tax assetduce their carrying value to an
amount that is more likely than not to be realiashen we establish or reduce the valuation allowaetated to the deferred tax assets, our
provision for income taxes will increase or decegasspectively, in the period such determinatsomade.

We utilize a two-step approach to recognize andsureauncertain tax positions. The first step isualuate the tax position for
recognition by determining if the weight of avaikalevidence indicates that it is more likely thar that the position will be sustained upon ta
authority examination, including resolution of teld appeals or litigation processes, if any. Tloosé step is to measure the tax benefit as the
largest amount that is more than 50% likely of gaigalized upon ultimate settlement.

Comprehensive loss

Comprehensive loss is the change in stockholdergtyefrom transactions and other events and cistantes other than those resulting
from investments by stockholders and distributinstockholders. Our other comprehensive inconmgsjls comprised of net loss, gains and
losses from the foreign currency translation ofdaksets and liabilities of our India and UK sulzmiidis, and unrealized gains and losses on
investments.

Recent Accounting Pronouncemen

On January 1, 2012, we were required to adopt meaumting guidance related to the presentatioroofrehensive income that
prohibits the presentation of other comprehensieceme (OCI) in the statement of stockholders’ gqaitd instead, provides the option of
presenting OCI in a continuous statement of congsive income or as two separate consecutive statesmVe elected to present OCI in twc
separate consecutive statements.

Note 2 — Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Available-FdBale Investments
Cash, cash equivalents, and available-for-salesinvents are as follows (in thousands):

Estimated Fair Value at

December 31 December 31
2012 2011
Cash and cash equivalents $ 25,43i $ 15,31
Shor-term investment 251,75 225,85t
Long-term investment — 173,76¢
Restricted cas 25,00( —
Total cash, cash equivalents, and avai-for-sale investmeni $ 302,19« $ 414,93
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Included in our restricted cash balance on our Glideted Balance Sheet at December 31, 2012 i©9$8Blion of restricted cash
required to be maintained until July 1, 2017 urttierterms of our senior secured notes issued yn2Dil2. At December 31, 2012 and 2011
had letter of credit arrangements in favor of allard and certain vendors totaling $2.4 million €8k letters of credit are secured by
investments of similar amounts.

Our portfolio of cash, cash equivalents, and ab&ldor-sale investments includes (in thousands):

Estimated Fair Value at
December 31 December 31

2012 2011
Corporate notes and bonds $ 241,15¢ $ 344,42
U.S. corporate commercial pag 3,99( 9,46¢
Obligations of U.S. government agenc 6,10¢ 44,23(
Obligations of U.S. states and municipalii 1,50¢ 1,50:
Available-for-sale investment 252,76( 399,62:
Cash and money market funds, including restrictesh 49,43¢ 15,31:
Total cash, cash equivalents, and avai-for-sale investmeni $ 302,19« $ 414,93

The following table summarizes our portfolio of dable-for-sale investments reported as short-tenth long-term investments by
contractual maturity (in thousands):

Estimated Fair Value at
December 31 December 31

2012 2011

Less than one year $ 251,75 $ 213,38t
Greater than one year but less than two y — 186,23t
Total availabl-for-sale investment $ 251,75 $ 399,62

We invest in liquid, high quality debt securiti€ur investments in debt securities are subjeattierést rate risk. To minimize the
exposure due to an adverse shift in interest ratesnvest in securities with maturities of two y&ar less and maintain a weighted average
maturity of one year or less.

Gross unrealized gains and losses were not signifiat December 31, 2012 and 2011. During the ymaitsed December 31, 2012, 2011,
and 2010, we sold available-feale securities totaling $5.4 million, $210.1 noitliand $15.5 million, respectively, and realizethg@and losse
were not significant in any of those periods.

All of our investments are categorized as Levet Lavel 2, as explained in the table below. Dutting years ended December 31, 2012,
2011, and 2010, there were no transfers betweeel lleand Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. Thédwing table represents the fair value
hierarchy for our financial assets measured awlire on a recurring basis as of December 31, 20822011 (in thousands):

As of December 31, 2012 Level 1 Level 2 Level & Total

Money market funds $22,48° $ — $— $ 22,48
U.S. corporate commercial pag — 3,99( — 3,99(
Corporate notes and bon — 241,15¢ — 241,15¢
Obligations of U.S. government agenc — 6,10¢ — 6,10¢
Obligations of U.S. states and municipalit — 1,50/ — 1,504
Cash equivalents and avails-for-sale investment $22,487  $252,76( $— $275,24°
Cash, including restricted ca 26,947
Cash, cash equivalents, and avail-for-sale investmeni $302,19:
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As of December 31, 2011 Level 1 Level 2 Level 2 Total

Money market funds $13,95( $ — $— $ 13,95(
U.S. corporate commercial pag — 9,46¢ — 9,46¢
Corporate notes and bon — 344,42 — 344,42
Obligations of U.S. government agenc — 44,23( — 44,23(
Obligations of U.S. states and municipalii — 1,50:¢ — 1,50:¢
Cash equivalents and avails-for-sale investment $13,95( $399,62: $— $413,57:
Cash 1,36:
Cash, cash equivalents, and avail-for-sale investmenti $414,93¢

Level 1— Quoted prices in active markets for identical assetiabilities.

Level 2— Inputs other than Level 1 that are observablegeitlirectly or indirectly, such as quoted pricesdimilar assets or liabilities; quot
prices in markets that are not active; or otheuigphat are observable or can be corroboratedbgreable market data for substantially the
full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3— Unobservable inputs that are supported by littla@market activity and that are significant to thie value of the assets or
liabilities.

Note 3 — Inventory
Inventory consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31

2012 2011
Raw materials $ 7,48¢ $ 6,66(
Work-in-process 6,661 4,31z
Finished good 4,11¢ 1,68:
Inventory $18,26¢ $12,65¢

Note 4 — Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consist of the followingtfiousands):

December 31

2012 2011
Building and leasehold improvements $ 72,18( $ 72,47
Laboratory equipmer 27,14 26,29(
Manufacturing equipmer 20,87 19,55(
Furniture, fixtures and other equipmt 21,914 20,75(
Depreciable property and equipment at « 142,11¢ 139,06:
Less: accumulated depreciati (72,66¢) (62,23))
Depreciable property and equipment, 69,45( 76,82¢
Constructio~in-progress 2,76¢ 1,75C
Property and equipment, r $ 72,21t $ 78,57¢

Building and leasehold improvements include our afiacturing, research and development and admitiistréacilities and the related
improvements to these facilities. Laboratory anchufiacturing equipment include assets that suppaitt bur manufacturing and research and
development efforts. Construction-in-progress idekiassets being built to enhance our manufactaridgesearch and development efforts.
Property and equipment includes certain assetsrachiiirough capital leases (See Note 6).
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In July 2012, we consolidated our U.S.-based rebeacativities into our existing San Francisco fiacihnd ceased use of one of our
buildings located in Huntsville, Alabama that waslidated to research activities. The announcenfeahtsoconsolidation plan in March 2012
triggered the recognition of a $1.7 million impaént charge relating to these assets (see Note 11).

Depreciation expense, including depreciation oétsacquired through capital leases, for the yeaded December 31, 2012, 2011, and
2010 was $13.8 million, $15.0 million, and $14.8liom, respectively.

Note 5 — Senior Secured Notes and Convertible Suldinated Notes
The outstanding balances of our senior secured r@oté our convertible subordinated notes are &mafsl(in thousands):

Sem-Annual December 31
Interest Payment Dates 2012 2011
12% Senior Secured Notes due January 15, July 15
July 2017 $ 125,00( $ —
3.25% Convertible Subordinated Notes due SeptemberMarch 28, September 28
2012 $ — $ 214,95!

On July 11, 2012, we issued $125.0 million in aggte principal amount of senior secured notes (B&tes) with the entire principal
amount due on July 15, 2017. The Senior Notes ibeznest at 12.0% per annum payable in cash semiadly in arrears on January 15 and
July 15 of each year, beginning January 15, 20h8. Senior Notes are secured by a first-priority i@ substantially all of our assets. In
connection with this transaction, we retired $48i8ion of principal amount of our convertible suldinated notes in exchange for the same
principal amount of Senior Notes and received #maining proceeds in cash, less approximately $l®n in transaction costs. Given that
the Senior Notes were recently issued in July 2@/&2believe the carrying amount of the Senior N&e®nsistent with its fair value at
December 31, 2012.

The Senior Notes contain customary covenants, difojucovenants that limit or restrict our abilityincur liens, incur indebtedness, and
make certain restricted payments, but do not coravenants related to future financial performafregarticular, $25.0 million of the
proceeds is required to be maintained in a resttiaccount until July 1, 2015 and which is includetkstricted cash. The Senior Notes are
callable by us at any time, subject to certain ayepent premiums and conditions. If we experienctatechange of control events, the holc
of the Senior Notes will have the right to requiseto purchase all or a portion of the Senior Nates purchase price in cash equal to 101% of
the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and isghipéerest to the date of purchase. In additigmgrucertain asset sales, we may be required
to offer to use the net proceeds thereof to purckame of the Senior Notes at 100% of the prin@pabunt thereof, plus accrued and unpaid
interest to the date of purchase.

We used the proceeds from the issuance of the Sptes and our existing cash to repay the remgifit¥2.4 million in principal
amount of our convertible subordinated notes ihdumaturity on September 28, 2012.
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Note 6 — Leases
Capital Leases

We lease office space and certain office equipraader capital lease arrangements. The gross cgrvgilie by major asset class and
accumulated depreciation as of December 31, 20d2@h1 are as follows (in thousands):

December 31

2012 2011
Building and leasehold improvements $2,115% $2,115
Furniture, fixtures and other equipmt 19t 19t
Total assets recorded under capital lei 2,312 2,312
Less: accumulated depreciati (882) (464)
Net assets recorded under capital lei $1,43( $1,84¢

We lease office space at 201 Industrial Road inGantos, California under capital lease arrangemedsder the terms of the lease, rent
increases up to 3% annually and the lease termmmdgte is October 5, 2016. As of November 29, 20E)ceased use of this space as a resu
of the relocation of our San Carlos operations@rgorate headquarters to San Francisco, Califovdeahave subleased portions of the San
Carlos facility and are currently seeking one orengubtenants for the remaining space, but havbeent relieved of any obligations under the
terms of this lease. As a result of our relocatamjmpairment test was performed for the building related leasehold improvements located
in San Carlos. As a result of this impairment test recorded an impairment charge of $12.6 milliloNovember 2010 (see Note 11).

Future minimum payments for our capital leasesextdinber 31, 2012 are as follows (in thousands):

Years ending December &

2013 $ 5,12¢
2014 5,191
2015 5,28(
2016 4,034
Total minimum payments requir $19,63¢
Less: amount representing inter (5,057
Present value of future minimum lease paym $14,57°
Less: current portio (2,970
Capital lease obligation, less current port $11,60"

Operating Lease

On September 30, 2009, we entered into an operstiblgase (Sublease) with Pfizer, Inc. for a 102 ffiare foot facility located in
San Francisco, California (Mission Bay Facilityypdh completion of construction of the Mission BaacHity, we moved in on November 29,
2010. The Mission Bay Facility includes a reseamsti development center with biology, chemistry rpfecology, and clinical development
capabilities, as well as all of the functions poemly located in San Carlos, California, includmg corporate headquarters.

Under the terms of the Sublease, we will begin mgikion-cancelable lease payments in 2014, aftesxthieation of our free rent period
on August 1, 2014. The Sublease term is 114 mootmmencing in August 2010 and terminating on Jan8a, 2020. Monthly base rent will
start at $2.95 per square foot and will escalatr the term of the sublease at various interva3td2 per square foot in the final period of the
Sublease term.

90



Table of Contents

Rent expense is being recognized ratably from A0, the inception of our tenant improvement troigsion period, through the end of the
Sublease term. In addition, throughout the terrthefSublease, we are responsible for paying certats and expenses specified in the
Sublease, including insurance costs and a prchatige of operating expenses and applicable taxesddission Bay Facility.

On December 28, 2011, we amended the Subleaseltolénan additional 24,002 square feet of space.afilendment term commenced
on December 28, 2011 and ends on January 31, PlaR@ever, we retain the right to terminate the annesat on or prior to May 31, 2013.
Under the terms of the amendment, beginning Jaria@2912, we began making lease payments of $4@é0Month which will continue un
the termination option expires.

Our future minimum lease payments for our operdtage at December 31, 2012 are as follows (insiduods):

Years ending December &

2013 $ 20C
2014 1,50¢
2015 3,661
2016 3,771
2017 3,88¢
2018 and thereaftt 8,47¢
Total future minimum lease paymel $21,52(

We recognize rent expense on a straight-line lma&sthe lease period. For the years ended Dece®ih@012, 2011, and 2010, rent
expense for all our operating leases, includingMission Bay Facility, was approximately $2.8 naitii, $2.4 million, and $2.2 million,
respectively.

Note 7 — Liability Related to Sale of Future Royales

On February 24, 2012, we entered into a Purchas&ale Agreement (the Purchase and Sale AgreemihtRPI Finance Trust (RPI),
an affiliate of Royalty Pharma, pursuant to which sold, and RPI purchased, our right to receivaltgpypayments (the Royalty Entitlement)
arising from the worldwide net sales, from andral@nuary 1, 2012, of (a) CIMZIA , under Nektaitehse, manufacturing and supply
agreement with UCB Pharma (UCB), and (b) MIRCERAInder Nektar’s license, manufacturing and suppheamgent with F. Hoffmann-

La Roche Ltd and Hoffmann-La Roche Inc. (togetleéenred to as Roche). We received aggregate caskguls for the Royalty Entitlement of
$124.0 million. As part of this sale, we incurrggpeoximately $4.4 million in transaction costs, atiwill be amortized to interest expense «
the estimated life of the Purchase and Sale Agraems a result of our ongoing manufacturing angpdy obligations related to the generat
of these royalties, although we sold all of ouhtggto receive royalties from the CIMZFA and MIRCER products, we will continue to
account for these royalties as revenue and recdh#e$i124.0 million in proceeds from this transactas a liability (Royalty Obligation) that
will be amortized using the interest method overdhltimated life of the Purchase and Sale Agreement

The following table shows the activity within thebility account during the year ended Decembe2812 (in thousands):

Liability related to sale of future royalt—beginning balanc $ —
Proceeds from sale of future royalt 124,00(
Non-cash interest expense recognized during : 18,05
CIMZIA ®and MIRCERA®royalties paid to RPI during 20: (10,79)

Total liability related to sale of future royaltias of

December 31, 201 131,26t
Less: current portio (3,000
Liability related to sale of future royalties, lesgrent portior $128,26¢
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As a result of this liability accounting, even tlgtuthe royalties from UCB and Roche are remittedatiy to RPI which started in the
second quarter of 2012 for royalties arising framduct sales in the first quarter of 2012, we wihtinue to recognize revenue for these
royalties. We recognize royalties from net sale€iBIZIA ®and MIRCERA® upon notification of the actuadyalty amount, which occurs in
the quarter after such sales are made. Duringeghegnded December 31, 2012, we recognized $18i6minh aggregate royalties from net
sales of CIMZIA® and MIRCERA& , of which the $2.7 fiwh recognized in the three months ended Marct2812 was retained by us as
these amounts resulted from royalties on produessa the fourth quarter of 2011 and the $10.8ionilrecognized in the nine month period
ended December 31, 2012 was remitted by UCB antiéRdicectly to RPI as these amounts resulted frosdyxt sales in the first three
quarters of 2012.

As royalties are remitted to RPI from Roche and U@ balance of the Royalty Obligation will beeffively repaid over the life of the
agreement. In order to determine the amortizatfch@Royalty Obligation, we are required to estinthe total amount of future royalty
payments to be received by RPI and payments weeqtéred to make to RPI as noted below, if anyy dlve life of the agreement. The sum of
these amounts less the $124.0 million proceedse&ved will be recorded as interest expense tnelife of the Royalty Obligation. Since
inception, our estimate of this total interest exgeeresulted in an effective annual interest rhgpproximately 17%. We will periodically
assess the estimated royalty payments to RPI fr@B bBhd Roche and to the extent such payments aagegror less than our initial estimates,
or the timing of such payments is materially diéfietr than our original estimates, we will prospealihadjust the amortization of the Royalty
Obligation. There are a number of factors that @ onhterially affect the amount and timing of roygayments from CIMZIA and
MIRCERA @, most of which are not within our contr8luch factors include, but are not limited to, afiag standards of care, the introduction
of competing products, manufacturing or other dgl&josimilar competition, intellectual property ttess, adverse events that result in
governmental health authority imposed restrictionghe use of the drug products, and other eventsaumstances that could result in
reduced royalty payments from CIMZIA and MIRCERAall, of which would result in a reduction of non-bhasyalty revenues and the non-
cash interest expense over the life of the Roy@hiigation. Conversely, if sales of CIMZIA and MIERA ® are more than expected, the
non-cash royalty revenues and the non-cash intexpsinse recorded by us would be greater oveethedf the Royalty Obligation.

Pursuant to the Purchase and Sale Agreement, wedrged to pay to RPI (a) $3.0 million if certauorldwide net sales thresholds of
MIRCERA @ for the 12 month period ending on Decentiiker2012 are not achieved and (b) up to an additi®n.0 million if certain
worldwide net sales thresholds of MIRCERA for tt2ronth period ending on December 31, 2013 araciteved. The Purchase and Sale
Agreement grants RPI the right to receive certaports and other information relating to the Roy&lhtitlement and contains other
representations and warranties, covenants and mmifleation obligations that are customary for angaction of this nature. In particular, if we
breach our obligations under the Purchase and/Aakement, we could be required to pay damage$tdit are not limited to the purchase
price we received in the sale transaction. As afdbeber 31, 2012, we have concluded that it is falebhat the minimum 2012 MIRCERA
net sales threshold will not be met and, therefa@eexpect to make the $3.0 million payment to 83cribed above in the first quarter of
2013. The liability for this expected $3.0 millipayment is included in other current liabilitiesamr Consolidated Balance Sheet at
December 31, 2012.

Note 8 — Commitments and Contingencies
Royalty Expenst

We have third party licenses that require us torpgmlties based on our shipment of certain praglant/or on our receipt of royalty
payments under certain of our collaboration agregsdroyalty expense, which is reflected in coggadds sold in our Consolidated
Statements of Operations, was approximately $2l8&mi$1.8 million, and $2.2 million for the yeaemded December 31, 2012, 2011, and
2010, respectively. The overall maximum amountekt obligations is based upon sales of the appdigaoducts by our collaboration
partners and cannot be reasonably estimated.
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Purchase Commitment

In the normal course of business we enter intcowarfirm purchase commitments related to contratufacturing, clinical development
and certain other items. As of December 31, 20i&5¢ commitments were approximately $14.6 millahof which are expected to be paid in
2013.

Legal Matters

From time to time, we are involved in lawsuits, itdtions, claims, investigations and proceedingsisisting of intellectual property,
commercial, employment and other matters, whickean the ordinary course of business. We makeisioms for liabilities when it is both
probable that a liability has been incurred andatm@unt of the loss can be reasonably estimatazh Swvisions are reviewed at least quarl
and adjusted to reflect the impact of settlemegbtiations, judicial and administrative rulingsya of legal counsel, and other information
and events pertaining to a particular case. Litgais inherently unpredictable. If any unfavorahléng were to occur in any specific period,
there exists the possibility of a material advensgact on the results of operations of that pedodn our cash flows and liquidity.

On Novembed 8, 2009, the Research Foundation of the Statedusity of New York (SUNY) filed an action againsé®ar in the Unite
States District Court for the Northern Districtidéw York. SUNY seeks to recover amounts it alleigesowed pursuant to a technology
licensing contract between Nektar and SUNY. WewisiSUNY’s claims. Discovery in the matter has etband cross motions for summary
judgment (including Nekt’s motion for summary judgment dismissing the actiwere filed in October 2012. The motions areyfbltiefed
and are currently being considered by the courthénevent the action survives Neksamotion, we expect that a trial would be schediridtie
first half of 2013. We believe that SUNY'’s claim®zavithout merit. No reasonable estimate of thesiixds loss or range of loss can be made a
this time and no liabilities have been recordedlfigs matter on our Consolidated Balance Sheeté Becember 31, 2012 or 2011.

Indemnifications in Connection with Commercial Agegnents

As part of our collaboration agreements with outers related to the license, development, matuwfa@and supply of drugs based on
our proprietary technologies, we generally agregefiend, indemnify and hold harmless our partnens fand against third party liabilities
arising out of the agreement, including produdiiligy (with respect to our activities) and infriament of intellectual property to the extent the
intellectual property is developed by us and liesh® our partners. The term of these indemnificetibligations is generally perpetual any
time after execution of the agreement. There igdly no limitation on the potential amount ofdtg payments we could be required to make
under these indemnification obligations.

As part of the sale of our royalty interest in @MZIA ®and MIRCERA® products, we and RPI made representations and miEsaanc
entered into certain covenants and ancillary ages¢snwhich are supported by indemnity obligatidkdditionally, as part of our pulmonary
asset sale to Novartis, we and Novartis made reptasons and warranties and entered into certaiarrants and ancillary agreements which
are supported by an indemnity obligation. In therevt is determined that we breached certain efépresentations and warranties or
covenants and agreements made by us in any suebnagnts, we could incur substantial indemnificalialpilities depending on the timing,
nature, and amount of any such claims.

To date we have not incurred costs to defend las/smisettle claims related to these indemnificatibligations. If any of our
indemnification obligations is triggered, we magun substantial liabilities. Because the aggregateunt of any potential indemnification
obligation is not a stated amount, the overall mmaxn amount of any such obligations cannot be regsgrestimated. No liabilities have been
recorded for these obligations on our Consolid&aldnce Sheets as of December 31, 2012 or 2011.
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Indemnification of Underwriters and Initial Purchasrs of our Securitie:

In connection with our sale of equity and seni@used debt securities, we have agreed to defeddmnify and hold harmless our
underwriters or initial purchasers, as applicahtewell as certain related parties from and aga#sain liabilities, including liabilities under
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The terthaxfe indemnification obligations is generallyggtual. There is no limitation on the
potential amount of future payments we could baiireg to make under these indemnification obligagid/Ne have never incurred costs to
defend lawsuits or settle claims related to thedemnification obligations. If any of our indemudtion obligations are triggered, however, we
may incur substantial liabilities. Because the gdtied amount of this agreement is not explicithtesd, the overall maximum amount of the
obligations cannot be reasonably estimated. Hisatlyi, we have not been obligated to make signifigeayments for these obligations, and no
liabilities have been recorded for these obligationour Consolidated Balance Sheets as of Decegihe012 or 2011.

Director and Officer Indemnifications

As permitted under Delaware law, and as set forthuir Certificate of Incorporation and our Bylawse indemnify our directors,
executive officers, other officers, employees, atiter agents for certain events or occurrenceshgtarise while in such capacity. The
maximum potential amount of future payments we @¢dd required to make under this indemnificationriBmited; however, we have
insurance policies that may limit our exposure aray enable us to recover a portion of any futurewarts paid. Assuming the applicability of
coverage, the willingness of the insurer to asscaverage, and subject to certain retention, lasgdiand other policy provisions, we believe
any obligations under this indemnification would be material, other than an initial $500,000 peident for securities related claims and
$150,000 per incident for non-securities relatednes retention deductible per our insurance poktywever, no assurances can be given that
the covering insurers will not attempt to dispute validity, applicability, or amount of coveragéhout expensive litigation against these
insurers, in which case we may incur substantdilities as a result of these indemnification gations. Because the obligated amount of this
agreement is not explicitly stated, the overall imaxn amount of the indemnification obligations cahbe reasonably estimated. Historically,
we have not been obligated to make significant gaymifor these obligations, and no liabilities hbeen recorded for these obligations in our
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, @0a@11.

Note 9 — Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred Stock

We have authorized 10,000,000 shares of Prefetmk Svith each share having a par value of $0.0002011, 3,100,000 shares were
previously designated Series A Junior ParticipaBneferred Stock (Series A Preferred Stock) in eation with our Share Purchase Rights
Plan (Rights Plan) that expired on June 1, 2011March 30, 2012, we filed a certificate of elimiioait of the Series A Preferred Stock. As of
December 31, 2012, no shares are designated, isswedstanding.

Common Stock

On January 24, 2011, we completed the issuancsaadf 19,000,000 shares of our common stockrfmssgproceeds to the Compan)
approximately $220.4 million. Additionally, we inced approximately $0.6 million in legal and acctiog fees, filing fees, and other offering
expenses.
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Equity Compensation Plan

At December 31, 2012, we had 29,915,641 reservagtstof common stock, all of which are reservedsewmance in our equity
compensation plans as summarized in the followatdet (share number in thousands):

Number of Securities
Remaining
Available for
Issuance Under
Equity Compensatior
Plans

Number of Securities to b

Issued Upon Exercise of Weighted-Average (Excluding Securities
Outstanding Options Exercise Price of Reflected
& Vesting of RSUs Outstanding Options in Column(a))

Plan Category (a) (b) (©
Equity compensation plans approv

by security holders(1 12,29: $ 8.6¢ 10,80(
Equity compensation plans not

approved by security holde 6,82¢ $ 9.71 —
Total 19,11¢ $ 9.0¢ 10,80(
(1) Includes shares of common stock available for &itssuance under our ESPP as of December 31,

2012 Performance Incentive Plan

Our 2012 Performance Incentive Plan (2012 Plan)adapted by the Board of Directors on April 4, 2@H2 was approved by our
stockholders on June 28, 2012. On the date of &pprany shares of the company’s common stockwiea¢ available for issuance under all
other previously existing stock plans (the 2008iggjmcentive Plan, the 2000 Equity Incentive Pland the 2000 Non-Officer Equity
Incentive Plan) became available for issuance utieeP012 Plan. In addition, 5,300,000 new sham®wnade available for award grants
under the 2012 Plan. No new awards were grantedruarty of the previous stock plans after June @822Any shares of common stock
subject to outstanding awards under the previaackgtlans that expire, are cancelled, or othertgsminate at any time after December 31,
2011 will also be available for award grant purfgogeder the 2012 Plan.

The purpose of the 2012 Plan and our other incemtians is to attract, motivate, retain, and reveamekctors, officers, employees, and
other eligible persons through the grant of awarts$incentives for high levels of individual perfance and increasing the value of our
business, as well as to further align the intereStavard recipients and our stockholders. The Z0aR authorizes stock options, stock
appreciation rights, restricted stock, performastoek, stock units, stock bonuses, dividend eqeival other similar rights to purchase or
acquire shares, and other forms of awards gramtddriominated in the company’s common stock osurfithe company’s common stock, as
well as cash bonus awards. Directors, officergnoployees, and certain consultants and advisorsretaywe awards under the 2012 Plan. In
2012, the requisite service period for stock optigranted to our employees under the 2012 Plareli&svall other previously existing stock
plans was generally four years; the requisite serperiod for stock options granted to our directeas generally one year.

The maximum number of shares of our common stoakrttay be issued or transferred pursuant to awardsr the 2012 Plan is
10,347,140 shares, plus any shares subject taaadiay awards under the previous stock plans dpitee are cancelled, or otherwise termii
for any reason. Generally, shares that are sutgjemtunderlie awards which expire or for any reaae cancelled or terminated, are forfeited,
fail to vest, or for any other reason (except faares exchanged by a participant or withheld tothayexercise price of an award granted and
related tax withholding obligations) are not paiddelivered under the 2012 Plan will again be aldéd for subsequent awards under the 2012
Plan. Shares issued in respect of any award, tihara stock option or stock appreciation righanged under the 2012 Plan will be counted
against the plan’s share limit as 1.5 shares feryegne share actually issued in connection wighatlvard.

The 2012 Plan will terminate on April 3, 2022, wsdearlier terminated by the Board of Directorse fraximum term of a stock option
stock appreciation right under the 2012 Plan istejgars from the date of grant. The per shareceseeprice of an option generally may not be
less than the fair market value of a share of dmpany’s common stock on the Nasdaq Global Seleck& on the date of grant.
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2008 Equity Incentive Plan

Our 2008 Equity Incentive Plan (2008 Plan) was &elbpy the Board of Directors on March 20, 2008 aad approved by our
stockholders on June 6, 2008. However, with theam of the 2012 Plan, no new awards will be gedninder the 2008 Plan. Pursuant to the
2008 Plan, we granted or issued incentive stocionpto employees and officers and non-qualifiedlsbptions, rights to acquire restricted
stock, restricted stock units, and stock bonusestsultants, employees, officers and non-emplayeetors.

The 2008 Plan will terminate on March 20, 2018gsglearlier terminated by the Board of Directohse fhaximum term of a stock opti
under the 2008 Equity Incentive Plan is eight ye@ihe exercise price of stock options granted utttee2008 Plan must be at least equal to
100% (or 110% with respect to holders of more thd% of the voting power of our outstanding capstalck) of the fair market value of the
stock subject to the option as determined by thsiey price of our common stock on the Nasdaq GISkect Market on the date of grant.

2000 Equity Incentive Plan

On April 19, 2000, our Board of Directors adopted 2000 Equity Incentive Plan (2000 Plan) by amegdind restating our 1994 Equity
Incentive Plan. On February 9, 2010, the 2000 Biauired. As a result, no new options may be grartaetiexisting options granted remain
outstanding. Pursuant to the 2000 Plan, we grasttésbued incentive stock options to employeesddfickrs and non-qualified stock options,
rights to acquire restricted stock, restricted lstogits, and stock bonuses to consultants, empsoy#ficers and non-employee directors.

The maximum term of a stock option under the 20@d B eight years. The exercise price of incensteek options granted under the
2000 Equity Incentive Plan must be at least equalb0% (or 110% with respect to holders of more th@% of the voting power of our
outstanding capital stock) of the fair market vabfi¢he stock subject to the option as determingethb closing price of our common stock on
the Nasdaq Global Market on the date of grant.

2000 Non-Officer Equity Incentive Plan

The 1998 Non-Officer Equity Incentive Plan was addby our Board of Directors on August 18, 1998] was amended and restated ir
its entirety and renamed the 2000 Non-officer Bglritentive Plan on June 6, 2000 (2000 Non-Offfekan). However, with the approval of
the 2012 Plan, no new awards will be granted utite2000 Non-Officer Plan. Pursuant to the 2000-®dficer Plan, we granted or issued
non-qualified stock options, rights to acquire nieged stock and stock bonuses to employees arglittants who are neither officers nor
directors of Nektar.

The maximum term of a stock option under the 2008-®fficer Plan is eight years. The exercise poitstock options granted under the
2000 Non-Officer Plan was determined by our BodrBicectors by reference to the closing price of common stock on the Nasdaq Global
Market on the date of grant.

Restricted Stock Unit

RSU awards have been granted under the 2008 R&E000 Plan and the 2000 Non-Officer Plan andettted by delivery of shares of
our common stock on or shortly after the date thiards vest. During the year ended December 31,,204@ranted RSU awards to certain
officers, non-employee directors, employees anduitents. We did not grant any RSU awards duriegyttars ended December 31, 2012 or
2011. RSU awards are similar to restricted stodkéat they are issued for no consideration; howeterholder generally is not entitled to the
underlying shares of common stock until the RSUrdwasts. Also, because the RSU awards are gréot&®.01 per share, the gradate fair
value of the award is equal to the intrinsic vadfieur common stock on the date of grant.
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Beginning with shares granted during 2005, each B®b&rd depletes the pool of options available fangunder our equity incentive
plans by a ratio of 1:1.5.

Employee Stock Purchase Pl:

In February 1994 our Board of Directors adopted the Employee Stagklfase Plan (ESPP) pursuant to section 423(ihediternal
Revenue Code of 1986. Under the ESPP, 1,500,008ssbfiour common stock have been authorized $oaisce. The terms of the ESPP
provide eligible employees with the opportunityattguire an ownership interest in Nektar throughigipation in a program of periodic payr
deductions for the purchase of our common stockplByees may elect to enroll or re-enroll in the BS# a semi-annual basis. Stock is
purchased at 85% of the lower of the closing poicehe first day of the enrollment period or thet lday of the enrollment period.

401(k) Retirement Plan

We sponsor a 401(k) retirement plan whereby ekgérhployees may elect to contribute up to the tesfs@0% of their annual
compensation or the statutorily prescribed anrioat hllowable under Internal Revenue Service ratiahs. The 401(k) plan permits us to
make matching contributions on behalf of all p@pénts, up to a maximum of $3,000 per particip&ot. the years ended December 31, 2012,
2011, and 2010, we recognized $0.9 million, $0.Bioni, and $1.0 million, respectively, of compensatexpense in connection with our 401
(k) retirement plan.

Change in Control Severance Plan

On December 6, 2006, our Board of Directors apptav€hange of Control Severance Benefit Plan (G#0)PThis CIC Plan has
subsequently been amended a number of times bBaand of Directors with the most recent amendmentring on April 5, 2011. The CIC
Plan is designed to make certain benefits availabtrir eligible employees in the event of a chamigeontrol of Nektar and, following such
change of control, an employee’s employment witlorua successor company is terminated in certanipd circumstances. We adopted the
CIC Plan to support the continuity of the businesthe context of a change of control transactidre CIC Plan was not adopted in
contemplation of any specific change of controhs@ction.

Under the CIC Plan, in the event of a change ofrobnf Nektar and a subsequent termination of @yiplent initiated by us or a
successor company other than for Cause (as défirted CIC Plan) or initiated by the employee fdB@od Reason Resignation (as defined in
the CIC Plan) in each case within twelve monthkfaihg a change of control transaction, (i) the & tiixecutive Officer would be entitled to
receive cash severance pay equal to 24 monthsshis® plus annual target incentive pay, the extensf employee benefits over this
severance period and the full acceleration of ulegesutstanding equity awards, and (ii) our Sewioe Presidents and Vice Presidents
(including Principal Fellows) would each be entitle receive cash severance pay equal to twelvahadrase salary plus annual target
incentive pay, the extension of employee benefits this severance period and the full acceleragfaimvested outstanding equity awards. In
the event of a change of control of Nektar andtesequent termination of employment initiated by @mnpany or a successor company other
than for Cause within twelve months following a e of control transaction, all other employeesid@ach be entitled to receive cash
severance pay equal to 6 months base salary s r@ata portion of annual target incentive pag, ¢itension of employee benefits over this
severance period and the full acceleration of sach employee’s unvested outstanding equity awahdder the CIC Plan, as amended, non-
employee directors would also be entitled to falteleration of vesting of all outstanding stock edgan the event of a change of control
transaction.
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Note 10 — License and Collaboration Agreements

We have entered into various license agreementsdalaborative research, development and commézatan agreements with
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies. Urideset arrangements, we are entitled to receiveskictes, upfront payments, milestone
payments, royalties, sales milestones, paymenhémanufacture and supply of our proprietary PBEGyh materials and/or reimbursement
research and development activities. All of outatmbration agreements are generally cancelableibpartners without significant financial
penalty. Our costs of performing these serviceganerally included in research and developmengesg, however, costs for product sales tc
our collaboration partners are included in cogjadds sold.

In accordance with these agreements, we recogfhicastse, collaboration and other revenue as folliwghousands):

Year Ended December 31

Partner Agreement 2012 2011 2010
Roche PEGASYS®and MIRCERA® $ 7,14¢ $5131 $ 5,131
Baxter Healthcar Hemophilia 6,23¢ 5,64¢ 1,701
Amgen, Inc. Neulaste® 5,00( 5,00( 832
Bayer Healthcare LL( BAY41-6551 (Amikacin Inhale 2,971 2,99; 3,30(
Affymax, Inc. OMONTYS® 2,82¢ 3,83¢ 1,867
AstraZeneca AB Naloxegol (NKTF-118) and naloxegol fixed-dose

combination program (NKT-119) 5¢ 2,49¢ 107,85«
Other 5,88¢ 11,18¢ 3,68¢
License, collaboration and other revel $30,12° $36,28¢ $124,37.

As of December 31, 2012, our collaboration agreegseith partners included potential future paymédatsievelopment milestones
totaling approximately $161.1 million, including aonts from our agreements with Baxter and Bayecritesd below. In addition, we are
entitled to receive up to $235.0 million and $7&illion of contingent payments related to NKTR-1di&d NKTR-119, respectively, based on
development and regulatory events to be pursuedamgleted solely by AstraZeneca.

Roche: PEGASY® and MIRCERA

In February 1997, we entered into a license, manuifilmg and supply agreement with Roche, under fwhie granted Roche a
worldwide, exclusive license to certain intelledtpeperty related to our proprietary PEGylationtengls used in the manufacture and
commercialization of PEGASYS . As a result of Roelercising a license extension option in Decen2069, Roche has the right to
manufacture all of its requirements for our profanig PEGylation materials for PEGASYS and we perfadditional manufacturing, if any,
only on an as-requested basis. In connection withB's exercise of the license extension optidbénember 2009, we received a payment o
$31.0 million. As of December 31, 2012, we haveedefd revenue of approximately $15.4 million redatie this agreement, which we expec
recognize through December 2015, the period thraughh we are required to provide back-up manuféguand supply services related to
PEGASYS® .

In February 2012, we entered into a toll-manufastuagreement with Roche under which we will mantifee the proprietary
PEGylation material used by Roche to produce MIRBERRoche entered into the toll-manufacturing agreet with the objective of
establishing us as a secondary back-up sourcenon-axclusive basis. Under the terms of the tolhufacturing agreement, Roche paid us an
upfront payment of $5.0 million and will pay a tbté up to $22.0 million in performance-based mitee payments upon our
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achievement of certain manufacturing readinesgjatidn and production milestones, including thévéey of specified quantities of
PEGylation materials, all of which were completecaJanuary 2013. Roche will also pay us additionasideration for any future orders of
the PEGylation materials for MIRCERA beyond thdialiquantities manufactured through January 2@&:he may terminate the toll-
manufacturing agreement due to an uncured matiafalilt by us. As of December 31, 2012, we haveived $16.0 million in upfront and
milestone payments under this agreement. We adhiteeremaining $11.0 million milestone in Janu2@y 3.

We analyzed the milestone payments under the agreieand determined that they did not meet ther@ifer revenue recognition under
the milestone method as a result of our continaagufacturing obligations. We have identified oack-up manufacturing obligation through
December 2016 and the delivery of PEGylation malespecified in the agreement in 2012 and earl82( the units of accounting in the
arrangement. We made our best estimate of thegdtices for these deliverables and have allodhie@xpected $27.0 million consideration
to these items based on the relative selling priethod. As of December 31, 2012, we have recogmizeshue of $3.0 million related to this
agreement. As of December 31, 2012, we have defegrenue of approximately $13.0 million, which @gect to recognize through
December 2016, the estimated end of our obligatimaer this agreement.

Baxter Healthcare: Hemophilia

In September 2005, we entered into an exclusiveareh, development, license and manufacturing apglyg agreement with Baxter
Healthcare SA and Baxter Healthcare Corporatiogetteer referred to as Baxter) to develop produesigthed to improve therapies for
Hemophilia A patients using our PEGylation techiggldn December 2007, we expanded our agreemehtBeikter to include the license of
our PEGylation technology with the potential to noye any future products Baxter may develop for Hphilia B patients. Under the terms of
the agreement, we are entitled to research andagewent funding and are responsible for supplyiagtBr with its requirements for our
proprietary materials. Baxter is responsible fockhical development, regulatory, and commereiaion expenses. The agreement is
terminable by the parties under customary condition

We are entitled to up to $28.0 million of developrmilestones related to Hemophilia A upon achiesenof certain development
objectives, as well as sales milestones upon agetrient of annual sales targets and royalties basedmual worldwide net sales of products
resulting from this agreement. This Hemophilia Agnam includes BAX-855, which is currently in a B&& clinical study initiated in
February 2013. In prior years, we received an uyptfpayment of $4.0 million related to the Hemoph#i programs. As of December 31, 2012,
we have deferred revenue of $1.3 million, whichexpect to recognize through September 2016, timasd end of our obligations under
agreement.

In prior years, we received an upfront payment®03nillion relating to the Hemophilia B program.May 2012, Baxter notified us that
they intended to cease all future research aassitinder our agreement related to Hemophilia Ba Aesult, in the year ended December 31,
2012, we recognized the remaining $3.9 million def@ revenue balance related to the Hemophiliadgam since we have no ongoing or
additional performance obligations.

Amgen, Inc.: Neulasta®

In October 2010, we amended and restated an exstipply and license agreement by entering intgpaly, dedicated suite and
manufacturing guarantee agreement (the amendeckataded agreement) and a license agreement witleAnmc. and Amgen Manufacturir
Limited (together referred to as Amgen). Undertthrens of the amended and restated agreement, wange@ the manufacture and supply of
our proprietary PEGylation materials (Polymer Matis) to Amgen in an existing manufacturing suitdoé used exclusively for the
manufacture of Polymer Materials for Amgen (the Mfaicturing Suite) in our manufacturing facility Huntsville, Alabama (the Facility). Th
supply arrangement is on a non-exclusive basig(dttan the use of the Manufacturing Suite andategquipment) whereby Nektar is free to
manufacture and supply the Polymer
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Materials to any other third party and Amgen igfte procure the Polymer Materials from any oth@dtparty. Under the terms of the
amended and restated agreement, we received a®8od payment in the fourth quarter of 2010 @turn for our guaranteeing the supply of
certain quantities of Polymer Materials to Amgeduiding without limitation the Additional Rights sleribed below and manufacturing fees
that are calculated based on fixed and variablepom@nts applicable to the Polymer Materials ordésedmgen and delivered by us. Amgen
has no minimum purchase commitments. If quantdfete Polymer Materials ordered by Amgen exceextified quantities, significant
additional payments become payable to us in réturraur guaranteeing the supply of additional qiteest of the Polymer Materials.

The term of the amended and restated agreemenber@stober 29, 2020. In the event we become sutgjecbankruptcy or insolvency
proceeding, we cease to own or control the Facility fail to manufacture and supply or certain otheents, Amgen or its designated third
party will have the right to elect, among certalines options, to take title to the dedicated equiphand access the Facility to operate the
Manufacturing Suite solely for the purpose of mawctiiring the Polymer Materials (the Additional Rigjh Amgen may terminate the amendec
and restated agreement for convenience or due tioeured material default by us. Our researchifadil Huntsville, Alabama that we propc
to sell is a different building and location frohmat of the Facility as described here.

As of December 31, 2012, we have deferred revehapproximately $39.2 million related to this agremt, which we expect to
recognize through October 2020, the estimated éondroobligations under this agreement.

Bayer Healthcare LLC: BAY41-6551 (Amikacin Inhale)

In August 2007, we entered into a co-developmésenke and co-promotion agreement with Bayer HeatthLLC (Bayer) to develop a
specially-formulated inhaled Amikacin. We are rasgible for development and manufacturing and supptire nebulizer device included in
the Amikacin product. Bayer is responsible for nfosare clinical development and commercializatimsts, all activities to support worldwi
regulatory filings, approvals and related actidtiturther development of Amikacin Inhale and fipedduct packaging and distribution. We
received an upfront payment of $40.0 million in 2@hd performance milestone payments of $20.0anjllbf which $10.0 million will be ust
to reimburse Bayer for Phase 3 clinical trial co$tss $10.0 million obligation is recorded in aged clinical trial expense in our Consolidated
Balance Sheets. We are entitled to up to $60.0amibf development milestones upon achievemenedain development objectives, as well
as sales milestones upon achievement of annual saitgets and royalties based on annual worldwedeales of Amikacin Inhale. As of
December 31, 2012, we have deferred revenue obaippately $24.5 million related to this agreemevhijch we expect to recognize through
July 2021, the estimated end of our obligationseurklis agreement.

Affymax, Inc.: OMONTY®

In April 2004, we entered into a license, manufeintyand supply agreement with Affymax, Inc. (Affgeg under which we provided
Affymax with a worldwide, non-exclusive license wmaertain of our proprietary PEGylation technolégylevelop, manufacture and
commercialize OMONTYS® (peginesatide). On MarchZ¥12, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDApmved OMONTYSPto trea
anemia in patients with chronic kidney disease ialysis and OMONTYS® sales were initiated in theasgtquarter of 2012. On February 23,
2013, Affymax and Takeda announced a voluntarylire€all lots of OMONTYS® drug product to the uderel as a result of new post-
marketing reports regarding serious hypersengjtigactions, including anaphylaxis, which can fe-threatening or fatal. Under our
agreement, Affymax is obligated to purchase itfeméquirements of the proprietary PEGylation miate required to manufacture
OMONTYS® exclusively from Nektar. Affymax is respdlolg for all clinical development, regulatory anohemercialization expenses. We are
entitled to royalties based on annual worldwidesad¢s of OMONTYS® . For a certain period of time, will share a portion of our future
royalty payments with Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

100



Table of Contents

In addition, as a result of the FDA’s approval dlONTYS @, we earned a $2.0 million milestone paymeélitder our milestone method
revenue recognition policy, this substantive mdestwas recognized in its entirety upon achieverimektarch 2012. We have previously
received other milestone and related payments ungdesgreement with Affymax and, as of December2B12, we have deferred revenue of
approximately $7.1 million, which we expect to rgnze through March 2022, the estimated periodutinovhich we are required to provide
manufacturing and supply services.

AstraZeneca AE: naloxegol (NKTR-118) and naloxegol fixed-dose lioation program (NKTR-119)

In September 2009, we entered into a license agmeewith AstraZeneca AB (AstraZeneca), under wiiehgranted AstraZeneca a
worldwide, exclusive, perpetual, royalty-bearingdaublicensable license under our patents and witedlectual property to develop, market,
and sell naloxegol (NKTR-118) and naloxegol fixezsd combination program (NKTRE9). AstraZeneca is responsible for all costs@ased
with research, development and commercializatiahiamesponsible for all drug development and consiabzation decisions for naloxegol
and naloxegol fixed-dose combination program. A&treeca paid us an upfront payment of $125.0 milkaimch we received in the fourth
quarter of 2009 and which was fully recognized faBacember 31, 2010. We are entitled to receiveou235.0 million and $75.0 million of
contingent payments related to naloxegol and ngloxiexed-dose combination program, respectivebsdal on development events to be
pursued and completed solely by AstraZeneca. liicpdar, if AstraZeneca files for regulatory appabef naloxegol with and such filings are
accepted by the FDA and the European Medicines &géeMA), Nektar will be entitled to $95.0 millioof these payments. We will be
entitled to the remaining $140.0 million of thesgyments if naloxegol is approved by the FDA and E& commercial launch is achieved in
the U.S. and one major country in the European kirimaddition, we are also entitled to sales niiles payments and royalties based on
annual worldwide net sales of naloxegol and nalokéged-dose combination products.

Other

During the year ended December 31, 2011, in additdhe revenues recognized from the collaboragmeements discussed above, we
also recorded license, collaboration and othermeeef approximately $11.2 million in connectiorttwa number of our license and
collaboration agreements. This revenue include8.@ fillion up-front payment from a license agreatrentered into in 2011, as well as
revenues from milestone payments, amortizatiorpfrfomt payments, and reimbursed research and dawelot activities related to agreement:
entered into in previous years.

In addition, we have a number of collaboration agrents with other partners under which we areledtto up to a total of $73.1 million
of development milestones upon achievement of icedigwvelopment objectives, as well as sales mitestaipon achievement of annual sales
targets and royalties based on net sales of conmizet] products, if any. However, given the cutneimase of development of the potential
products under these collaboration agreementsaweat estimate the probability or timing of achreythese milestones.

Note 11 — Impairment of Long Lived Assets

During the years ended December 31, 2012 and 204 @ecorded a charge for the impairment of longdiassets of $1.7 million and
$12.6 million, respectively. We did not record augh charge in 2011.

In an effort to reduce ongoing operating costsiamtove our organizational structure, efficiencylgmoductivity, in March 2012, we
announced a plan to consolidate our U.S.-basednasactivities at our existing San Francisco liocaaind to cease the use of and sell one of
our buildings located in Huntsville, Alabama thasrdedicated to research activities. As a resealiperformed a preliminary analysis of the
fair value of the land, building and related impements based primarily on available market dataeBaipon this analysis, we concluded that
the combined carrying value of the land and bugdiceeded fair value and we recorded an impairfoeatof $1.7 million in March 2012. I
further impairment losses were recorded in 2012,
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however, until we dispose of these assets, wewpilate our analysis of their fair value on a reghésis and such updates could result in
further impairment charges in future periods. ABetember 31, 2012, the remaining net book valubesfe assets is $2.8 million.

On November 29, 2010, we ceased use of the SangTadility as a result of our relocation to thessdon Bay Facility. The remaining
assets at the San Carlos location consist of theibg capital lease and related leasehold improueis We have subleased portions of the Sé
Carlos building and are currently seeking one orensuibtenants for the remaining space throughetiigel termination date. As a result of our
relocation, we performed an impairment analysish@se assets. We concluded that the carrying valuge building and leasehold
improvements exceeded their fair values basedpmnlzability-weighted discounted cash flow modeth# future estimated net sublease
income and recorded an impairment loss of $12.6amilAs of December 31, 2012, the remaining netiealue of these assets is
$1.4 million.

Note 12 — Stock-Based Compensation

We issue stock-based awards from our equity ineemtians, which are more fully described in Not&®ck-based compensation
expense was recognized as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Cost of goods sold $ 1,49¢ $ 1,26¢ $ 91t
Research and developmt 7,082 7,94¢ 7,21¢
General and administrati 7,621 9,67¢ 9,26¢€
Total stocl-based compensatic $16,19¢ $18,88t $17,39¢

As of December 31, 2012, total unrecognized congténs costs of $25.0 million related to unvestextktbased compensation
arrangements are expected to be recognized assxpear a weighted-average period of 1.6 years.

Black-Scholes Assumptions

The following tables list the Black-Scholes optiprieing model assumptions used to calculate thevédue of employee and director
stock options and ESPP purchases.

Year Ended December 31, 201 Year Ended December 31, 201 Year Ended December 31, 201
Stock Options ESPP Stock Options ESPP Stock Options ESPP
Average risk-f